
1. CALL TO ORDER
 2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 3. ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS
  4. PUBLIC COMMENT
  5. CONSENT / ACTION ITEMS

All matters listed within the Consent Agenda have been distributed to each member of the
Skagit Transit Board of Directors for reading and study, are considered to be routine, and 
will be enacted by one motion of the Board with no separate discussion.  If separate 
discussion is desired, that item may be removed from Consent Action Items and placed on 
Regular Action Items by request. 

a) Approval of April Meeting Minutes …….…………………………………..…….……………………………. 
b) Approval of Claims and Payroll

March Payroll Direct Deposit and Checks ……..…............……..…………………………………….. 
March Direct Federal withholding transfer…………………………….………….……..................... 
March Claims Checks and ACH #3532-3717…………..…..……………….…….……..……………. 

c) Approve March Budget Update……………………………………..……………..……………….................. 
d) Approve Policy 050.25a SKAT Charge Card ……………………………………………………………… 
e) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program ……………………………………………………………. 
f) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Goals ……………………………………………………………….. 

Page 3 

$1,388,353 
$313,834 
$580,826 
Page 5 
Page 6 
Page 11 
Page 23 

  6. FULL DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEMS
a) Approve Procurement Policy ……………………………………………………………………………………… 
b) Approve Interlocal Agreement with the 791 Purchasing Cooperative ………………………. 
c) Approve Interlocal agreement with The Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS) …………… 
d) Approve Amendment to Extend Contract #19-006 for an additional 6 months ………… 
e) Approve Resolution 2025-07 Appointing an Auditor/Treasurer ……………………………….. 
f) Approve CAC Member Withdrawal …………………………………………………………………………… 

Page 28 
Page 128 
Page 129 
Page 130 
Page 131 
Page 133 

7. INFORMATION ITEMS
a) Hydrogen Feasibility Study Presentation, Matt Potter………………………………………………. 
b) 2024 Budget Update …………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
c) CEO Update
d) March Ridership……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
e) April Ridership …………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
f) May CAC Report ………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 

Page 134 
Page 152 

Page 154 
Page 163 
Page 172 

8. ADJOURNMENT

Burlington City Hall 
Council Chambers 
833 South Spruce Street 
Burlington, WA 98233 

Skagit Transit 
Board of Directors 

 Agenda 

Regular Meeting 
May 21st, 2025 

11:00 a.m. 

Join virtually at: 
https://tinyurl.com/Board-Meeting-5-21-25 

Meeting ID: 286 180 257 714 
Passcode: ec9bY2sV 

1



Skagit Transit Board of Directors Officers
Commissioner Peter Browning.…..………… Chair Commissioner Lisa Janicki……….. Vice Chair 

Skagit Transit Board of Directors Membership and Votes 
Mayor of Anacortes …………………….……… 1 Non-Voting Members 
Mayor of Burlington …………………………… 1 Community Advisory Committee Chair 
Mayor of Mount Vernon …………………….. 1 Skagit Transit Labor Union Representative 
Mayor of Sedro-Woolley …………………... 1 
Skagit County Commissioner District 1 .. 1 
Skagit County Commissioner District 2 .. 1 
Skagit County Commissioner District 3 .. 1 
Anacortes Councilperson ……..…….. 1 
Sedro-Woolley Councilperson….…….…….. 1 

Quorum Requirement
A quorum consists of a simple majority (5) of the total votes (9). 

Title VI Notice to the Public: Skagit Transit fully complies with Title VI of the federal Civil Rights Act of 
1964 and related statutes, and does not discriminate on the basis of race, color or national origin. For more 
information, or to obtain a Title VI Complaint Form, visit Skagit Transit’s website at  
https://www.skagittransit.org/about-us/civil-rights-discrimination/ 

Aviso resumido del Título VI al público: Skagit Transit cumple plenamente con el Título VI de la Ley federal 
de derechos civiles de 1964 y los estatutos relacionados, y no discrimina por motivos de raza, color u origen 
nacional. Para mayor información, o para obtener un Formulario de queja del Título VI, visite el sitio web 
del Skagit Transit en https://www.skagittransit.org/about-us/civil-rights-discrimination/ 

ADA Notice to the Public: Skagit Transit fully complies with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation act of 1973 
and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) and does not discriminate on the basis of disability. 
For more information, or to file a grievance contact the ADA Coordinator, Jennifer Davidson at 360-757-
5178 or jdavidson@skagittransit.org. 

Aviso de la ADA para el público: Skagit Transit cumple plenamente con la Sección 504 de la Ley de 
Rehabilitación de 1973 y la Ley de Americanos con Discapacidades de 1990 (ADA) y no discrimina por 
motivos de discapacidad. Para obtener más información, o para presentar una queja, póngase en contacto 
con el Coordinador de la ADA, Jennifer Davidson en 360-757-5178 o jdavidson@skagittransit.org. 

2



RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS 
SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Wednesday, April 16, 2025 

The Skagit Transit Board of Directors met in a regular meeting in Burlington, WA. Commissioner Peter 
Browning, Board Chair, called the meeting to order at 11:02 a.m. followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

roll call. 

Members Present  Staff Present 
Peter Browning, Skagit County Commissioner (Chair) 
Lisa Janicki, Skagit County Commissioner (Vice Chair) 
Peter Donovan, City of Mount Vernon, Mayor 
Julia Johnson, City of Sedro Woolley, Mayor 
Bill Aslett, City of Burlington, Mayor  
Joe Burns, City of Sedro-Woolley, Councilmember 
Tracy Cook, Labor Representative (non-voting member) 

Members Present via Teleconference 
Sandy Perkins, Auditor (attending as a representative for 
Ron Wesen, Skagit County Commissioner) 
Matt Miller, City of Anacortes, Mayor  
Carolyn Moulton, City of Anacortes, Councilmember  
Judy Jones, Community Advisory Committee (Chair, non-
voting member) (arrived at 11:05 a.m.) 

Members Absent: 

Providing Legal Counsel: 

Larissa Farrell, Clerk of the Board 
Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 
Joe Stewart, Director of Finance 
Jennifer Davidson, Director of HR and Risk Management 
Nate Burns, Procurement and Contracts Coordinator 

Staff Present via Teleconference: 
Chris Arkle, Finance/Accounting Manager 
Rebekah Tuno, Grants Manager 
Abby Bissell, HR Generalist 
Rogelio Conejo, Community Engagement Coordinator 
Joe Macdonald, Director of Safety and Training 
Maleah Kuzminsky, Planning and Outreach Manager 
Kaitlin West, Vanpool Coordinator 

Members of Public Present 
Mike Kerr 
Tammy Coppinger 

Members of the Public Present via Teleconference: 
Jason Kelley, Northwest Technology; 1-208-316-7008; 
Skagit People; WS; Joe Kunzler 

1     Public Comment 
Public comment was made. 

2   Consent / Action Items 
a) Approval of March Meeting Minutes 
b) Approval of April Special Meeting Minutes 
c) Approval of Claims and Payroll

February Payroll Direct Deposit and Checks 
February Direct Federal withholding transfer 
February Claims Checks and ACH #3387-3531

d) Approve the February Budget Update 
e) Rescind Resolution 2023-07 and Approve 2025-05 (Staff Credit Card Limits)
f) Approve Resolution 2025-06 Bank Account Access for Skagit Transit System

Mr. Aslett moved to approve all Consent/Action items. Mr. Donovan seconded the motion. The
motion passed unanimously. 

3  Full Discussion/Action Items: 

a) Approve Award of Contract 24-022 Vehicle Graphics
Ms. Stidham read the report as presented in the packet.

Ms. Johnson moved to approve the award of contract 24-022 to SigmaGrafix. Mr. Burns
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

b) Approve Paratransit Vehicle Donation
Ms. Stidham read the report as presented in the packet.

Mr. Burns moved to approve the paratransit vehicle donation. Mr. Donovan seconded the
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 3



Board of Directors Meeting Minutes April 16th, 2025 

c) Approve Personnel Policy Manual (PPM) Section 707.4 Amendment
Ms. Stidham read the report as presented in the packet.

Mr. Aslett moved to approve Personnel Policy Manual (PPM) Section 707.4 Amendment. Ms.
Johnson seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

d) Approve Guemes Island Service Pilot
Ms. Stidham read the report as presented in the packet.

Mr. Burns moved to approve the Guemes Island Service Pilot. Ms. Janicki seconded the motion.
The motion passed unanimously.

4     Information Items 
a) CEO Update 
b) Grants Update – April 2025
c) April CAC Report 

Peter Browning adjourned the meeting at 11:45 a.m.  

Attest: 
____________________________________________________ 

Peter Browning, Chair Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

__________________________________________ 
Larissa Farrell, Clerk of Skagit Transit Board 

4



Skagit Transit Board Meeting

May 21, 2025

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors

FROM: Chris Arkle, Accounting & Finance Manager

SUBJECT: Monthly Budget Update Report for March 2025

INFORMATION: The monthly budget reports are presented for your review. Items of interest
 are:

Revenues:
Sales Tax Received:

2025 2024 2023
1,312,792 1,180,496 1,228,784

Grant Revenue:
Federal Operating 86,399  
Federal Capital 118,311  
Local Operating -  
State Operating 97,756  
State Capital 18,297  

Fare Revenue:
2025 2024 2023 2022

March 66,392 57,433 59,854 56,789
Yrly-Budget 706,000 684,500 592,964 545,000
Mon-Budget 58,833 57,042 49,414 45,417

Expenses
Capital

Route Improvements -  
Skagit Station -  
Park & Ride -  
Revenue Equipment 48,464  
Service Equipment -  
Vanpool Equipment -  
MOA 2 -  
Bldgs. - MOA 1,954  
Garage/Shop Equipment -  
Office Furniture/Equip. 410  
Intangible Asset - SW -  
Communications & IS -  

Ending Cash:
March 2025 March 2024 March 2023

3,054,616 5,336,779 4,485,094

Reserves:
March 2025 March 2024 March 2023

Operating 5,675,674 5,414,569 5,141,586
Facilities 10,400,000 10,400,000 10,400,000

 Capital 
Replacement 5,886,059 5,136,826 4,352,977
Non-Designated 1,700,327 1,622,109 1,540,485

Total 23,662,060 22,573,504 21,435,048

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve the monthly budget report.

March

5



POLICY FOR CREDIT CARD USAGE 

General Information: 

All credit cards issued will have "Skagit Transit," and the cardholder’s name on the card. Only that 
person is authorized to use that card. It is not permitted to allow anyone other than the 
Cardholder to use a card to make purchases. 

Credit Cards do not replace requirements to comply with existing State or local procurement laws 
and regulations; it is designed to be an enhancement to the purchasing and payment processes. 
Except as indicated in Unauthorized or Inappropriate Credit Card Use section below, the Credit 
Card may be used to purchase products not otherwise covered under contract. The maximum 
credit limit on all cards is set by the Skagit Transit Board of Directors. 

The following conditions must be met when using the Credit Card: 

 The Skagit Transit charge card may be used for authorized purchases only.

 Each purchase may be comprised of multiple items, but the total cannot exceed the
credit card’s limit assigned to the purchaser.

 Cardholders must comply with Skagit Transit’s procurement policy and purchasing
procedures when using the Credit Card. If there are questions about the Procurement
Policy, please contact the Contracts Administrator.

 Questions regarding the specific use of the Credit Card should be directed to the
Director of Finance.

Assigned individuals will sign a Credit Card User Agreement (see Attachment) before they are 
eligible to use it. 

Credit Cards are to be returned to Skagit Transit immediately upon ending employment with Skagit 
Transit. 

Authorized Credit Card Use: 

Credit Cards may be used at any vendor that accepts VISA credit cards (this excludes the types of 
transactions stated in the Unauthorized and/or Inappropriate Credit Card Use section below). 

Procedure Number: Admin 050.25 
Approval Date:  
CEO: Crystle Stidham 
Director of Finance: 

6



 Cardholders must comply with Skagit Transit’s Procurement Policy and purchasing
procedures when using the credit card. Examples of appropriate uses include:

 Materials
 Equipment
 Supplies
 Services
 Travel (Airfare/Room Reservations)

Making a Purchase: 

For all credit card purchase transactions, the Cardholder must create an electronic requisition (E- 
Req) and provide a vendor's register receipt, or an order confirmation for online purchases to 
accounts payable. Receipts must be obtained for each credit card and must include the following 
information: 

 Date and amount of purchase.
 Detailed list of items(s) purchased and the cost of each item.
 Vendor name and other identification.

Cardholders are responsible for receipt of goods and/or materials purchased with the Credit Card 
and to resolve delivery problems, discrepancies and/or damaged goods issues directly with the 
vendor. 

The Department Manager is responsible to approve/disapprove the purchase requisition in a timely 
manner for credit card accounts to be paid on time. 

Unauthorized or Inappropriate Credit Card Use 

Unauthorized Transactions/Purchases: 

Cardholders must comply with Skagit Transit’s Procurement Policy and purchasing procedures 
when using the Credit Card. Examples of unauthorized use include: 

 Personal purchases of any kind
 Cash advances through banks or ATMs
 Cash refunds
 Employment Agencies (temporary help)
 Purchases that violate established standards or contractual agreements
 Alcohol
 Gambling

7



Inappropriate Use: 

Any unusual activity from an outside source that occurs on a Credit Card must be immediately 
reported to the Director of Finance. Skagit Transit reserves the right to cancel any Credit Card at 
any time for violation of these policies. As this is a commercial card account, Skagit Transit is 
liable for all transactions on the Credit Cards. 

Unauthorized use by a Cardholder may result in revocation of the Credit Card and/or other 
disciplinary action. Cardholders shall be personally responsible for any unauthorized expenditures 
and will be required to repay expenditures that are considered in violation of these policies. 
Cardholders who violate this restriction may have their card revoked and may be subject to other 
disciplinary action. 

Meal Purchase Guidelines: 

Do not use a Skagit Transit company credit card to pay for meals while in travel status. While 
traveling on Skagit Transit business, meal per diem will be paid in lieu of actual receipts. The 
per diem rate will be based on the regional standard rate established by the U.S. General Services 
Administration. 

Within reasonable limits established by the Chief Executive Officer or Department Head, 
meals, coffee, and light refreshments may be provided for meetings, retreats, formal training 
sessions, appreciation and recognition events, volunteers, committees, community members, and 
other governmental employees and/or authorized agents working on behalf of Skagit Transit. 
Meals may be purchased for employees and those working on behalf of or attending mandatory 
meetings, trainings sessions, appreciation or recognition events, or retreats. Per IRS guidelines, 
only a 15% tip is allowed. Cardholders are responsible for tips which exceed 15%. 

Presentation of a receipt or invoice for the above expenses is required, along with an available 
agenda and list of attendees, for reimbursement of such expenses. For the purposes of this section, 
coffee encompasses any non-alcoholic beverages such as tea, soft drinks, juice, or milk. A light 
refreshment is an edible item that may be served between meals. Examples include items such as 
muffins, rolls, fruit, vegetables, or cheese, etc. 

Returns and Exchanges: 

The Cardholder is responsible for contacting the vendor when goods, equipment or services 
purchased with the Credit Card are not acceptable (incorrect, damaged, defective, etc.) and for 
arranging a return for credit or exchange. 

If items are returned for credit, the Cardholder is responsible for obtaining a credit receipt from 
the vendor and retaining that receipt with the supporting documentation. 

8



If items need to be exchanged, the Cardholder is responsible for returning the items to the vendor 
and obtaining a replacement as soon as possible. 

Dispute Process: 

Each Cardholder is responsible for resolving any disputes directly with the vendor. If resolution 
is not possible, call Customer Service at the phone number provided on the credit card. 

ATTACHMENT 

CREDIT CARD USER AGREEMENT 

I,  , as an employee of Skagit Transit accept 

personal responsibility for the safeguard and proper use of Skagit Transit credit card 

# , which has been assigned to me for use in the performance 

of my job, in accordance with the terms outlined below. 

 I have read and understand the credit card policies and procedures.

 I understand the Director of Finance will revoke my use of a credit card for violation or

misuse of the credit card and/or credit card policies and procedures.

 I understand that each time I use, or authorize the use thereof, that I am adhering to the

following statement;

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury that this is a true and correct claim for 
necessary expenditures incurred by me and that no payment had been received 
by me on account thereof. 

 I understand that I will be held personally liable for any inappropriate charges I incur to

the Skagit Transit Credit Card, and payment for any such inappropriate charges are

hereby authorized to be withheld from my paycheck.

The undersigned individual has read and understands the above statements. 

9



Date: 

10



DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE

DBE  

POLICY & PROGRAM 

Revised 2025 

11



2 | P a g e

SKAGIT TRANSIT 

DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE POLICY STATEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 
POLICY STATEMENT 

Skagit Transit, a municipal corporation, has established a Race/Gender Neutral Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) Program in accordance with U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), 49 CFR Part 26. 
Skagit Transit receives Federal financial assistance from the Department of Transportation, and as a 
condition of receiving this assistance, Skagit Transit has signed an assurance that it will comply with 49 
CFR Part 26.  

It is the policy and objective of Skagit Transit to ensure that Small and Disadvantaged Businesses 
(S/DBE) as defined in Part 26, have an equal opportunity to receive and participate in DOT-assisted 
contracts. The following are also our objectives and policies:  

• To ensure non-discrimination in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts;
• To create a level playing field on which S/DBEs can compete fairly for DOT-assisted contracts;
• To ensure that the DBE Program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable law;
• To ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 CFR Part 26 eligibility standards are permitted to

participate as S/DBEs;
• To help remove barriers to the participation of S/DBEs in DOT-assisted contracts; and
• To support small businesses to ensure free and open access to Skagit Transit contracting

opportunities

The Procurement and Contracts Coordinator serves as the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Liaison 
Officer (DBELO). They will assure that the objectives of Skagit Transit’s DBE Program are met; however, 
the Executive and Management Staff shall have the responsibility of assisting the DBELO in carrying out 
the Agency’s DBE Program and Goals. Implementation of the DBE Program is accorded the same priority 
as compliance with all other legal obligations incurred by Skagit Transit in its financial assistance 
agreements with the Department of Transportation.  

As CEO, I have disseminated this Policy Statement to the Skagit Transit Board of Directors and all of the 
Departments of our Organization. Upon significant changes to the DBE Program, Skagit Transit will notify 
the Federal Transit Administration’s Regional Civil Rights Officer and publicize the revised DBE Program 
on Skagit Transit’s website. The Policy Statement and DBE Program are available on Skagit Transit’s 
website and are available to DBE and non-DBE firms on our bidder’s list that perform work for Skagit 
Transit on DOT-assisted contracts. The DBE Program emphasizes Skagit Transit’s commitment to 
providing maximum opportunity to all DBE businesses, in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26 as amended. 

________________________________________________ 

Crystle Stidham 
Chief Executive Officer 

12



3 | P a g e

DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) PROGRAM 

SUBPART A - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Objectives  

The objectives for this Program align with those in 49 CFR Part 26 Subpart A. 
 To ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts;
 To create a level playing field on which S/DBEs can compete fairly for DOT-assisted contracts;
 To ensure that Skagit Transit's DBE program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable

law;
 To ensure that only firms that fully meet CFR's eligibility standards are permitted to participate as

DBEs;
 To help remove barriers to the participation of S/DBEs in DOT-assisted contracts;
 To promote the use of DBEs in all types of federally assisted contracts and procurement activities

conducted by recipients;
 To provide appropriate flexibility to recipients of Federal financial assistance in establishing and

providing opportunities for DBEs.

Applicability  

Skagit Transit is the recipient of Federal transit funds authorized by Titles I, III, V, and VI of ISTEA, Pub. L. 
102- 240 or by Federal transit laws in Title 49, U.S. Code, or Titles I, II and V of the Teas-21, Pub. L. 105-
178.

Definitions  

Skagit Transit will adopt the definitions contained in 49 CFR Part 26 Subpart A 26.5 for this Program. 

Non-discrimination Requirements 

Skagit Transit will not exclude any person, business, firm or enterprise from participation in, or deny any 
person, business, firm or enterprise the benefits of, or otherwise discriminate against anyone in 
connection with the award and performance of any contract covered by 49 CFR Part 26 on the basis of 
race, color, sex, or national origin.  

In administering the DBE Program, Skagit Transit will not, directly or through contractual or other 
arrangements, use criteria or methods of administration that have the effect of defeating or substantially 
impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the DBE Program with respect to individuals of a particular 
race, color, sex, or national origin.  

Record Keeping Requirements  

Skagit Transit will report DBE participation to the FTA on a semi-annual basis, as required by 49 CFR Part 
26. Skagit Transit will maintain a bidders’ list, consisting of information about DBE and non-DBE firms that
bid on DOT-assisted contracts for calculating Overall Goals in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26.11(c). The
bidders’ list will include:

13



4 | P a g e

 The firms’ name;
 The firm’s address, including ZIP code;
 DBE/non-DBE status;
 Race and gender information for the firm’s majority owner;
 NAICS code applicable to the scope of work;
 The age of the firm: and
 Annual gross receipts, within brackets (less than $1M, From $1M - $3M, From $3M - $6M, From

$6M - $10M, and more than $10M).

The Washington State Office of Minority and Women Business Enterprises (OMWBE) is the Unified 
Certification Program (UCP) for Washington State. The OMWBE DBE directory is available online and will 
be utilized by Skagit Transit in the development of plan holders lists for IFBs, RFPs and Quotes. In 
addition, the OMWBE website will be utilized by Skagit Transit to attract potential DBE firms by 
advertising procurement opportunities on the OMWBE website and to identify DBE contractors and sub-
contractors. On DOT-assisted contracts, successful prime contractors will be required to provide to Skagit 
Transit, within forty-eight (48) hours after bid opening, the name and address of all sub-contractors that 
have submitted bids. Additional information to be submitted by the prime contractor, or to be obtained by 
Skagit Transit directly, will be the sub-contractors’ status as DBE or non-DBE, age of firm and annual 
gross receipts. 

Assurances 

Skagit Transit has signed the following Assurance per 49 CFR Part 26.13(a), applicable to all DOT-
assisted contracts and their administration:  

Skagit Transit shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the award 
and performance of any DOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE Program or the 
requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Skagit Transit shall take all necessary and reasonable steps 
under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT-
assisted contracts. Skagit Transit’s DBE Program, as required by 49 CFR Part 26 and as 
approved by DOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation of this Program 
is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a violation of this 
agreement. Upon notification to Skagit Transit of its failure to carry out its approved program, 
DOT may impose sanctions as provided for under Part 26 and may, in appropriate cases, refer 
the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act 
of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).  

Contract Assurance 

Skagit Transit will ensure that the following clause is placed in every DOT-assisted contract and 
subcontract per 49 CFR Part 26.13(b):  
The contractor or sub-contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in 
the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 
in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these 
requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or 
such other remedy as Skagit Transit deems appropriate.  

SUBPART B - ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 

DBE Program Updates 

14



5 | P a g e

Skagit Transit will continue to carry out this Program until all funds from DOT financial assistance have 
been expended. Skagit Transit will provide to DOT updates representing significant changes to the 
Program.  

DBE Liaison Officer (DBELO) 

The Procurement and Contracts Coordinator will serve as the DBELO and is responsible for implementing 
all aspects of the DBE Program and ensuring that Skagit Transit complies with all provisions of 49 CFR 
Part 26. The DBELO will be responsible for developing, implementing and monitoring the DBE Program. 
The duties and responsibilities of the DBELO include the following:  

• Gathers and reports statistical data and other information as required by the DOT;
• Reviews third party contracts and purchases for compliance with this Program;
• Prepares Uniform Report of DBE Commitments/Awards and Payments as required by the

DOT;
• Sets Overall Goals every three (3) year term as required by the DOT and evaluates

appropriateness of future Goals on an annual basis;
• Analyzes progress towards goal attainment and identifies opportunities for improved

participation;
• Ensures Skagit Transit’s bids and proposals are advertised and available to S/DBEs in a

timely manner;
• Identifies contract and procurement opportunities to increase S/DBE participation;
• Participates in pre-bid meetings when applicable;
• Advises the CEO on DBE matters and achievements;
• Considers and reviews appropriate and reasonable insurance and bonding requirements and

monitors enforcement of prompt payment procedures;
• When applicable, assists S/DBEs in understanding specifications and bid documents;
• Maintains the ability to access up-to-date DBE directory listings from OMWBE;
• Provides outreach to S/DBEs and attends community events that support S/DBE

businesses;
• Communicates commitment to the DBE Program;
• Participates in DBE training opportunities; and
• Maintains Skagit Transit’s bidders list in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26.11(c).

Prompt Payment Mechanisms 

Skagit Transit’s payment policy is next thirty (30) days from date of receipt of an invoice free of errors or 
issues after work has been accepted. Progress payments are allowed under certain contracts and are 
handled on the same basis. In some circumstances, Skagit Transit may agree to shorter payment terms 
to reduce the cash flow burden on small businesses. Skagit Transit’s policy is to use payment and 
performance bonds in lieu of retainage held for all contracts funded in whole or in part with federal funds 
to not negatively affect disadvantaged businesses. Skagit Transit will include in its contracts a prompt 
payment clause per 49 CFR Part 26.29 as follows:  

The prime contractor agrees to pay each sub-contractor under this prime contract for satisfactory 
performance of its contract no later than thirty (30) days from the receipt of each payment the prime 
contractor receives from Skagit Transit. The prime contractor agrees to not withhold retainage from sub-
contractor’s payments. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above time frames may occur 

15



6 | P a g e  
 

only for good cause following written approval of Skagit Transit. This clause applies to both DBE and non-
DBE subcontractors.  
 
Skagit Transit will require contractors to submit regular reports of the actual payments made to DBE firms 
for work that was committed to them at the time of contract award. Skagit Transit will review the reports 
submitted by the prime contractor and seek confirmation, as needed, that payment was made to the DBE 
firm.  
 
If a prime contractor is found to be out of compliance with its DBE commitment, it shall be so notified by 
Skagit Transit and directed to cure the problem within an appropriate time. Failure by the prime contractor 
to comply may result in monetary penalties and partial or total termination for default with re-solicitation 
costs to be borne by the prime contractor or its bond. In addition, Skagit Transit may consider a 
contractor’s noncompliance when evaluating contractor responsibility in future bids or proposals.  
 
 
DBE Directory  
 
Skagit Transit relies on the Washington State Office of Minority and Women Business Enterprises 
(OMWBE) to perform DBE certification and can view real-time data as well as download a static version 
of the DBE directory. This directory is utilized in the development of bidders’ lists for IFBs, RFPs and other 
methods of procurement. In addition, the directory is used to assist potential prime contractors in the 
identification of available DBE subcontractors. Interested persons may obtain access to the OMWBE 
directory by contacting the following or visiting the websites listed below:  
 
Skagit Transit      OMWBE  
Procurement Department   1110 Capitol Way South, Suite 150  
600 County Shop Lane    Olympia, WA 98501  
Burlington, WA 98223     Tel: (360) 664-9750  
Tel: (360)757-4433    www.omwbe.wa.gov  
www.skagittransit.org/about-us/procurement 
 
 
Overconcentration  
 
Over-concentration has not been identified in the types of work that DBEs perform for Skagit Transit. If 
Skagit Transit should determine there is an over-concentration of DBEs in certain business areas to the 
extent that small non-DBE businesses can no longer effectively participate in Skagit Transit’s contracting 
opportunities, the Agency will contact the FTA Regional Civil Rights Officer for approval of the over-
concentration determination and to request assistance in devising measures to address the over-
concentration.  
 
Business Development and Mentor-Protégé Programs  
 
Skagit Transit does not have a Business Development and Mentor-Protégé Program at this time; 
however, will reevaluate the need for such a program in conjunction with every three (3) year DBE goal 
setting term.  
 
 
Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms  
 
A Skagit Transit Project Manager or representative will monitor the work performed by a DBE to verify the 
work committed to a DBE firm is performed by the DBE named in the Contract. A clause will be included 
in all contracts that the prime contractor cannot substitute subcontractors without Skagit Transit approval. 
In addition, if a DBE subcontractor is unable to perform the work contracted for, the prime contractor must 
either replace the subcontractor with another DBE or show Skagit Transit that good faith efforts to do so 

16



7 | P a g e

have been made. As provided for in 49 CFR Part 26, Skagit Transit will provide a written certification for 
the project file confirming that contracting records and monitored work sites have been reviewed. The file 
will note the findings from this effort and any action taken if required.  

Skagit Transit will require contractors to submit regular reports of the actual payments made to DBE firms 
for work committed to them at the time of contract award. The Verification of Prompt Payment form is 
used for onsite verification of prompt payment. Skagit Transit will review the reports submitted by the 
prime contractor and seek confirmation, as needed, that payment was made to the DBE firm. 

If a prime contractor is found out of compliance with its DBE commitment, contractor shall be so notified 
by Skagit Transit and directed to cure the problem within an appropriate time. Failure by the prime 
contractor to comply may result in monetary penalties and partial or total termination for default with re-
solicitation costs to be borne by the prime contractor or its bond. In addition, Skagit Transit may consider 
a contractor’s noncompliance with its stated good faith efforts when evaluating contractor responsibility in 
future bids or proposals.  

Skagit Transit will keep a running tally of actual payments to DBE firms for work committed to them at the 
time of contract award.  

Skagit Transit will bring to the attention of the Washington State OMWBE and the DOT any false, 
fraudulent, or dishonest conduct regarding the program, so that DOT can take the steps (e.g. referral to 
the Department of Justice for criminal prosecution, referral to the DOT Inspector General, action under 
suspension and debarment or Program Fraud and Civil Penalties rules) provided for in 49 CFR Part 26. 

Small Business Participation 

Skagit Transit has incorporated a non-discriminatory small business element to its DBE Program per 49 
CFR Part 26.39, to facilitate participation with not only DBEs, but also non-DBE small businesses (SBEs). 
Skagit Transit is committed to providing equal and open access for small businesses and ensuring that all 
small businesses designations receive adequate opportunities to participate in contracting and 
procurement activities.  

Small Business Element 

Skagit Transit will utilize the OMWBE website to identify SBEs when soliciting quotes for small projects. 
End users and Project Managers performing their own quotes are also encouraged to utilize the OMWBE 
website to foster small business participation from certified S/DBE firms. When a DBE or an SBE is 
awarded a Contract, end-users obtaining their own quotes will provide the documentation of S/DBE firms 
invited to participate in the quote and all back-up documentation to the Procurement Manger or designee 
for calculating Overall Goals in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26.11(c).  

Per 49 CFR Part 26.39, Skagit Transit will carefully review future contracting opportunities and take 
reasonable steps to eliminate barriers faced by small businesses including unnecessary contract 
requirements that may preclude small business participation. For multi-year design-build contracts or 
other large contracts, Skagit Transit may require the Project Manager or prime contractors to specify 
elements of the contract or specific subcontracts that are of a reasonable size that S/DBEs may perform. 

Outreach  

The Skagit Transit website includes links to the following Small Business Support Programs: 

17



8 | P a g e

• The Washington State OMWBE general website www.omwbe.wa.gov and the Linked Deposit
Program for providing the borrowers (the businesses) a loan interest-rate reduction of up to two
percent (2%). http://omwbe.wa.gov/linked-deposit-program/
• WSDOT has a Small Business Services Program webpage with information on training and
support. http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/Business/opportunities/BusinessServices.htm
• The USDOT Small Business webpage provides additional information on programs available
small to businesses. https://www.transportation.gov/osdbu
• The Procurement Technical Assistance Center’s (PTAC) mission is to maximize the number of
capable U.S. companies participating in the government marketplace. Washington PTAC guides
companies through the process of applying for and fulfilling government contracts.
http://washingtonptac.org/

Skagit Transit will participate in the WA NIGP Washington Procurement Connect Conference and similar 
forums offered by King County, WSDOT, Alliance NW and other programs and events that promote 
reaching out to S/DBEs.  

Small Business Certification 

The SBE Certification Program is administered by OMWBE in a manner similar to the administration of 
the DBE Certification Program. The certification criteria (49 CFR Part 26) will remain similar to that of the 
DBE Program, without the consideration of gender and/or ethnicity. Eligibility requirements to become 
certified can be found on the OMWBE website: https://omwbe.wa.gov/  

Regardless of gender and ethnicity of the firm’s owner, the company and OMWBE will follow the 
certification procedures and application process outlined in 49 CFR Part 26. However, the certification 
determination will not be appealable to the DOT. After initial appeal to OMWBE, all certification 
determinations will be binding.  

SUBPART C - GOALS, GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, AND COUNTING 

Set-asides or Quotas 

Skagit Transit does not use set-asides or quotas in the administration of this DBE Program due to the 
race and gender neutrality of the Program.  

Overall Goals 

In accordance with 49 CFR Part 26.45, Skagit Transit will develop and submit overall triennial DBE 
participation Goals by August 1 of the year specified by the FTA. The DBE Goal will be established based 
on the demonstrable evidence of DBE firms ready, able, and willing to participate in contracting 
opportunities in DOT assisted projects. Skagit Transit intends to meet its Overall Goals through race-
neutral means in the following manner:  

Bidders competing for Skagit Transit contracts are primarily from within Skagit, Snohomish, Whatcom and 
Island Counties. Therefore, Goals are established by comparing overall business availability for Skagit, 
Snohomish, Whatcom and Island Counties utilizing the U.S. Census Bureau database with Skagit, 
Snohomish, Whatcom and Island County DBEs certified through OMWBE.  
DBE firms are identified according to North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code from 
the list of certified DBE firms issued by the Washington State OMWBE.  

18



9 | P a g e

Step One: The base figure is determined by the total number of Skagit, Snohomish, Whatcom and Island 
County businesses available under the identified NAICS codes for the types of contract awards 
anticipated. That figure is divided by the total number of ready, willing and able DBE firms in the three 
counties weighted by the dollars expected to be expended in each project resulting in the DBE availability, 
and base figure.  

Step Two: Skagit Transit’s past participation and experience is examined in Step Two. The historical 
median from the current and a minimum of two previous years is determined. Historical data regarding 
successful/unsuccessful DBE and non-DBE contractors is analyzed. The results are compared with Step 
One results. If substantially different, the methods and statistics are reviewed, and results adjusted as 
appropriate.  

Skagit Transit considers the research and analysis of local Disparity Studies and recognizes there are 
quantifiable barriers for minority businesses in the local transportation industry and will seek DOT 
guidance on adopting a race-conscious program if established DBE Goals are not attainable by race 
neutral measures.  

Outreach Process 

Skagit Transit will consult with and seek comment from members of the contracting community, prime 
contractors, subcontractors and agencies that support small business communities and small business 
development centers to obtain information regarding DBE and non-DBE availability and general feedback 
for the types of work Skagit Transit plans to procure during the triennial period.  

The website will address how comments may be submitted. Comments received will be considered and 
the Program will be adjusted if appropriate. The Goal Methodology will include a summary of information 
and comments received during the consultative and public participation processes and Skagit Transit’s 
response to such input. Unless other instructions are received from the FTA, the Overall Goals will be 
used beginning October 1 of the triennial period.  

Goal Setting and Accountability 

If the awards and commitments shown on Skagit Transit’s Uniform Report of Awards or Commitments and 
Payments at the end of any fiscal year are less than the Overall Goal applicable to that fiscal year:  

Skagit Transit will analyze in detail the reason for the difference between the Overall Goal and the actual 
awards/commitments. Skagit Transit will establish specific steps to correct the obstacles identified in the 
analysis, establish a corrective action plan, conduct a short-fall analysis and maintain information and 
records regarding the analysis and efforts made. If Skagit Transit is a top 50 transit authority as 
determined annually by the FTA, the short-fall analysis is required to be submitted to the FTA Regional 
Civil Rights Officer.  

Transit Vehicle Manufacturers (TVM) 

Skagit Transit will require each transit vehicle manufacturer, as a condition of being authorized to bid or 
propose on DOT-assisted transit vehicle procurements, to certify that it has complied with the 
requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. 

Meeting Overall Goals 

Skagit Transit will use the following race/gender–neutral methods to meet its overall goal and facilitate 
DBE participation:  

19



10 | P a g e

• Use the OMWBE website to determine S/DBE firms and invite firms to participate in formal and
informal procurements;

• Encourage prime contractors to subcontract portions of work to DBEs;
• Consider (subject to state law and Skagit Transit needs) alternatives to stated specifications, such

as bonding, insurance limits, and financing, which may limit DBE participation;
• Provide technical assistance as needed;
• Provide information regarding Washington State OMWBE;
• Upon request, provide prime contractor with potential DBE subcontractors;
• Provide information about Skagit Transit’s contracting opportunities and procedures to DBEs and

post on Skagit Transit’s website open solicitations and contract award information;
• Participate in regional governmental procurement outreach events that support all small business

designations;
• Use contract language which supports S/DBE participation;
• Assist firms to contact local agencies who provide services to help S/DBEs.

Good Faith Efforts Procedures 

Good Faith Effort procedures regarding contract goal-setting do not apply because Skagit Transit’s DBE 
Program is race-neutral; however, Skagit Transit has adopted the following good faith efforts when 
obtaining information from bidders/proposers:  

• Name, address and OMWBE Certification Number of DBE firm(s) that will participate in the
contract;

• A description of the work the DBE firm(s) is expected to perform;
• The value of the subcontract.

Bidders/proposers shall be required to submit the following information within 48 hours after the bid 
opening:  

• The percentage and value of the subcontract to be performed by the DBE;
• Written and signed confirmation from the DBE that is participating in the contract as provided in

the prime contractor’s commitment;;
• Prime contractor’s completion of the Bidder Disclosure Form. Staff will ensure that all information

is complete and accurate and adequately documented prior to contract award’

Good Faith Efforts when a DBE is Terminated/Replaced on a Contract  
Additionally, Skagit Transit requires prior written consent when terminating a DBE subcontractor listed in a 
bid/contract even though no contract goals have been established. Skagit Transit must determine “good 
cause” for termination of the DBE firm, as established by Section 26.53(f)(3) of the DBE regulation. 

Before transmitting to Skagit Transit its request to terminate a DBE subcontractor, the prime contractor 
must give notice in writing to the DBE of its intent to do so. A copy of this notice must be provided to 
Skagit Transit prior to consideration of the request to terminate. The DBE will then have five (5) days to 
respond and advise Skagit Transit of why it objects to the proposed termination.  

In those instances where “good cause” exists to terminate, Skagit Transit will require the prime contractor 
to make good faith efforts to replace a DBE with another certified DBE. Skagit Transit will require the 
prime contractor to notify the Procurement Manager or designee immediately of the DBEs inability or 
unwillingness to perform and provide reasonable documentation of the circumstance.  

Skagit Transit will require the prime contractor to obtain prior approval of the substitute DBE and provide 
copies of new or amended subcontracts, and documentation of good faith efforts. If the contractor fails or 
refuses to comply in the time specified, the contracting officer will issue an order stopping all or part of 
payment/work until satisfactory action has been taken. If the contractor still fails to comply, the contracting 
officer may issue a termination for default proceeding.  

20



11 | P a g e

Counting DBE Participation 

When a DBE is participating in a DOT-assisted contract, only the work performed by the DBE will be 
counted toward Skagit Transit’s Goals. Skagit Transit will count DBE participation toward Overall Goals as 
provided in 49 CFR Part 26.55.  

SUBPARTS D & E - CERTIFICATION 

Unified Certification Programs 

The OMWBE is the sole certifying entity in the State of Washington, consistent with 49 CFR Section 
26.81. The UCP will meet all the requirements of this section. OMWBE manages the certification process 
and maintains the DBE directory. Information about certification as well as the updated directory can be 
found on http://www.omwbe.gov. Skagit Transit will use and count for DBE participation only for those 
DBE firms certified by OMWBE.  

Procedures for Certification Decisions 

Any firm or complainant may appeal a State of Washington decision in a certification matter to DOT. Such 
appeals may be sent to:  

U.S. Department of Transportation  
Office of Civil Rights Certification Appeals Branch 
1200 New Jersey Ave. SE  
Washington, D.C. 20590  

Skagit Transit will promptly implement any DOT certification appeal decisions affecting the eligibility of 
DBEs for our DOT-assisted contracting.  

Decertification 

In addition to the performance of the certification function in the State of Washington, OMWBE is 
responsible for decertification for DBEs that no longer qualify for the Program under 49 CFR Part 26. 
Skagit Transit will cooperate with OMWBE as needed to assist in the decertification process. Once 
decertified, a DBE contractor will no longer be counted towards the Agency’s Overall Goal. 

SUBPART F - COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT 

Information, Confidentiality, Cooperation 

Records provided to Skagit Transit may be public records subject to disclosure under the Washington 
State Public Records Act and/or other laws requiring disclosure or discovery of records. Skagit Transit, in 
its sole discretion, may withhold or redact all or portions of records that are subject to exemption, 
consistent with Federal, State and local laws. In the event Skagit Transit receives a request for disclosure 
of records that are marked by contractor as “confidential” or “proprietary”, Skagit Transit will provide at 
least ten (10) business days’ written notice prior to release of responsive records.  

Monitoring Payments to DBEs 

21



12 | P a g e

Skagit Transit will require prime contractors to maintain records and documents of payments to DBEs for 
(3) three years following the performance of the contract. These records will be made available for
inspection upon request by any authorized representative of Skagit Transit or DOT. This reporting
requirement also extends to any certified DBE subcontractor.

Skagit Transit will perform interim audits of contractor payments to DBE subcontractors. The audit will 
review payments to DBE subcontractors to ensure that the actual amount paid to the DBE subcontractor 
equals or exceeds the dollar amounts stated in the Disadvantaged Business Participation Form and 
contract. 

22



Skagit Transit 
Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) Goal 
FFY 2025-2027 

2025-2027 

FFY 2025-2027 DBE GOAL 
PROCUREMENT & CONTRACTS 

23



2025-2027 DBE Goal – Skagit Transit 

Skagit Transit submits its Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Triennial Goal Setting 
Methodology Report for the period of federal fiscal years (FFY) 2025, 2026 and 2027 to the 
United States Department of Transportation Federal Transit Administration’s Region 10 for 
review and approval. 

In accordance with 49 CFR Part 26, Skagit Transit has proposed an overall Race/Gender-
Neutral DBE goal for FFY 2025-2027 at one percent (1%). The goals were developed based 
upon anticipated and awarded U.S. DOT-assisted contracts, exclusive of FTA funds to be 
used for the purchase of transit vehicles. To determine the goal, Skagit Transit followed the 
two-step goal-setting methodology as stated in 49 CFR Part 26.45. 

The two-step goal process is required by 49 CFR Part 26 and the U.S. DOT Tips were used to 
determine the overall goals for FFY 2025-2027.  The two steps for setting an overall goal are: 

 Step One: Establishing a base figure for the relative availability of DBEs and
weighting it with federal funding allocation

 Step Two: Adjustment of the base figure

Skagit Transit’s (ST) established the market area by looking at Skagit Transit’s past 
participation in US DOT assisted projects.  Included in the market area were Whatcom, 
Skagit, Snohomish and Island Counties. 

Step 1: Determine Base Figure as overall relative availability of DBEs by NAICS Code. 

Table A) Determine the weight of each type of work by NAICS Code: 

NAICS 
Description of Skagit Transit 

Project 

 Total 
Project 
Budget  

 Amount of 
DOT funds for 

project  

Percentage of  DOT funds 
for the total budget of the 

project 

Percentage of 
ALL DOT funds 

(weight) 
236220  MOA 2 Construction $41,735,000 $24,500,000 59% 99.3% 
236220 MOA2 Construction Phase 3 $22,235,000 $5,000,000 12% 20.3% 
236220 RAISE Grant $19,500,000 $19,500,000 47% 79% 
332311  Bus Shelter Upgrades $162,308 $162,308 100% 0.7% 
332311 Shelter Purchase (SCOG) $94,246 $94,246 58% 0.4 
332311 Shelter Purchase $68,062 $68,062 42% 0.3 

- Total DOT Funding - $24,662,308 - 100% 

24



The DBE Directories and Census Data Method is one of five options in the regulations for 
establishing a base figure for relative availability of DBEs. It is the chosen method for Skagit 
Transit for producing this report. 

Washington State’s agency for Unified Certification Program for DBEs is The OƯice of 
Minority, Women and Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (OMWBE). Skagit Transit has 
established a partnership with OMWBE to obtain data regarding Small and Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprises. This is standard practice in the State of Washington.  

Skagit Transit ‘s report is based on this method of determination of base figure. Relative 
availability for each NAICS Code was calculated by dividing number of DBEs available in 
the market area by number of all firms (Table B).  Data for number of DBEs available came 
from the OƯice of Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises.   

Table B) Determine the relative availability of DBE’s by NAICS Code: 

NAICS 
Code 

NAICS Title Available 
DBE Firms 
by NAICS 

Code 

All Firms (DBE 
and Non-DBE) 
by NAICS Code 

Relative 
Availability of 

DBEs by NAISC 
Code 

236220 Commercial and Institutional 
Building Construction 

0 136 0.00% 

332311 Prefabricated Metal Building and 
Component Manufacturing 

0 0 0.00% 

It has been realized that there is extremely low DBE availability in the researched area, and 
this is a contributing factor to the overall goal. The data was then exported to the Weighted 
Base Figure spreadsheet (Table C) and the base figure was determined to be 0%. 

Table C) (Weight) x (Availability) = Weighted Base Figure 

Step Two: Determining if an Adjustment is Warranted - 49 CFR Section 26.45 (d) 

NAICS Description of Project  Weight (A)  Availability (B) 
Weighted Base 

Figure (A x B) 
236220  MOA 2 Construction 99.3 0.00% 0.00 
236220 MOA 2 Construction Phase 3 20.3 0.00% 0.00 
236220  RAISE Grant 79 0.00% 0.00 
332311  Bus Shelter Upgrades 0.7 0.00% 0.00 
332311 Shelter Purchase (SCOG) 0.4 0.00% 0.00 
332311 Shelter Purchase 0.3 0.00% 0.00 

25



After establishing a base figure, Skagit Transit considered other available information to 
determine if an adjustment to the base figure was warranted. Additional information was 
considered from two sources: Research and review of a neighboring transit agency, 
Whatcom Transportation Authority (WTA), and past participation of Skagit Transit contracts. 
WTA’s data and methodology for calculating their DBE Goal is very similar to Skagit 
Transit’s, and they achieved the same results. Next, past participation of Skagit Transit’s 
contracts were taken into consideration. Being that Skagit Transit is a relatively small 
agency outside of the Seattle - Everett metropolitan area, attracting contractors to the 
north has proven challenging. Opportunities for contracting work were limited during FFY 
2022-2024, as the region regained momentum after the eƯects of COVID-19 shutdowns 
and supply chain issues. DBE participation during FFY 2022-2024 was 0%.  

We have examined the evidence available and have determined that there could be a 
reasonable adjustment increase to the base figure established in Step One to arrive at our 
overall goal. By actively pursuing regional forums and conducting more outreach, Skagit 
Transit aims to achieve higher than the calculation of zero percent, and has set a goal of 
one percent (1%) for DBE awards. The FTA funding that Skagit Transit receives is primarily 
rolling stock and for construction, so the focus will need to be the construction fields. 

Transit Vehicle Manufacturers Goals – 49 CFR Section 26.49 

Skagit Transit will not use DBE goals in contracts for rolling stock. Transit vehicle 
manufacturers (TVM) are required to develop their own DBE programs. Therefore, Skagit 
Transit will require in its bid or proposal packages for transit vehicles a certification from 
each TVM that they have developed and submitted their own program to the FTA and that 
said program has been approved or not disapproved. Skagit Transit will verify certified 
TVM’s on FTA’s OƯice of Civil Rights DBE webpage.  

Means Used to Meet Overall Goals – 49 CFR Section 26.51 (c) 

Skagit Transit will use race/gender-neutral means to encourage DBE participation in its 
federally assisted contracts. Skagit Transit does not use DBE quotas or set asides to 
achieve the overall annual goal for DBE participation. Participation will be achieved by 
race/gender-neutral means or by the use of contract goals.  

Public Participation – 49 CFR Section 26.45 (g) 

Public participation is a key component of Skagit Transit’s process for establishing DBE 
goals. Outreach eƯorts have been made to engage the public as part of the goal-setting 
process as well providing a comment period for feedback on proposed goals. Skagit Transit 
consults with diƯerent community organizations that provide or disseminate information 
about local marketplace conditions for minority and women owned businesses. To engage 

26



with stakeholders on our proposed DBE goal, Skagit Transit will participate in regional 
forums and events hosted by public agencies like WA NIGP, OWMBE, King County, 
Economic Development Alliance of Skagit County (EDASC) and Snohomish County 
Economic Alliance. Skagit Transit will continue to promote DBE opportunities and 
encourage participation on the Procurement page of Skagit Transit’s website. 

27



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approve Micro-purchase Threshold Increase from $10,000 to $50,000 

INFORMATION:  

The Procurement Policy was last updated November of 2022. 

Attached to the board packet is the updated Procurement Policy and Matrix that identifies the 
changes. Changes were necessary to align the policy to current standards, increase the 
authority for micro-purchases, and CEO approval limits for contracts. 

As of December 2020, the Code of Federal Regulations § 200.320 Procurement methods allows 
the micro-purchase threshold of an agency to increase up to $50,000.  

Skagit Transit’s current procurement policy is set at $10,000.  

The current CEO approval limit is $100,000 without board approval. 

Per CFR 200.320 the required self-certification is included with the updated procurement 
policy. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends increasing the micro-purchase limit from $10,000 to $50,000 and CEO 
contracting authority to $150,000. 

BUDGET IMPACT:  

No cost to Skagit Transit, countless staff hours saved in procurement time.  

28



Skagit Transit FTA Third Party Clause Matrix

Professional Operations/ Rolling Stock Materials &

Services/A&E Management Purchase Supplies

Opening Section ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

(a)Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, as amended, including the following:
(1) The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 (IIJA), Public Law No. 117-58, November 15, 2021, and other 

authorizing legislation that may be enacted;
(2) The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, Public Law No. 114-94, December 4, 2015
(3) The Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), Public Law No. 112- 141, July 6, 2012, as 

amended by the Surface Transportation and Veterans Health Care Choice Improvement Act of 2015, Public Law No. 114-41, 
July 31, 2015; and

(4) The Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU), Public Law 
No. 109-59, August 10, 2005, as amended by the SAFETEA-LU Technical Corrections Act of 2008, Public Law No 110-244, 
June 6, 2008.
(b) Continuing Resolutions or Other Appropriations Resolutions or Acts funding the Department of Transportation during 
Fiscal Year 2021.
(c) Title 23, United States Code (Highways).
(d) Other federal legislation that FTA administers, as FTA so determines.

Access to Third Party Contract 
Records

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Records and Reports Related to the Award and the Underlying Agreement - Data on Assaults on Transit Workers and 
Bus Impact Fatalities.
Amended reference to NTD reporting requirement for data on assaults on transit workers and bus impact fatalities, to reflect 
FTA’s February 2023 regulatory update that requires reporting from all Chapter 53 recipients as opposed to Section 5307 and 
Section 5311 recipients.

Record Retention and Access to Sites of Performance. - Access to Recipient and Third Party Participant Records
Added for claificiation, "including such records and information the Recipient or its Third Party Participants may regard as 
confidential or proprietary,".

ADA Access A&E ALL ALL ALL ALL

Bond Requirements >$250,000

Bus Testing ALL

Buy America Requirements >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000

Revisions in this section are made to reflect the publication of 2 CFR Part 184.
New Statement: In accordance with 2 CFR § 184.2(a), the Recipient shall apply the standards of 49 CFR Part 661 to iron, 
steel, and manufactured products.

Uniform Administrative Requirements. Compliance with FTA’s “Buy America Requirements,” 49 CFR Part 661, and 
“Buy America Preferences for Infrastructure Projects,” 2 CFR Part 184, as described in this Master Agreement shal l be 
deemed to satisfy 2 CFR § 200.322, “Domestic Preferences for Procurements.”

Cargo Preference 
Requirements

Transport by 
ocean vessel.

Transport by 
ocean vessel.

Transport by 
ocean vessel.

Cargo Preference–Use of United States-Flag Vessels. Details added to emphasize importance.  Now reads:
At least 50 percent of any equipment, materials or commodities procured, contracted for or otherwise obtained with funds 
granted, guaranteed, loaned, or advanced by the U.S. Government under this agreement, and which may be transported by 
ocean vessel, shall be transported on privately owned United States-flag commercial vessels, if available.  The shipping 
requirements of 46 U.S.C. § 55305, and U.S. Maritime Administration regulations, “Cargo Preference – U.S.-Flag Vessels,” 
46 CFR Part 381. Within 20 days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United States or within 
30 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a rated, 
‘on-board’ commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for each shipment of cargo described in  46 CFR § 381.7(a)(1) 46 
CFR § 381.7(a)(1) shall be furnished to both the recipient (through the prime contractor in the case of subcontractor bills-
of-lading) and to the Division of National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, Washington, DC 
20590”.;

Language Change

TYPE OF PROCUREMENT

PROVISION Construction

Updated January 2025 1 of 529



Skagit Transit FTA Third Party Clause Matrix

Changes to Federal 
Requirements

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Charter Service ALL

Updated January 2025 2 of 530



Skagit Transit FTA Third Party Clause Matrix

Civil Rights Laws and

Regulations

Civil Rights and Equal 
Opportunity

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Clean Air and Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act

>$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000

Conformance with ITS

National Architecture

Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act

>$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000

Davis-Bacon and Copeland 
Anti-Kickback Act

>$2,000

Debarment and Suspension >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000 >$25,000

Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises (DBEs)

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Drug Use and Alcohol Transit

Program operations.

Energy Conservation ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Equal Employment 
Opportunity

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

False Statements or Claims –

Civil and Criminal Fraud

Federal Tax Liability and 
Recent Felony Convictions

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Fly America
Foreign air 

transp. / travel
Foreign air 

transp. / travel
Foreign air 

transp. / travel
Foreign air 

transp. / travel
Foreign air 

transp. / travel

Incorporation of FTA Terms ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Freedom of Information. Revisions made to clarify expectations for records submitted to FTA.
Records. The Recipient agrees that all applications and materialsrecords it submits to FTA that are related to its Award have 
or will become federal agency records, and are or willmay be subject to release in response to a FOIA requestand to public 
release through individual FOIA requests, unless FTA in its sole discretion determines that a valid exemption under FOIA or 
another statute applies. Unless FTA explicitly states otherwise in writing, FTA does not promise or intend tomake any 
assurance that it will keep private any records submitted to FTA confidential.

No Federal Obligations to 
Third Parties

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Notice to FTA and U.S. DOT 
Inspector General of

Information Related to Fraud, 
Waste, etc.

Patent Rights and Rights in 
Data

R&D

Pre-Award and Post-Delivery 
Audits of Rolling Stock 
Purchases

ALL

Prohibition on Certain 
Telecommunications and

Video Surveillance Services or 
Equipment

Prompt Payment ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs.

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs.

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs.

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs.

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs.

ITS projects. ITS projects. ITS projects. ITS projects. ITS projects.

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Updated January 2025 3 of 531



Skagit Transit FTA Third Party Clause Matrix

Public Transportation 
Employee Protective 
Arrangements

Transit 
operations.

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more

annually. annually. annually.

Resolution of Disputes,

Breaches, or Other Litigation

Restrictions on Lobbying >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000

Safe Operation of Motor 
Vehicles

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

School Bus Operations ALL

A&E for new

buildings & 
additions.

Severability ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Solid Wastes (Recovered

Materials)

Special DOL EEO Clause for 
Construction Projects

>$10,000

Added to more fully comply with 41 CFR 60-1.4:
Federally Assisted Construction Contracts. Pursuant to 41 CFR § 60-1.4(b)(1): : The applicant [Recipient] hereby agrees 
that it will incorporate or cause to be incorporated into any contract for construction work, or modification thereof, as 
defined in the regulations of the Secretary of Labor at 41 CFR Chapter 60, which is paid for in whole or in part with funds 
obtained from the Federal Government or borrowed on the credit of the Federal Government pursuant to a grant, contract, 
loan, insurance, or guarantee, or undertaken pursuant to any Federal program involving such grant, contract, loan, 
insurance, or guarantee, the following equal opportunity clause:

Termination >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000

Trafficking in Persons ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Veterans Hiring Preference >$150,000

Violation and Breach of

Contract

1

2

3

4

2025 Procurement Policy Updates:

Revise wording to add NO THRESHOLD to Qualifications-Based Procurement – Architectural and Engineering (A&E) Services pg 24

Replaced all references to FTA Circular 4220.1F with 4220.1G, as amended on January 17, 2025.FTA’s most recent authorizing legislation is the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), Pub. L. 117-58, 
signed into law on November 15, 2021. The legislation reauthorizes Surface Transportation Programs (STPs) for Fiscal Year (FY) 2022 through FY 2026.

The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act (Pub. L. 114-94) authorized FTA programs FY 2016 through 2021; the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act  (MAP-21) (Pub. L. 112-
141) authorized FTA programs for FY 2013 through FY 2015; and the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU) (Pub. L. 109-59) authorized FTA 
programs from FY 2005 through FY 2012. Changes have been added to this circular to reflect the IIJA provisions applicable to Federal transit and other laws that have become effective since the circular was last
published in 2013.

This circular revision also incorporates provisions of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR 
Part 200, as it has been adopted by USDOT at 2 CFR Part 1201.

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

>$250,000 >$250,000

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL

Seismic Safety
New buildings 
& additions.

Recycled Products

>$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000

Updated January 2025 4 of 532



Skagit Transit FTA Third Party Clause Matrix

5

6

7

8

b

c

9

10

11

12

13

14

Change order authority, increase Board approval for a single Change Order from $100,000 to $150,000, Section 8-601

4-304 - PROCUREMENT BY FORMAL PROCESSES $100,000 to $150,000
8-601 - CONTRACT AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE ORDERS  $100,000 to $150,000
EXHIBIT B REQUISITION REQUIREMENTS - 3 Written Quotes (i.e. RFQ) $100,000 to $150,000

Authorize Chief Executive Officer authority to award sole source contracts up to spending limit of to $150,000, Full Board of Directors for total amounts exceeding $150,000 section 4-307

1-101, changed wording to "This Policy shall be interpreted in accordance with Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Third Party Contracting Guidance, as contained in FTA Circular 4220.1F, and applicable 
Washington State law.”

1-201 Added defintions "Addenda/Addendum", "Cooperative Procurement", "Economic Value","Grant", "Grantor", and "Piggybacking" and applicable defitions to section.

3-111 Added a section titled Misconduct of Contractors/Suppliers/Vendors that identifies what constitutes misconduct (collusion, criminal charges, violating ethical standards).

4-201 Added the title of the person/office responsible for receiving and resolving disputes and the hierarchy of dispute resolution if it exists.

4-308 Differentiated Emergency Purchase from Sole Source

Changed Micropurchase threshold from $10,000 to $50,000

Updated the following thresholds:

Increase Chief Executive Officer spending limit from $100,000 to $150,000

4-303 - PROCUREMENT BY SMALL ACQUISTION $100,000 to $150,000

USDOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 1201, supersede and replace the requirements of the DOT Common Rule, 
former 49 CFR Parts 18 and 19, except that former 49 CFR Parts 18 and 19 will continue to apply to grant and cooperative agreements awarded before December 26, 2014, as in effect on the date of such grant or 
cooperative agreements.  

Updated language in the Davis Bacon Section 7-102 to update current compliance requirements

Updated Definitions Section 1-201 with additional definitions. Replaced references to Executive Director with Chief Executive Officer and Contracts Administrator with Procurement and Contracts Coordinator. 
Updated Responsibility for Settlement of Contract Issues/Disputes Section 4-201(8) to include the responsible party for receiving disputes and the hierarchy for dispute resolution. Added Sections Signature 
Authority Section 2-104, Misconduct of Contractors/Suppliers/Vendors Section 3-110, Cone of Silence Section 3-114, Lobbying Section 3-115, Unauthorized Purchases Section 3-116, Non-Competitive 
(Emergency Procurements) Section 4-308, Material and Immaterial Deviations Part J Section 5-1001 and Procurement Card Article 15. Removed Emergency Procurements Article 8. Removed Reference Checks 
Section 5-502 for inclusion in supplement procedures.

a

Updated January 2025 5 of 533



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 1 of 93 

PROCUREMENT POLICY 

Effective May 18, 1995 

Revised March 2025 

PURCHASING POLICIES 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

34



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 2 of 93 

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS ........................................................................................................ 7 

PART A - PURPOSE AND APPLICATION .............................................................................................. 7  

1-101 7 

1-102 7 

PART B – DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................ 7 

1-201 7 

PART C - PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION ............................................... 14 

1-301 14 

ARTICLE 2 RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................................................................ 15  

2-101 15 

2-102 15 

2-103 16 

2-104 16 

ARTICLE 3 - ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING ................................................................................ 17 

3-101 17 

3-102 17 

3-103 19 

3-104 19 

3-105 19 

3-106 20 

3-107 20 

3-108 20 

3-109 20 

3-110 21 

3-111 21 

3-112 21 

3-113 22 

3-114 22 

3-115 22 

3-116 23 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT FORMATION................................................................................................... 24  

PART A – DOCUMENTS .......................................................................................................................... 24 

35



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 3 of 93 

4-101 24 

PART B – GENERAL PROCUREMENT STANDARDS ....................................................................... 24 

4-201 24 

4-202 26 

PART C - METHODS OF PROCUREMENT ......................................................................................... 29 

4-301 29 

4-302 29 

4-303 29 

4-304 30 

4-305 32 

4-306 33 

4-307 34 

4-308 37 

ARTICLE 5 - FORMAL SOLICITATION PROCESSES ........................................................................... 39 

PART A – BID SPECIFICATIONS .......................................................................................................... 39 

5-101 39 

5-102 39 

5-103 40 

PART B – PUBLIC NOTICE ..................................................................................................................... 40 

5-201 40 

PART C – RECEIPT OF SUBMITTALS ................................................................................................. 40  

5-301 40 

5-302 40 

PART D – OPENING OF SUBMITTALS ................................................................................................ 41 

5-401 41 

5-402 41 

5-403 41 

PART E – EVALUATION OF RFP .......................................................................................................... 41  

5-501 41 

5-502 42 

5-503 DISCUSSION AND NEGOTIATION WITH RESPONSIBLE PROPOSERS
AND REVISIONS TO PROPOSALS .................................................................................................. 42 

PART F – CORRECTION OR WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS ................................................................... 42 

5-601 42 

36



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 4 of 93 

PART G – NOTICE OF AWARD ............................................................................................................. 43  

5-701 43 

5-702 43 

PART H – CANCELLATION OF SOLICITATION .............................................................................. 43 

5-801 43 

PART I – RESPONSIBILITY OF BIDDERS .......................................................................................... 43 

5-901 43 

5-902 44 

PART J – IRREGULARITIES/DEVIATIONS .................................................................................. 44 

5-1001 44

ARTICLE 6 - COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS............................................................................................. 45 

6-101 45 

6.102 45 

6-103 45 

6-104 46 

ARTICLE 7 - PUBLIC WORKS REQUIREMENTS AND PREVAILING WAGE ................................. 47 

7-101 47 

7-102. 48 

ARTICLE 8 CONTRACTS ............................................................................................................................. 49  

8-101 49 

8-102 49 

8-103 49 

8-104 49 

8-105 49 

PART B - PURCHASE ORDERS ............................................................................................................. 50 

8-201 50 

8-202 50 

8-203 50 

PART C - COOPERATIVE PURCHASING ........................................................................................... 51 

8-301 51 

8-302 51 

PART D – CONTRACTS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THIS POLICY ............................................... 52 

8-401 52 

8-402 52 

37



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 5 of 93 

PART E - CONTRACT PROVISIONS AND CLAUSES ....................................................................... 52  

8-501 52 

8-502 52 

PART F – CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS ........................................................................................... 52 

8-601 52 

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION ....................................................................................... 54 

9-101 54 

9-103 54 

ARTICLE 10 - SKAGIT TRANSIT PROCUREMENT RECORDS .......................................................... 56 

10-101 56 

10-102 56 

10-103 56 

10-104 56 

ARTICLE 11 DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION ......................................................................................... 57  

11-101 57 

11-102 58 

11-103 58 

11-104 58 

ARTICLE 12 APPEALS AND REMEDIES .................................................................................................. 59  

PART A - BID PROTESTS ........................................................................................................................ 59  

12-101 59 

12-102 59 

12-103 60 

12-104 60 

PART B - CONTRACT CLAIMS ............................................................................................................. 60  

12-201 60 

12-202 60 

12-203 60 

12-204 60 

PART C - REMEDIES FOR SOLICITATION OR AWARDS IN VIOLATION OF 
LAW ............................................................................................................................................................. 61  

12-301 61 

12-302 61 

12-303 61 

38



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 6 of 93 

ARTICLE 13 - ASSISTANCE TO SMALL AND MINORITY AND WOMEN’S 
BUSINESS ENTERPRISES ............................................................................................................................ 62  

13-101 62 

ARTICLE 14 - DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES ............................................................. 62 

ARTICLE 15 - SKAGIT TRANSIT ISSUED PROCUREMENT CARD ................................................... 63 

EXHIBIT A ....................................................................................................................................................... 64  

EXHIBIT B REQUISITION REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 65 

EXHIBIT C - FTA THIRD PARTY CLAUSES ............................................................................................ 66 

 

39



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 7 of 93 

ARTICLE 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

PART A - PURPOSE AND APPLICATION 

1-101 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Policy is to provide for the fair and equitable treatment of all persons involved 
in public purchasing by Skagit Transit, to maximize the purchasing value of public funds in 
procurement, to provide safeguards for maintaining a procurement system of quality and integrity. 
This Policy shall be interpreted in accordance with Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Third 
Party Contracting Guidance, as contained in FTA Circular 4220.1F, and applicable Washington State 
law. 

1-102 APPLICATION 

This Policy applies to contracts for the procurement of supplies, services, and construction, entered 
into by Skagit Transit after the effective date of this Policy unless the parties agree to its application 
to contracts entered into prior to the effective date. It shall apply to every expenditure of public funds 
by the Agency for public purchasing irrespective of the source of the funds. When the procurement 
involves the expenditure of federal assistance grant funds, the procurement shall be conducted in 
accordance with all applicable mandatory federal laws and regulations, which are not reflected in 
this Policy. Nothing in this Policy and the procurement procedures shall prevent Skagit Transit from 
complying with the terms or conditions of any grant, gift or bequest which are otherwise consistent 
with law. 

PART B – DEFINITIONS 

1-201 DEFINITIONS 

1. A/E (Architect - Engineer) Professional Services. Services that require 
performance by a registered architect or engineer. Professional services of an 
architectural or engineering nature that are associated with research, planning, 
development, and design for construction, alteration, or repair as defined by 
the laws of the State of Washington and FAR 2.101. 

2. Addenda/Addendum. A written change, addition, alteration, correction or 
revision to a solicitation. 

3. Apparent Low Bidder. The label used for a bidder that has been determined 
to have provided the lowest price in a bid or quote, prior to determination of 
whether the bid is from a responsive and responsible bidder. 

4. Bidder. A person or entity who submits a bid in response to an Invitation for 
Bid (IFB), Invitation to Bid (ITB), Invitation to Tender (ITT), or other formal 
solicitation type where price is the primary factor in the evaluation process 
for award determination. 

40



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 8 of 93 

5. Blind Trust. An independently managed trust in which the employee-
beneficiary has no management rights and is not given notice of alterations
in, or other dispositions of the property subject to the trust.

6. Brand Name. A name, term, symbol, design, or any combination thereof used
in specifications to describe a product by a unique identifier specific to a
particular seller or manufacturer that distinguishes it from its competition.

7. Brand Name or Equivalent. A specification limited to one or more
manufacturers’ brand names, with identifying model or part numbers, used to
invoke certain quality, performance, and other salient characteristics needed
to meet the solicitation requirements and which provides for the submission
of equivalent products.

8. Business. Any corporation, partnership, individual, sole proprietorship, joint
stock company, joint venture or any other private legal entity.

9. Cardinal Change. A significant change in contract work that causes a major
deviation from the original purpose of the work, or the intended method of
achievement, or causes a revision of contract work so extensive, significant,
or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform a very
different work from that described in the original contract. Such changes are
breaches of contract and are impermissible.

10. Change Order. Work that is added to or deleted from the original contract
scope which may or may not alter the original contract amount, completion
time, or project outcome. All Change Orders directing a contractor to perform
the changed work are made pursuant to the contract provisions for such
changes and will be reduced to writing and signed by the Parties. Change
Orders may be issued with or without the consent of the Contractor.

11. Contract Modification. Any written alteration in specifications, delivery
point, frequency of delivery, period of performance, price, quantity, or other
provision of any contract accomplished by mutual action of the parties to the
contract.

12. Confidential Information. Information, such as trade secrets or test data,
which is made known only to those who need to know only because of a
compelling reason. Such information must be protected and is not a matter of
public knowledge as may be allowed by public policy or law. Such
information must be clearly identified and labeled by Bidders/Proposers.

13. Construction. The process of utilizing labor to build, alter, repair, improve, or
demolish any structure, building, or other public improvement to any public
real property. It does not include routine maintenance, repair, or operation
(MRO) of existing real property.

14. Contract.

a. An obligation, such as an accepted offer between competent parties
upon a legal consideration to do or abstain from doing some act. The

41



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 9 of 93 

essential elements of a contract are an offer and an acceptance of that 
offer, the capacity of the parties to contract, consideration to support 
the contract, a mutual identity of consent, legality of purpose, and 
definiteness. 

b. A mutually binding legal relationship or promise, enforceable by law,
obligating a Vendor to exchange goods or services for money or other
considerations by Skagit Transit. Agency contracts may be Purchase
Orders or some other written document resulting from a formal
solicitation, negotiation, etc.

15. Contract Administration. The functions performed after the parties have
signed a contract. Typical contract administration activities are goal-oriented,
aimed at ensuring the enforcement of the contract terms and conditions while
ensuring the achievement of the stated output and outcome of the contract.

16. Contractor. Any individual or business having a contract with Skagit Transit
to furnish goods, services, or construction for an agreed-upon price.

17. Cooperative Procurement. The action taken when requirements are combined
with two or more entities to obtain advantages of volume purchases.

18. Cost Analysis. The review and evaluation of cost data to arrive at costs
actually incurred or estimates of costs to be incurred. Cost analysis should be
employed when price analysis is impractical or does not allow a purchaser to
reach the conclusion that a price is fair and reasonable. It is most useful when
purchasing non-standard items and services.

19. Cost Data. Factual information concerning the cost of labor, material,
overhead, and other cost elements, which are expected to be incurred, or
which have been actually incurred by the contractor in performing the
Contract.

20. Cost Reimbursement Contract. A contract under which a contractor is
reimbursed for allowable and allocable incurred costs to the extent prescribed
in the contract, which may include fee and profit, if any. Suitable for use only
when the uncertainties involved in contract performance do not permit costs
to be estimated with sufficient accuracy to use any type of fixed price contract.

21. Design-Bid-Build (DBB) Procedure. The traditional delivery method for
construction projects in which design and construction are sequential and
contracted for separately with two contracts. For example, Agency
commissions an Architect and/or Engineer to prepare drawings and
specifications under a design services contract, and separately contracts for
the construction by engaging the services of a contractor through sealed
bidding or competitive negotiations to complete delivery of the project.

22. Design-Build (DB) Procedure. An alternate delivery method for construction
projects that combines the architectural, engineering, and construction
services required for a project into a single contractual agreement. May only
be used by a public body certified by the Washington State Capital Projects

42



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 10 of 93 

Advisory Review Board (CPARB) to use alternative public works contracting 
procedures. A construction project under which a public agency would enter 
into a contract with a seller, firm, or consortium of firms both to design and 
construct a public transportation system, or an operable segment of such 
system (i.e. public transportation facility that is the subject of the project), that 
conforms to specific performance criteria; and may include an option to 
finance, or operate for a period of time, the system or segment or any 
combination of designing, building, operating, or maintaining such system or 
segment. Note: Skagit Transit is not a “certified public body”. (Chapter 39.10 
RCW) 

23. Direct or Indirect Participation. Involvement through decision, approval, 
disapproval, recommendation, preparation of any part of a purchase request, 
influencing the content of any specification or procurement standard, 
rendering of advice, investigation, auditing, or in any other advisory capacity. 

24. Disadvantaged Business. A small business which is owned or controlled by a 
majority of persons, not limited to members of minority groups, who have 
been deprived of the opportunity to develop and maintain a competitive 
position in the economy because of social disadvantage. 

25. Economic Value. Any item greater than nominal intrinsic value, $50 from a 
single source in a calendar year, or a single gift from multiple sources with a 
value in excess of $50 or more in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes: 
loans, property interest, interest in a contract, employment or another 
arrangement involving a right to compensation; an option, irrespective of the 
conditions to the exercise of the option; and a promise or undertaking for the 
present or future delivery or procurement (RCW 42.52.010.20).  

26. Employee. An individual drawing a salary or wages from Skagit Transit, 
whether elected or not, and any non-compensated individual performing 
personal services for Skagit Transit or any department, agency, commission, 
council, board or any other entity established by the Skagit Transit Board of 
Directors.Facilities. Buildings, land, equipment, and any tangible capital 
asset, wherever located, whether owned or leased by Skagit Transit. 

27. Financial Interest. 

a. Ownership of any interest in, or involvement in any relationship that, 
or as a result of which, a person has recently received (within the past 
year), or will receive, a sum of money or something of value in excess 
of $1,000 per year, or its equivalent. 

b. Ownership of 2% of any property or business; or 

c. Holding any position in a business such as an officer, director, trustee, 
partner, employee, or the like, or holding any position of 
management. 

28. Firm Fixed Price (FFP) Contract. A type of contract providing for a price that 
is not subject to adjustment on the basis of the contractor’s cost experience in 

43



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 11 of 93 

performing the contract, but may include economic price adjustment 
provisions, incentives, or both. FFP contracts place maximum risk and full 
responsibility on the Contractor for all costs and resulting profit or loss. They 
provide maximum incentive for the Contractor to control costs, perform 
effectively, and impose a minimum administrative burden upon the 
contracting parties unless changes are issued or unforeseen events occur 
during performance. 

29. Force Account. Skagit Transit’s own labor forces and equipment used to 
perform project work. Such work is not subject to FTA Third Party 
Contracting guidance. 

30. Gift or Gratuity. Anything of economic value for which no consideration is 
given except for those items listed in RCW 42.52.010.10. 

31. Grant. A financial allocation provided by one entity, such as the federal 
government, to another entity to achieve a specific objective. This transfer is 
governed by the conditions specified in the grant agreement and the relevant 
authorizing legislation. 

32. Grantee. An entity, an agency that receives a grant of monetary funds from a 
grantor. This means Skagit Transit in its entirety, even if only a particular 
component of the entity is designated in the assistance award document, and 
includes any sub-grantee of Skagit Transit. Skagit Transit is responsible for 
assuring that its sub-grantees comply with the requirements and standards of 
the awarding entity, and that sub-grantees are aware of requirements imposed 
upon them by federal statutes and regulations. 

33. Grantor. An entity that provides grant funds to achieve a specific objective. 

34. Immediate Family. For purposes of the Policy, “immediate family” means: an 
individual’s spouse or domestic partner, and child, stepchild, grandchild, 
parent, stepparent, grandparent, brother, half-brother, sister, or half-sister of 
the individual and the spouse or domestic partner of any such person and a 
child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, brother, half- 
brother, sister, or half-sister of the individual’s spouse or domestic partner and 
the spouse or domestic partner of any such person. [RCW 42.17A.005(26)] 

35. Invitation For Bids (IFB). All documents, whether attached or incorporated 
by reference, utilized for soliciting sealed bids. 

36. Joint Procurement. This method of contracting means two or more purchasers 
agree from the outset to use a single solicitation document and enter into a 
single contract with a vendor for delivery of property or services in a fixed 
quantity, even if expressed as a total minimum and total maximum. Unlike a 
State or local government purchasing schedules or contracts, a joint 
procurement is not drafted for the purpose of accommodating the needs of 
other parties that may later choose to participate in the benefits of that 
contract. 

44



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 12 of 93 

37. Legal Counsel. The attorney or attorneys designated by the Authority to
provide legal services to Skagit Transit.

38. Life Cycle Costing. The total cost of an item of work or equipment that is
comprised of initial cost, operating costs through the normal or expected life
of the item, and salvage or resale price at the end of that normal or expected
life.

39. Lowest Responsive and Responsible Bidder. The Bidder who fully complied
with all of the bid requirements and whose past performance, reputation, and
financial capability is deemed acceptable, and who has offered the most
advantageous pricing or cost benefit, based on the criteria stipulated in the Bid
Documents.

40. Notification. Notification shall be deemed sufficient once communication is
posted by U.S. mail or via facsimile.

41. Organizational Conflict of Interest. A situation in which, because of other
activities, relationships, or contracts, a contractor or subcontractor is unable,
or potentially unable, to render impartial assistance or advice to Skagit
Transit; a contractor’s objectivity in performing the contract work is or might
be otherwise impaired; or a contractor has an unfair competitive advantage.

42. Persons. Any business, individual union, committee, club, other organization,
or group of individuals.

43. Piggybacking. This procurement method involves using an Interlocal
Agreement to leverage a competitive selection process that another agency
has already conducted. Utilizing the other agency's agreement is determined
to be in the best interest of Skagit.

44. Price Analysis. The process of examining and evaluating readily available
price information in the marketplace without performing a cost analysis; that
is, without evaluating the separate cost elements and profit included in an
Offeror’s price. The end result of price analysis is to ensure fair and
reasonable pricing of a product or service. Price analysis may include a variety
of techniques such as comparing proposed prices with prices of same or
similar items obtained through market research.

45. Pricing Data. Factual information concerning prices for goods and services
substantially similar to those being procured; can include offered or proposed
selling prices, historical selling prices, and current selling prices, and is
relevant to both prime and subcontract prices.

46. Procurement. Purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise acquiring any
supplies, services, or construction; includes all functions that pertain to the
acquisition, including description of requirements, selection, and solicitation
of sources, preparation and award of contract, and all phases of contract
administration. The combined functions of purchasing, inventory control,
traffic and transportation, receiving, inspection, storekeeping, salvage, and
disposal operations.

45



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 13 of 93 

47. Procurement Card (P-Card). A payment method whereby internal customers
(Requestors) are empowered to deal directly with suppliers for purchases
using a credit card issued by a bank or major credit card provider. A pre-
established credit limit is established for each card issued. The cards enable
e-Procurement and facilitate online ordering, generally from pre-approved
Vendors under blanket contracts.

48. Proposer. A person or entity who submits a proposal in response to a Request
for Proposals (RFP).

49. Purchaser. A buyer agent who purchases goods, services, and construction on
behalf of Skagit Transit to include contract formation by Purchase Order, bid,
or formal contract; and staff acquiring goods and services on behalf of Skagit
Transit within their spending limits and realm of authority as delegated by the
Chief Executive Officer.

50. Qualified Products List (QPL). An approved list of products identified by
manufacturers’ names and model numbers which, prior to competitive
solicitation, Skagit Transit has determined are the only items that will meet
the minimum specification requirements. Such products are used when
quality is such a critical factor and testing so lengthy or expensive that the
entity wants to stay with proven products. The list is prepared by testing
products, either in the lab or in daily use. Items may be added to the list by
the supplier demonstrating their quality by meeting specifications that have
been defined by Skagit Transit.

51. Request for Proposals (RFP). The document used to solicit proposals from
potential Proposers for goods and services whereby price is not a primary
evaluation factor; provides for the negotiation of all terms (except for any
federal requirements), including price, prior to contract award. May include a
provision for the negotiation of Best and Final Offers (BAFO). May be a
single-step or multi-step process.

52. Responsible Bidder or Proposer. A business entity or individual who has the
capability in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements, and the
tenacity, perseverance, experience, integrity, reliability, capacity, facilities,
equipment and credit which will assure good faith performance.

53. Responsive Bidder or Proposer. A contractor, business entity, or individual
who has submitted a bid or proposal that fully conforms in all material
respects to the IFB or RFP and all of its requirements, including all form and
substance.

54. Revenue Contract. Any third-party contract whose primary purpose is to
generate revenues in connection with a transit related activity or to create
business opportunities utilizing an FTA- funded asset. (i.e. advertising,
concessions, land leasing, and use of right of ways). Excludes supplies or
services contracts, management and paratransit contracts, and disposal of
assets agreements.

46



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 14 of 93 

55. Services. The furnishing of labor, time or effort by a contractor, not involving
the delivery of a specific product other than reports which are merely
incidental to the required performance. This term shall not include
employment agreements or collective bargaining agreements.

56. Small Business. An independently owned firm, corporation, or establishment,
having a small number of employees, low volume of sales, small amount of
assets, and limited impact on the market.

57. Specification. A precise description of the physical characteristics, quality, or
desired outcomes of a commodity to be procured, which a supplier must be
able to produce or deliver to be considered for award of a contract. It may
include a description of any requirement for inspecting, testing, or preparing
a supply, service, or construction item for delivery.

58. Supplies. All tangible items purchased or consumed by Skagit Transit.

59. Third Party Contract. Any Purchase Order or contract awarded by a grantee
(Skagit Transit) to a vendor or contractor.

60. Time and Materials Contract. A contract that provides for contractor payment
based on a direct labor, hourly rate that includes benefits, payroll taxes,
overhead, and contractor profit and for the cost of materials and equipment
used in performance of the contract. Grantees’ use of this type of contract is
restricted and may only be used after determining that no other contract type
is suitable, and if the Contract specifies a ceiling price that the Contractor may
not exceed except at its own risk.

61. Value Engineering (VE). A technique by which contractors may; 1) voluntarily suggest
methods for performing more economically and may share in any resulting savings, or 2)
be required to establish a program or identify and submit methods for performing more
economically.

PART C - PUBLIC ACCESS TO 
PROCUREMENT INFORMATION 

1-301 PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION

Procurement information shall be public record to the extent provided under the State Public 
Disclosure Act, RCW 42.56, and shall be available to the public as provided therein. 

47



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 15 of 93 

ARTICLE 2 RESPONSIBILITIES 

2-101 GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. The Chief Executive Officer (C.E.O.) has the final responsibility for the 
procurement of all goods and services, the processing and sale of goods and 
services, and to either provide procurement services for the Agency or give 
functional directions to a delegated designee to perform such services. 

2. Other than Procurement personnel, only those persons delegated by the 
C.E.O. are authorized to commit Skagit Transit for materials, equipment, 
supplies and services (i.e. emergency purchases). 

3. All negotiations are to be handled by the appropriate Procurement personnel 
within their delegated authority. 

4. Personnel purchasing products are to seek to obtain and purchase all goods at 
the lowest possible total end-use cost, considering the guidelines of prices, 
services, quality and delivery, and in accordance with sound governmental 
best procurement practices. 

5. Vendor selection and products purchased are to meet the basic policies and 
standard practices of Skagit Transit 

6. All employees involved in purchasing activities will work to maintain and 
enhance Skagit Transit’s image by their personal conduct and methods of 
doing business. 

7. When vendor sales representatives make personal sales calls, they are to be 
directed to call on Procurement or the delegated purchaser at that time. 

8. Requestors will return rejected goods to suppliers. 

9. Each Department Manager is responsible for ensuring their department is 
adhering to the Agency’s Procurement Policy and related procedures. 

2-102 CENTRALIZED PURCHASING 

The organizational structure of Skagit Transit’s procurement functions is centralized whereby the 
rights, powers, duties, and authority relating to purchasing are vested in the Procurement and 
Contracts Coordinator (PCC) and other Procurement personnel under the Administration Department 
(collectively referred to as “Purchasing” or “Procurement”); however, final authority resides with 
the C.E.O. (See 2-101 (1) above). Example: Individuals are permitted to release materials from 
blanket orders that have been issued by the Purchasing or they may use an Agency P-Card 
(procurement card) to make individual purchases for their department. 

Centralized purchasing further ensures that all applicable federal, State, and local laws, rules and 
regulations pertaining to each procurement are complied with and included in all solicitations, as 
necessary. Any purchase exceeding the established micro-purchase threshold must go through 
Procurement. 

48



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 16 of 93 

The PCC and the Manager of Finance and Administration establish, monitor, and oversee Agency 
procurement policies and procedures. 

2-103 GRANT FUNDING 

In addition to the requirements of this Policy and any applicable Washington State laws or 
regulations, a procurement that includes any amount of federal, State, or other grant funding shall 
conform to the applicable federal, State, or granting agency laws and regulations, whichever is more 
restrictive. 

2-104 SIGNATURE AUTHORITY 

No Department or employee, except as designated by the CEO, shall have the authority to sign 
Contracts, agreements, or any other form of commitment on behalf of Skagit Transit, regardless of 
dollar value. Violators of this policy may be personally liable for payment of such Contracts and 
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

  

49



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 17 of 93 

ARTICLE 3 - ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING 

3-101 ANTITRUST LAWS

The policy of Skagit Transit is to comply with the letter and spirit of all laws applicable to Skagit 
Transit business and interest. 

Violations of the anti-trust laws in any area may have far-reaching effects, causing substantial injury 
to Skagit Transit in lengthy and expensive litigation, treble damage liability and injunctions or orders 
affecting property and/or business. An employee who participates in a violation is individually and 
personally subject to fine or imprisonment. 

Skagit Transit's compliance with these laws depends on the conduct of its employees occupying 
positions of responsibility. 

Each employee responsible for Skagit Transit conduct or practices that may involve the application 
of the antitrust laws should consult and be guided by the advice of legal counsel. 

If an employee of Skagit Transit who has acted in good faith for Skagit Transit never-the-less 
becomes involved in an antitrust proceeding, Skagit Transit will be prepared to assist the employee 
to the extent possible, including retention of counsel for defense in the case; however, if an employee 
so acting in good faith is convicted of violating the law there are limitations, as matter of laws, to 
which Skagit Transit can go to save the employee from punishment imposed as a consequence of 
conviction. 

Each employee is obligated in his area of responsibility to adhere to the above policy. The purchasing 
employee is not expected to have the knowledge of a lawyer, but he/she is expected to be guided by 
Skagit Transit's past practices and policies and by his/her own common sense. When he/she is faced 
with a new problem with unknown legal implications, he/she is expected to refer to the Chief 
Executive Officer for advice and handling. 

ROBINSON-PATMAN ACT 

It is also policy to purchase goods and services on the basis of price, quality, terms and services, 
according to sound governmental purchasing practices. 

Personnel performing a purchasing function shall not demand or negotiate a special pricing structure 
from a vendor that the vendor is not voluntarily willing to offer to other customers under similar 
conditions and terms. 

Legal counsel, through the Chief Executive Officer, should be consulted prior to taking action when 
in doubt about application of this Policy to any activity. 

3-102 ETHICAL PRACTICES

Skagit Transit’s suppliers, personnel and services are a natural extension of its own resources. It is 
the responsibility of all employees to work to maintain the good name of Skagit Transit to develop 
and maintain good relations between Skagit Transit and its suppliers and to keep in mind that 
personal contacts form much of the basis for the supplier's opinion of Skagit Transit. In personal 

50



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 18 of 93 

contacts with the suppliers, each employee represents Skagit Transit and should reflect and present 
the interests and needs of all departments, setting aside, if need be, a more parochial point of view. 

51



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 19 of 93 

3-103 CRIMINAL PENALTIES 

To the extent that violations of the ethical standards of conduct set forth in this Article constitute 
violations of the State Criminal Code they shall be punishable as provided therein. Such penalties 
shall be in addition to any civil sanctions set forth in this Article. Criminal, civil, and administrative 
sanctions against employees or non-employees, which are in existence on the effective date of this 
Policy, shall not be impaired. 

3-104 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, REAL OR APPARENT 

Also, refer to Skagit Transit’s Ethics Policy, which discusses this topic more fully. 

Use of one’s position in a manner that constitutes a real or apparent personal or organizational 
conflict of interest or personal gain is strictly prohibited. FTA Cir 9030.1E 1/26/2014 

All officers, employees, board members, or agents of Skagit Transit shall avoid both real conflicts 
of interest and the appearance of conflicting interests in the exercise of their Skagit Transit duties. If 
an employee finds a situation in which the employee's actions on behalf of Skagit Transit might 
benefit the employee or any member of the employee's immediate family, it is the employee's 
responsibility to bring the potential conflict of interest to the attention of their supervisor or 
Department Manager immediately. 

An individual or any member of any individual’s immediate family who holds a financial interest in 
a disclosed blind trust shall not be deemed to have a conflict of interest with regard to matters 
pertaining to that financial interest. 

Skagit Transit will evaluate procurements to determine if there is an organizational conflict of 
interest. If one exists, Skagit Transit may prohibit the Contractor and any of its subcontractors from 
participating in the procurement or any future procurements. 

3-105 GIFTS AND GRATUITIES 

It shall be unethical for any officer, employee, board member, or agent of Skagit Transit, or their 
immediate family member, to either solicit or accept gratuities, favors, or anything of *economic 
value from any present or potential contractor or subcontractor. No gift, favors, or gratuities other 
than an item of nominal economic value, either solicited or non-solicited, shall be accepted or 
received by any officer, employee, board member, or agent of Skagit Transit from any supplier, 
vendor, customer, client, or any individual or organization doing or seeking business with Skagit 
Transit. 

*Economic Value. Any item greater than nominal intrinsic value, $50 from a single source in a 
calendar year, or a single gift from multiple sources with a value in excess of $50 or more in addition 
to its ordinary meaning, includes: loans, property interest, interest in a contract, employment or 
another arrangement involving a right to compensation; an option, irrespective of the conditions to 
the exercise of the option; and a promise or undertaking for the preset or future delivery or 
procurement (RCW 42.52.010.20). The value of gifts given to an officer’s, employee’s, board 
member’s or agent’s family member or guest shall be attributed to the official, employee, board 
member, or agent for the purpose of determining whether the limit has been exceeded (RCW 
42.52.150.1). 

52



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 20 of 93 

Any employee who is offered or receives a payment or gift of economic value shall refuse it or return 
it to the giver in a tactful and dignified manner, advising the giver of Skagit Transit's policy 
prohibiting its acceptance. 

Loans are not to be accepted from an individual or organization having prospective dealings with 
Skagit Transit unless such individual or organization is in the business of making loans to individuals. 

No employee shall permit any influence which could conflict with the best interest of Skagit Transit, 
or prejudice Skagit Transit's reputation. 

Association with supplier representatives at luncheons, dinners, or business organization meetings 
are helpful in establishing better business understanding, and is neither questionable nor unethical, 
provided the Buyer keeps himself free of obligations. To ensure this, Skagit Transit personnel are 
expected to assume their share of the expense of such meetings, luncheons, or dinners. 

The responsibility for adherence to this Policy is a joint one. Individuals who represent Skagit Transit 
must be beyond challenge or reproach in every business transaction, and not allow themselves to be 
put into a position where their judgments can be influenced. 

Any employee not complying with this Policy shall be subjected to appropriate disciplinary action. 

3-106 PROHIBITION AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 

It shall be unethical for a person to be retained, or to retain a person, to solicit or secure a Skagit 
Transit contract upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or 
contingent fee, except for retention of bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial 
selling agencies for the purpose of securing business. 

3-107 CONTEMPORANEOUS EMPLOYMENT PROHIBITED 

It shall be unethical for any employee who is participating directly, or indirectly, in the procurement 
process to become, or to be, the employee of any person contracting with the governmental body by 
which the employee is employed. 

3-108 WAIVERS FROM CONTEMPORANEOUS 
EMPLOYMENT PROHIBITION AND OTHER CONFLICT 
OF INTEREST 

Skagit Transit may grant a waiver from the employee conflict of interest provision (Article 3-104) 
or the contemporaneous employment provision (Article 3-107) upon making a written determination 
that: 

1. The contemporaneous employment or financial interest of the Skagit Transit 
employee has been publicly disclosed; 

2. The Skagit Transit employee will be able to perform his or her procurement 
function without actual or apparent bias or favoritism; and 

3. The award will be in the best interests of Skagit Transit. 

3-109 USE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

53



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 21 of 93 

It shall be unethical for any employee or former employee knowingly to use confidential information 
for actual or anticipated personal gain, or for the actual or anticipated personal gain for any other 
person. 

3-110 MISCONDUCT OF CONTRACTORS / SUPPLIERS /
VENDORS 

Contractors, suppliers, and vendors doing business or seeking to do business with Skagit Transit are 
expected to demonstrate ethical conduct. Employees must report actual or suspected misconduct or 
unethical behavior by a contractor, supplier, or vendor to the CEO. Misconduct and unethical 
behavior may include but is not limited to: 

1. Undermining the procurement process

2. Dishonest behavior, untimely performance, or non-compliance with terms of
their Contract

3. Collusion or other illegal agreement or action between bidders responding to
a Skagit Transit solicitation; or

4. Circumventing the solicitation process by asking Skagit Transit employees,
consultants, or other contractors to provide information to which the
contractor, supplier, or vendor is not entitled to obtain a competitive
advantage.

3-111 SANCTIONS

Employees. The Skagit Transit Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may impose any 
one or more of the following sanctions on an employee for violations of the ethical standards in this 
part: 

1. Oral or written warnings or reprimands;

2. Suspension with or without pay; or

3. Termination of employment

Non-employees. The Skagit Transit Board of Directors may impose any one or more of the following 
sanctions on a non-employee for violations of the ethical standards: 

4. Written warnings or reprimands

5. Termination of contract; or

6. Debarment or suspension as provided in Article 11

3-112 RECOVERY OF VALUE TRANSFERRED OR RECEIVED
IN BREACH FOR ETHICAL STANDARDS 

General Provisions. The value of anything transferred or received in breach of the ethical standards 
of these procedures by an employee or a non-employee may be recovered from both employee and 
non-employee. 

54



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 22 of 93 

Recovery of Kickbacks by Skagit Transit. Upon a showing that a subcontractor made a kickback to 
a prime contractor or a higher tier subcontractor in connection with the award of a subcontract or 
order thereunder, it shall be conclusively presumed that the amount thereof was included in the price 
of the subcontract or order and ultimately borne by Skagit Transit and will be recoverable hereunder 
from the recipient. In addition, that amount may also be recovered from the subcontractor making 
such kickbacks. Recovery from one offending party shall not preclude recovery from other offending 
parties. 

3-113 CONFIDENTIALITY

Although Skagit Transit is a public agency, there are still circumstances under which documents are 
not subject to the legal requirements of public disclosure. 

There are steps during the purchasing transaction that are of a confidential nature, especially with 
regard to vendors and documentation that they consider to be proprietary. 

It is considered unethical, as well as damaging, to allow propriety information about one vendor's 
quotation or bid status to pass to another vendor. Overheard phone calls, documents on desks during 
vendor interviews, and conversations between buyers within hearing of vendors in other offices are 
less direct methods of sharing proprietary information. Even acknowledging to a bidder that there 
are other bidders is damaging. An awareness of this sort of situation should be created so that is may 
be avoided. 

All procurement files are to be maintained in an up-to-date and confidential manner by the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator. Access to these files and any other documentation found 
within the procurement files shall be restricted to those authorized by the Manager of Finance and 
Administration. 

3-114 CONE OF SILENCE

The Cone of Silence is a prohibition on direct and indirect communications relating to a competitive 
solicitation or advertised solicitation that commences upon the issuance of the solicitation document. 
Evaluation Committee members shall not communicate, verbally or in writing, with other committee 
members, staff, or the public regarding an active solicitation except during Evaluation Committee 
meetings. 

Bidders, respondents, lobbyists, or consultants shall not contact any Skagit Transit employee, or 
Skagit Transit official, or any member of the Evaluation Committee concerning an active Solicitation 
during the Cone of Silence Period. All questions and inquiries concerning procedural matters shall 
be directed to the designated Procurement contact as identified within the active solicitation only. 
The contact person must not be a member of the Evaluation Committee. The Cone of Silence period 
ends upon the final execution of the Contract or when the solicitation has been canceled. 

3-115 LOBBYING LIMITATIONS

Departments must preserve the integrity of Skagit Transit’s procurement decision-making process 
and avoid even the appearance of impropriety. To achieve this goal: 

1. Entities that engage in efforts to influence Skagit Transit officials must report
their lobbying efforts to the public.

55



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 23 of 93 

2. Skagit Transit officials must disclose certain gifts from lobbying entities.

3. Entities that engage in efforts to influence shall honor the Cone of Silence
period by avoiding contact with Skagit Transit employees, officials, or
members of the Evaluation Committee during an active solicitation.

3-116 UNAUTHORIZED PURCHASES

Except as provided in the policy, it shall be a violation for any Skagit Transit officer, employee, or 
other persons, to knowingly and willingly order the purchase of any goods or make any Contract for 
goods or services, sell, trade, or dispose of Skagit Transit material in the name of or on behalf of 
Skagit Transit, except as provided by policy. Skagit Transit shall not be bound by any purchase order 
or Contract made contrary to policy.  

56



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 24 of 93 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT FORMATION 

PART A – DOCUMENTS 

4-101 DOCUMENTS 

Contracting methods commonly require written documents covering some of the steps of a 
transaction. Although not all of the documents listed below are used in a single transaction, they 
represent the most common types of contracts or information incorporated into the Contract 
Documents: 

1. Purchase Orders 

2. Formal Contracts 

3. Invitation for Bids 

4. Requests for Proposals 

5. Change Orders 

6. Amendments 

7. Addenda 

PART B – GENERAL PROCUREMENT 
STANDARDS 

4-201 GENERAL PROCUREMENT STANDARDS APPLICABLE 
TO THIRD-PARTY PROCUREMENTS 

1. Contract Administration System. Personnel responsible for procurement of 
goods and services on behalf of Skagit Transit will ensure contractors perform 
in accordance with the terms, conditions, and specifications of their contracts 
or purchase orders. 

2. Ensuring Most Efficient and Economic Purchase. Skagit Transit procedures 
shall provide for a review of proposed procurements to avoid purchase of 
unnecessary or duplicative items. Consideration should be given to 
consolidating or breaking out procurements to obtain a more economical 
purchase. Where appropriate, an analysis will be made of lease versus 
purchase alternatives and any other appropriate analysis to determine the most 
economical approach. 

3. Intergovernmental Procurement Agreements. To foster greater economy and 
efficiency, Skagit Transit may enter into State and local intergovernmental 
agreements for procurement or use of common goods and services. The 
requirements and standards of FTA Circular 4220.1G apply to procurements 
entered into under such agreements using FTA funds. 

57



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 25 of 93 

4. Excess and Surplus Property Usage. Skagit Transit is encouraged to use 
federal excess and surplus property in lieu of purchasing new equipment and 
property, whenever such use is feasible and reduces project costs. 

5. Use of Value Engineering in Construction Contracts. Skagit Transit may use 
value-engineering clauses in contracts for construction projects of sufficient 
size to offer reasonable opportunities for cost reductions. Value Engineering 
is a systematic and creative analysis of each contract item or task to ensure 
that its essential function is provided at the overall lowest cost. 

6. Awards to Responsible Contractors. Skagit Transit shall make awards only to 
responsible contractors possessing the ability to perform successfully under 
the terms and conditions of a proposed procurement. Consideration shall be 
given to such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, 
record of past performance, and financial and technical resources. 

7. Written Record of Procurement History. Skagit Transit shall maintain records 
detailing the history of procurement. At a minimum, these records shall 
include: 

a. The rationale for the method of procurement; 

b. Selection of contract type; 

c. Reasons for contractor selection or rejection; and 

d. The basis for the contract price 

8. Responsibility for Settlement of Contract Issues/Disputes. Skagit Transit 
alone will be responsible in accordance with good administrative practice and 
sound business judgment for the settlement of all contractual and 
administrative issues arising out of procurements. These issues include but 
are not limited to, source evaluation, protests, disputes, and claims. These 
standards do not relieve Skagit Transit of any contractual responsibility under 
its contracts. Any issues or disputes should be made in writing to the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator, who will escalate through the 
Director of Finance to the Chief Executive Officer. 

9. Written Protest Procedures. All disputes relating to Skagit Transit’s 
procurements will be addressed as documented in Article 12 – Appeals and 
Remedies. In all instances where a protest is received in regard to a contract 
required to comply with FTA Circular 4220.1G, as may be amended, Skagit 
Transit is required to disclose information regarding the protest to FTA. All 
protest decisions must be in writing. Written protests should be made to the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator, who will escalate through the 
Director of Finance to the Chief Executive Officer. A protester must exhaust 
all administrative remedies with Skagit Transit before pursuing a protest with 
FTA. FTA protest reviews will be limited to 1) Skagit Transit’s failure to 
have, or to have followed, its protest procedures, or its failure to review a 
complaint or protest; or 2) violations of federal law or regulation. An appeal 
to FTA must be received by the cognizant FTA regional or Headquarters 

58



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 26 of 93 

Office within 5 business days of the date the Protester knew or should have 
known of an adverse decision by Skagit Transit or other bases of appeal to 
FTA. Violations of federal law or regulation will be handled by the complaint 
process stated within that law or regulation. Violations of State or local law 
or regulations will be under the jurisdiction of the State or local authorities. 

10. Contract Period of Performance Limitation. Skagit Transit will not enter into
any contract for rolling stock or replacement parts with a period of
performance exceeding 5 years inclusive of options without prior written FTA
approval. Skagit Transit will be judicious in establishing and extending
contract terms for all other types of contracts. Good procurement practice
dictates that contracts will not be entered into for longer than minimally
necessary to accomplish the purpose of the contract.

11. Contract Options. Skagit Transit may include options in contracts. An option
is a unilateral right in a contract by which, for a specified time, Skagit Transit
may elect to purchase additional equipment, supplies, or services called for
by the contract, or may elect to extend the term of the contract. If Skagit
Transit chooses to use options, the requirements below apply:

a. Evaluation of Options. The option quantities or periods contained in
the contractor's bid or offer must be evaluated in order to determine
contract award. When options have not been evaluated as part of the
award, the exercise of such options will be considered a sole source
procurement.

b. Exercise of Options. Skagit Transit must ensure that the exercise of
an option is in accordance with the terms and conditions of the option
stated in the initial contract awarded. An option may not be exercised
unless Skagit Transit has determined that the option price is better
than prices available in the market or that the option is the more
advantageous offer at the time the option is exercised.

4-202 COMPETITION

1. Full and Open Competition. All procurement transactions will be conducted
in a manner providing full and open competition. Some of the situations
considered to be restrictive of competition include, but are not limited to:

a. Unreasonable requirements placed on firms in order for them to
qualify to do business;

b. Unnecessary experience and excessive bonding requirements;

c. Non-competitive pricing practices between firms or between
affiliated companies;

d. Non-competitive awards to any person or firm on retainer contracts;

e. Organizational conflicts of interest. An organizational conflict of
interest means that because of other activities, relationships, or

59



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 27 of 93 

contracts, a contractor is unable, or potentially unable, to render 
impartial assistance or advice to the grantee; a contractor's objectivity 
in performing the contract work is or might be otherwise impaired; or 
a contractor has an unfair competitive advantage; 

f. The specification of only a "brand name" product without listing its
salient characteristics and not allowing an "equal" or “alternate”
product to be offered; and

g. Any arbitrary action in the procurement process.

2. Prohibition against Geographic Preferences. Skagit Transit will not use
statutorily or administratively imposed in-State or local geographical
preferences in the evaluation of bids or proposals, except in those cases where
applicable federal statutes expressly mandate or encourage geographic
preference. This does not preempt State licensing laws; however, geographic
location may be a selection criterion in procurements for Architectural and
Engineering (A&E) services only, provided its application leaves an
appropriate number of qualified firms, given the nature and size of the project,
to compete for the contract.

3. Written Procurement Selection Procedures. All solicitations shall:

a. Incorporate a clear and accurate description of the technical
requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured. Such
description shall not, in competitive procurements, contain features
that unduly restrict competition. The description may include a
statement of the qualitative nature of the material, product, or service
to be procured and when necessary, shall set forth those minimum
essential characteristics and standards to which it must conform if it
is to satisfy its intended use.

Detailed product specifications should be avoided if at all possible. When it is 
impractical or uneconomical to make a clear and accurate description of the 
technical requirements, a "brand name or equal" description may be used. 
A grantee shall use a "brand name or equal" description only when it cannot 
provide an adequate specification or more detailed description, without 
performing an inspection and analysis, in time for the acquisition under 
consideration. Further, a grantee wishing to use "brand name or equal" must 
carefully identify its minimum needs and clearly set forth those salient 
physical and functional characteristics of the brand name product in the 
solicitation. 

b. Identify all requirements that offerors must fulfill and all other factors
to be used in evaluating bids or proposals.

4. Pre-qualification Criteria. The act of pre-qualifying vendors or contractors to
meet certain criteria before being permitted to bid on a project is prohibited
by Washington State law for all public agencies except the following:
WSDOT (State Dept. of Transportation) for highway work – RCW 47.28.070;
Public Utility Districts (PUDs) for electrical work – RCW 54.04.085; and

60



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 28 of 93 

Cities or towns owning an electrical utility for electrical work – RCW 
35.92.350. The Legislature has provided public agencies with the ability to 
help ensure that qualified contractors work on public works projects through 
the use of Supplemental Bidder Responsibility Criteria, as authorized in RCW 
39.04.350(2). 

Skagit Transit shall maintain current lists of persons, firms, or products to be used 
in acquiring goods and services and include enough sources to ensure maximum 
full and open competition (i.e. Vendor Bid List, Planholders’ List, etc.). Also, 
Skagit Transit will not preclude potential bidders/proposers from requesting to be 
placed on any such lists during the solicitation period, which is from issuance of 
the solicitation to its closing date. 

61



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 29 of 93 

PART C - METHODS OF PROCUREMENT 

The following policies apply to all methods of procurement: 

4-301 PROCUREMENT SPLITTING PROHIBITED

5. A purchase must not be divided or reduced (split) to avoid exceeding a
procurement threshold that would normally require a competitive process. For
example, if purchasing ten similar items from a vendor within a year, the
purchase must not be split (made through more than one PO) to keep each
purchase under a certain dollar amount.

6. During the annual budget process, each Department Manager will define for
their department any like/kind items for Procurement’s determination of the
appropriate procurement method. This approach will be considered in all
Agency procurements to ensure purchases are not split to circumvent the
competitive process. In defining “like/kind” items, Managers shall consider
the purchase of multiple periodic orders and purchases of similar items of
varying sizes, etc. In all cases, if a Manager determines that purchases of like-
kind items will exceed the micro- purchase threshold, then such acquisitions
must be turned over to Procurement.

4-302 PROCUREMENT BY MICRO-PURCHASE – UP TO $50,000

1. When determining if this procurement method applies, the entire purchase is
considered regardless of what each single item costs, including freight, tax,
and other costs to acquire the goods or services, and totaled to arrive at a final
purchase price or contract amount. For example, the total cost or estimate is
less than $50,000.

2. Exempt from competitive quotations; however, reasonable judgment must be
made in seeking the lowest possible total end-use price, considering quality,
delivery, etc. and providing the price can be determined to be fair and
reasonable. This determination must be documented on the Requisition.

3. Micro-purchases may be equitably distributed (rotated) among a list of willing
Vendors. Written vendor rotation procedures may be developed with a
distribution list of vendors for each department utilizing this procedure, or a
binder of various lists kept by Procurement to assign the next available vendor
on a particular list to the Requestor. All such lists shall be maintained by
Procurement.

4. Exempt from FTA requirements except when the purchase is for federally
funded construction exceeding $3,000 or federally funded goods/services
costing up $10,000, as mandated by federal law.

4-303 PROCUREMENT BY SMALL ACQUISITION – 50,001 TO
$150,000 

1. When Procurement determines if this method applies, the entire purchase is
considered regardless of what each single item costs, including freight, tax,

62



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 30 of 93 

and other costs to acquire the goods or services, and totaled to arrive at a final 
purchase price or contract amount. For example, the total cost or estimate is 
valued at more than the micro-purchase threshold $50,000 but less than the 
Agency’s formal process threshold $150,000 

2. At least 3 written quotations from a number of qualified sources are required; 
award to lowest responsive and responsible bidder. Quotes may be obtained 
by phone, internet research, through an informal Request For Quotes (RFQ), 
or “mini-bid” process and a tabulation of quotes/bids compiled, as necessary. 
Quotes or tabulation results must be attached to the Requisition and included 
with the PO paperwork. 

3. Federal clauses (mandatory and/or situational) apply if utilizing FTA funds. 

4-304 PROCUREMENT BY FORMAL PROCESSES – $150,000 
AND OVER 

1. Competitive Sealed Bid – Invitation For Bids (IFB). Used when a contract is 
estimated to cost more than $150,000 and the only evaluation factor is price alone. 
Bids are publicly solicited and, in order for sealed bids to be feasible, the following 
conditions should exist: 

a. A complete, adequate, precise, and realistic specification or purchase 
description is available; 

b. There is a reasonable expectation of receiving more than one sealed 
bid; 

c. The award can be made principally on the basis of price and price-
related factors listed in the solicitation including, but not limited to: 
transportation costs, life cycle costs and discounts expected to be 
taken; 

d. No discussion or negotiation with bidders is necessary. 

The following requirements apply to procurement by competitive sealed bids: 

1. Unless the Small Works Roster process is used, the IFB will be publicly 
advertised in the official newspaper, or a newspaper of general circulation, at 
least once and at least 14 Calendar Days prior to the Bid Due Date. 

2. Bids shall be solicited from an adequate number of known sources, providing 
them sufficient time to prepare bids prior to the date set for opening the bids; 

3. The IFB, which will include any specifications and pertinent attachments, 
shall adequately define the items or services sought in order for the bidder to 
properly respond; 

4. Sufficient time is allowed to permit the solicitation, submission, and 
evaluation of sealed bids; 

5. All bids will be publicly opened at the time and place prescribed in the IFB; 

63



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 31 of 93 

6. Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented business 
reason; 

7. A Firm-Fixed-Price (FFP) contract (lump sum or unit price) is awarded to the 
lowest responsive and responsible bidder. When specified in the Bid 
Documents, factors such as discounts, transportation costs, and life cycle costs 
shall be considered in determining which bid is lowest. Payment discounts 
will only be used to determine the low bid when prior experience indicates 
that such discounts are usually taken advantage of. 

8. Federal clauses (mandatory and/or situational) apply if utilizing FTA funds. 

2. Competitive Proposal – Request For Proposals (RFP). Used when a contract is 
estimated to cost more than $150,000 and conditions are not appropriate for the use 
of sealed bids; when factors other than price must be evaluated. Proposals are 
publicly solicited and in order for competitive proposals to be feasible, any of the 
following conditions should be present: 

a. The property or services to be acquired are described in a performance or 
functional specification; or if described in detailed technical specification, 
other circumstances requiring the need for discussions or the importance of 
basing the contract award on factors other than price alone are present. 

b. There is uncertainty about whether more than one proposal will be submitted 
in response to an RFP and the grantee lacks the authority or flexibility under 
State or local law to negotiate the contract price if it receives only a single 
proposal. 

c. The award cannot be made exclusively on price as the relative importance of 
cost or price may vary but may play a dominant role in source selection. 

d. Separate discussions with individual Proposers are expected after submission 
of proposals. 

The following requirements apply to procurement by competitive proposals: 

1. The RFP will be publicly advertised in the official newspaper or a newspaper 
of general circulation at least once and at least 14 Calendar Days prior to the 
proposal due date; 

2. All evaluation factors and their relative importance will be identified in the 
RFP, but numerical weights or percentage ratings need not be disclosed; 

3. Proposals will be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources; 

4. Skagit Transit will follow its Procurement Policy and procedures for 
conducting technical evaluations of the proposals received and for selecting 
awardees; 

5. Any or all proposals may be rejected if there is a sound documented business 
reason; 

64



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 32 of 93 

6. A FFP or cost reimbursement type contract is awarded to highest scoring
responsible Proposer whose offer is most responsive and advantageous to
Skagit Transit’s needs, with all evaluation criteria considered.

7. Federal clauses (mandatory and/or situational) apply if utilizing FTA funds.

3. Two-Step Procurement. Two-step procurement procedures (41 U.S.C. Section
253) may be used in both sealed bid and competitively negotiated procurements,
providing the opportunity for full and open competition is retained.

The following requirements apply to procurements by the two-step process: 

1. Review of Technical/Professional Qualifications and Approach. Review the
prospective contractor’s technical or professional approach to Skagit Transit’s
IFB or RFP, and technical qualifications to carry out that approach. The
competitive range may be narrowed to prospective contractors who
demonstrate a technically satisfactory approach and have satisfactory
qualifications.

2. Review of Bids and Proposals Submitted by Qualified Prospective
Contractors. Solicit and review complete bids or proposals, including price,
submitted by each prospective contractor determined to be qualified. Absent
exceptional circumstances, bids or proposals should be solicited from at least
three qualified prospective contractors. All bids or proposals submitted shall
be considered rather than limiting reviews to the most qualified bidder or
proposer.

In the interests of efficiency, Skagit Transit may elect to obtain submittals of both 
steps with a single solicitation. 

4. Design-Bid-Build (DBB) Procurement. The traditional Design-Bid-Build method
requires separate procurements to build the final product: 1) contract for A&E
services; and 2) contract for construction.

a. Design Services. Qualifications-based procurement must be used for design
services in accordance to the Brooks Act, 40 U.S.C. Chapter 11, and Chapter
39.80 RCW procedures.

b. Construction. Procurement by competitive sealed bids (IFB); Small Works
Roster process may be used up to $350,000. Washington State law does not
currently allow competitive negotiated procurements (RFP) for public works
construction contracts.

4-305 QUALIFICATIONS-BASED PROCUREMENT – 
ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING (A&E) – NO 
THRESHOLD 

Qualifications-based procurement procedures are required for the selection of contractors performing 
A&E services, as based on the Brooks Act, 40 U.S.C. Chapter 11, and Chapter 39.80 RCW. Skagit 
Transit may only use qualifications excluding price procurement procedures when it seeks to acquire 
A&E services, such as program management, construction management, feasibility studies, 

65



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 33 of 93 

preliminary engineering, design, architectural, engineering, land surveying, mapping, and other 
related services as set forth in 49 U.S.C. Section 5325(b), when the A&E services directly support, 
or are directly connected with or related to, the construction, alteration, or repair of real property. 

This method of procurement cannot be used to obtain other types of services even though a firm 
providing A&E services is also a potential source to perform other types of services; or when the 
design or fabrication will become off-the-shelf items or delivered as final end products for 
installation in an FTA-assisted construction project, including an Intelligent Transportation System 
(ITS) construction project. 

The Brooks Act requires that: 

1. An offeror's qualifications be evaluated

2. Price be excluded as an evaluation factor

3. Negotiations be conducted with only the most qualified offeror; and

4. Failing an agreement on price, negotiations with the next most qualified
offeror will be conducted until a contract award can be made to the most
qualified offeror whose price is fair and reasonable to Skagit Transit.

These requirements apply except to the extent any state adopts or has adopted by statute, a formal 
procedure for the procurement of A&E services. 

4-306 PROCUREMENT BY PIGGYBACKING

The Chief Executive Officer may make, or authorize another to make, procurements of property, 
services or construction by way of an Interlocal Agreement, as authorized by Chapter 39.34 RCW, 
where there exists a competitive procurement made by another public agency and it is determined to 
be in the best interest of Skagit Transit to participate with such other local agency in the procurement 
of supplies, services or construction items. 

This type of procurement is called “piggybacking” and is defined by the FTA as the post award use 
of contract rights that allows someone who was not contemplated in the original contract to purchase 
the same supplies/equipment through that original contract. 

The purpose of entering an Interlocal Agreement is to take advantage of a competitive selection 
process already conducted by another agency and save Skagit Transit the time and expense of 
conducting its own selection process for the same property, services or construction items. 

Piggybacking is permissible when: 

1. The solicitation document and resultant contract include an assignability
clause that provides for the assignment of all or part of the specified
deliverables as originally advertised, competed, evaluated, and awarded. This
includes the base and option quantities.

2. The quantities to be ordered were included in the original bid and evaluated
as part of the contract award decision.

66



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 34 of 93 

3. The original solicitation and resultant contract must contain both a minimum
and maximum quantity, which represent the reasonably foreseeable needs of
the parties to the solicitation.

4. If federal funds are used in the procurement, the contract being accessed by
the piggybacking procedure must contain:

a. The clauses required by federal regulations;

b. The contractor’s submitted certifications required by federal
regulations; and

c. The procurement in other respects meets federal requirements.

5. The procurement and contract meets other Skagit Transit requirements.

Piggybacking is NOT permissible when: 

6. There is no assignment clause in the original solicitation.

7. The piggybacking action would call for an increase in quantities that were not
originally bid on and not originally evaluated as part of the contract award.
Such an order for additional quantities would constitute a non-competitive
procurement. This non-permissible practice is sometimes referred to as a “tag-
on”.

8. The order is against an indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contract where
the quantities ordered were not bid on and evaluated as part of the basic
contract award.

9. The order is an attempt to exercise an expired option.

10. If Federal funds are used, the contract does not contain the required federal
clauses or meet federal requirements in other respects.

11. The contract does not meet Skagit Transit requirements in other respects.

4-307 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT (SOLE SOURCE)

Except as permitted by federal law or regulations, all procurement transactions will be conducted in 
a manner providing full and open competition. In certain instances and situations, non-competitive 
procurements may be permissible only when the award of a contract is infeasible under small 
purchase, sealed bids, or competitive proposal procedures AND at least one of the circumstances 
listed below is present: 

1. Sole Source with Non-Federal Funds

a. The item or service is available from only a single responsible source.
A determination that no other type of property or services will satisfy
the needs of Skagit Transit should only be made after detailed market
research and checking with other vendors and other agencies. Must

67



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 35 of 93 

document all research and efforts to find other sources and include 
with the procurement history. One of these conditions may apply: 

• Compatibility. Items are compatible with an established 
Agency *standard or existing equipment, inventory, systems, 
data, programs or services. 

• Proprietary Property. Licensed or patented product with only 
one vendor/dealer. 

• Authorized Dealer. Only authorized Service Provider for 
parts, supplies, repairs and services for support and warranty. 

• Unique design. Requires unique features that are essential, 
aesthetic requirements, or not practical to match to existing 
design or equipment. 

• Used item. Surplus item bought through an auction or 
distributor that would represent good value and is 
advantageous to Skagit Transit. 

• Delivery Date. Only one supplier can meet required delivery 
date. 

• Project or Research Continuity. Product, systems, services or 
data must comply with an ongoing project, research, data, 
testing or analysis. Results would be interrupted or 
compromised without continuity. 

b. After solicitation of a number of sources competition is determined 
adequate. If, after soliciting from several sources, only a single 
response is received, and after determining that the bidding 
environment was fair and not impeded in any way, and after 
reviewing the specifications and determining they are not unduly 
restrictive and changes cannot be made to encourage greater 
competition, then negotiations may begin to arrive at a reasonably 
priced contract. Must document and include with the procurement 
history. 

2. Sole Source with Federal Funds. When the property or service is being funded 
by the FTA, the Requestor must determine if one of the following sole source 
justifications in FTA Circular 4220.1G applies to the procurement and the 
documentation must reference one of these: 

a. The property or services are available from one source. When 
requiring supplies or services available from only one responsible 
source and no other supplies or services will satisfy the requirements. 
One these conditions may be present: 

• A unique or innovative concept or capability not available 
from another source; 

68



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 36 of 93 

• Patent or data rights restrictions preclude competition; 

• A follow-on contract for the continued development or 
production of highly specialized equipment and major 
components thereof, when it is likely that award to another 
contractor would result in substantial duplication of costs that 
are not expected to be recovered through competition; or 

• A follow-on contract for the continued development or 
production of highly specialized equipment and major 
components thereof, when it is likely that award to another 
contractor would result in unacceptable delays in fulfilling 
the Agency’s needs. 

b. Single Bid or Proposal – Competition Adequacy. When receiving a 
single bid or proposal in response to a solicitation, determine if 
competition was adequate by reviewing the requirements for undue 
restrictiveness, or survey potential sources that chose not to submit a 
response. If after solicitation of a number of sources competition is 
determined adequate, FTA’s competition requirements will be 
fulfilled and the procurement will qualify as a valid sole source. A 
cost analysis must be performed in lieu of a price analysis when this 
situation occurs. 

c. Unusual and Compelling Urgency. When such an unusual and urgent 
need for the property or services exist that the grantee would be 
seriously injured unless it were permitted to limit the solicitation. The 
solicitation is limited when the public exigency or emergency will not 
permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation for the property 
or services. 

d. Authorized by FTA (in writing). If the situation does not fit any sole 
source category, yet the Requestor still feels it warrants sole source, 
a written request may be sent to the FTA to grant Skagit Transit 
permission to use sole source. Written authorization from FTA must 
be included with the procurement history. 

Note: Associated Capital Maintenance Items (OEM parts) must qualify for an exception under the 
same standards that would apply to other sole source acquisitions. 

3. Cardinal Changes. Substantial contract modifications not within the original 
scope of the contract are also considered sole source procurements and further 
constitute an impermissible “CARDINAL CHANGE”. This is determined 
when there exists: 

a. A significant change in the original nature or purpose of the work to 
be performed or the intended method of achievement; 

b. A substantial change in the type or amount of work effort on the part 
of the contractor; 

69



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 37 of 93 

c. A substantial change exceeding 25% of the total cost of the contract.

4. Documentation. Every sole source procurement will be documented on Skagit
Transit’s “Sole Source Justification” form recording the rational for justifying
the use of sole source, the results of all research, and any other supporting
documentation attached. Documentation shall include, but not be limited to:

a. Completed Sole Source Justification Form.

b. Written authorization from FTA, if any.

c. Written correspondence or a record of verbal communications with
other vendors and public agencies.

d. Cost or price analysis, as appropriate.

All documents are forwarded to the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator who, after review, will 
finalize the documentation package and ensure required approvals are obtained from the: 

1. Manager of Finance and Administration – for all capital items.

2. Chief Executive Officer – for total amounts up to $150,000

3. Full Board of Directors – for total amounts exceeding $150,000; sole source
awards must be made by Resolution.

4-308 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT (EMERGENCY
PROCUREMENT) 

The public exigency or emergency will not permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation. 

The Chief Executive Officer, or designee, must authorize the declaration of an emergency, within a 
reasonable amount of time after, if not before, the purchase. Needs arising from this event will not 
permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation, however such emergency procurements shall 
be made with competition as is practicable under the circumstances. Emergency purchases must be 
limited to addressing the emergency only. For example, you cannot use a contractor selected without 
competition to replace your entire roof when the emergency is only to fix a leak in the roof. 
Emergency justification must be documented and included in the procurement history. 

1. Definition: A circumstance resulting from an unusual or compelling urgent
need for procurement of supplies, services, or construction items exceeding
$10,000 in total where Skagit Transit would be seriously injured unless it
limits the solicitation. A threat to public health, welfare, or health and safety
may require authorizing an emergency. Simply being short on time due to the
agency’s negligence is not an emergency.

2. Documentation. Every emergency procurement will be documented on Skagit
Transit’s “Emergency Procurement Justification” form, recording details of
the emergency, the rationale for justifying the use of the selected contractor,
the results of all research, and any other supporting documentation attached.
Documentation shall include, but not be limited to:

70



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 38 of 93 

a. Completed Emergency Procurement Justification Form.

b. Written authorization from FTA, if any.

c. Written correspondence or a record of verbal communications with
other vendors and public agencies.

d. Cost or price analysis, as appropriate.

e. Written determination explaining the basis of selection of the
particular contractor.

All documents are forwarded to the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator, who, 
after review, will finalize the documentation package and ensure required 
approvals are obtained from the: 

f. Manager of Finance and Administration – for all capital items.

g. Chief Executive Officer – for total amounts up to $150,000

h. Full Board of Directors – for total amounts exceeding $150,000; sole
source awards must be made by Resolution.

Reference: RCW 43.19.1906 (1) and (3) 

FTA Circular 4220.1G: Chapter VI 

FTA Best Practices Procurement Manual: Chapter 4. 

71



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 39 of 93 

ARTICLE 5 - FORMAL SOLICITATION PROCESSES 

PART A – BID SPECIFICATIONS 

5-101 MAXIMUM PRACTICABLE COMPETITION 

All specifications shall be drafted so as to promote overall economy for the purposes intended, and 
encourage maximum free and open competition in satisfying Skagit Transit's minimum needs, and 
shall not be unduly restrictive. The policy enunciated in this section applies to all specifications, 
including but not limited to those prepared for Skagit Transit by architects, engineers, designers, and 
draftsman. 

5-102 BRAND NAME OR EQUAL SPECIFICATIONS 

1. Use. Brand name or equal specifications may be used when the Project 
Manager determines in writing that: 

a. No other design or performance specification or qualified products 
list is available; 

b. Time does not permit the preparation of another form or purchase 
description, not including a brand name specification; 

c. The nature of the product or the nature of Skagit Transit's 
requirements makes use of a brand name or equal specification 
suitable for the procurement; 

d. Use of brand name or equal specification is in Skagit Transit's best 
interest. 

2. Designation of Several Brand Names. Brand name or equal specifications 
shall seek to designate three, or as many different brands as are practicable, 
as "or equal", “or alternate”, references and shall further state that 
substantially equivalent products to those designated will be considered for 
award. 

3. Required Characteristics. Unless the Project Manager determines in writing 
that the essential characteristics of the brand names included in the 
specifications are commonly known in the industry or trade, brand name or 
equal specification shall include a description of the salient characteristics 
(particular design, function, or performance, etc.) which are required. 

4. Nonrestrictive Use of Brand Name or Equal Specifications. Where a brand 
name or equal specification is used in a solicitation, the solicitation shall 
contain explanatory language that the use of a brand name is for the purpose 
of describing the standard of quality, performance, characteristics desired and 
is not intended to limit or restrict competition. 

5. Further Requirements. No specification for bids or statement of work in 
connection with such works shall be written in such a manner as to contain 

72



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 40 of 93 

proprietary, exclusionary, or discriminatory requirements other than those 
based upon performance, unless such requirements are necessary to test or 
demonstrate a specific thing to provide for necessary interchange ability of 
parts or equipment, or at least two brand names or trade names of comparable 
quality or utility are listed and are followed by the words "or equals". 

5-103 BRAND NAME SPECIFICATION 

1. Use. Since use of a brand name specification is restrictive of product 
competition, it may be used only when the Project Manager makes a written 
determination that only the identified brand name item or items will satisfy 
Skagit Transit's needs. 

2. Competition. The Project Manager, or designee, shall seek to identify sources 
from which the designated brand name item or items can be obtained and shall 
solicit such sources to achieve whatever degree or price competition is 
practicable. If only one source can supply the requirement, the procurement 
shall be made under section 4-306 (Sole Source Procurement). 

PART B – PUBLIC NOTICE 

5-201 PUBLIC NOTICE 

Adequate public notice of the solicitation shall be given a reasonable time, not less than 14 Calendar 
Days prior to the date set forth therein for the opening of bids or submittal deadline for receipt of 
proposals. Such notice shall include publication in a newspaper of general circulation, unless the 
Small Works Roster process is used for an IFB. The public notice shall state the place, date and time 
of bid opening or deadline for submitting proposals. 

PART C – RECEIPT OF SUBMITTALS 

5-301 INVITATION FOR BIDS (IFB) 

Bids shall be unconditionally accepted without alteration or correction, except as authorized in these 
policies. Bids shall be date stamped and initialed on the envelope by the accepting employee. The 
time that the bid was received shall also be noted if received on the date of bid closing. Bids shall 
not be opened (taken from the sealed envelope) except as authorized in these policies. No bids shall 
be handled so as to permit disclosure of the identity of any Bidder or the contents of any bid to 
competing offerors until the date set for bid opening. 

An abstract of bids (Bid Tabulation) shall be prepared after the bid opening, containing the name of 
each Bidder and the dollar amount of the bid. The Bid Tabulation is not a final award notice but a 
tally of all bids received showing who the apparent low bidder is and will be made available for 
public inspection once completed and verified as accurate. A final Bid Tabulation disclosing the 
price details of each bid item shall be open for public inspection only after contract award. 

5-302 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 

Proposals shall be date stamped, marked with the time received, and initialed by the accepting 
employee on the envelope. Proposals shall not be opened (taken from the sealed envelope) except as 
authorized in these policies. No proposals shall be handled so as to permit disclosure of the identity 

73



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 41 of 93 

of any offeror or the contents of any proposals to competing offerors during the process of 
negotiation. A Register of Proposals shall be prepared containing the name of each Proposer, the 
number of modifications received, if any, and a description sufficient to identify the item offered. 
The Register of Proposals shall be open for public inspection only after contract award. 

PART D – OPENING OF SUBMITTALS 

5-401 INVITATION FOR BID (IFB)

Bids shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at the time and place 
designated in the Invitation for Bids, or as amended by Addendum. The amount of each bid, and 
such other relevant information as the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator deems appropriate, 
together with the name of each bidder shall be recorded; the record and each bid shall be open to 
public inspection in accordance with Section 1-301 (Public access to Procurement Information). 

5-402 TIE BIDS (IFB)

The possibility exists that identical bids may be received at the bid opening. Absent collusion among 
the bidders, the following procedure will be used to identify the apparent low bidder: 

1. The names of the bidders submitting identical bids shall be placed in a
receptacle suitable for drawing lots.

2. A Skagit Transit employee, who is agreeable to all parties, shall draw from
the receptacle one lot and publicly announce the identity of the apparent low
bidder.

3. The apparent low bidder shall be awarded a contract providing Skagit Transit
subsequently determines the successful bidder to be the lowest responsive and
responsible bidder.

5-403 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP)

At a time prior to the date set for the selection committee meeting, proposals will be opened by the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator and reviewed. A bid history/receiving form will be 
completed for each proposal received to include information regarding responsiveness and 
responsibility of the Proposer. Necessary copies will be made for each committee member; 
confidential portions of the proposal will be noted; forms for references checks will be submitted as 
described at 5-502, and any other pre- evaluation work necessary will be performed by the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator. 

PART E – EVALUATION OF RFP 

5-501 SELECTION (EVALUATION) COMMITTEE

At a time prior to proposal due date, a Selection Committee consisting of an odd number of 
participants will be formed. The committee should consist of the Project Manager, another person 
who understands the technical specifications contained in the RFP, and preferably a person with no 
affiliation with Skagit Transit such as someone from another transit agency; however, the selection 
committee members will be determined on a case-by-case basis. The Procurement and Contracts 
Coordinator will obtain a signed “Affidavit Concerning Conflicts of Interest, Ethics in Public 

74



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 42 of 93 

Contracting and Confidentially of Proposals” from each member of the committee. The Procurement 
and Contracts Coordinator will set a date and time for the Selection Committee to meet within the 
parameters of the RFP calendar of events. 

5-502 SELECTION COMMITTEE MEETING

This meeting is closed to all except the committee members and the meeting facilitator (usually the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator). Proposals shall be evaluated based on the requirements set 
forth in the RFP, which may include criteria to determine acceptability such as inspection, testing, 
quality, workmanship, delivery, and suitability for a particular purpose. Those for award shall be 
objectively measurable, such as discounts, transportation costs and total or life cycle costs. The RFP 
shall set forth the evaluation criteria to be used. No criteria may be used in proposal evaluations that 
are not set forth in the RFP. 

5-503 DISCUSSION AND NEGOTIATION WITH RESPONSIBLE
PROPOSERS AND REVISIONS TO PROPOSALS 

As provided in the RFP, discussion may be conducted with responsible offerors who submit 
proposals determined to be reasonably acceptable of being selected for award for the purpose of 
clarification to assure full understanding of, and conformance to, the solicitation requirements. 
Proposers shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussion 
and revision of proposal pricing and such revisions may be permitted after submissions and prior to 
award for the purpose of obtaining best and final offers. In conducting discussions, there shall be no 
disclosure of the identity of competing offerors or of any information derived from proposals 
submitted by competing offerors. 

PART F – CORRECTION OR WITHDRAWAL 
OF BIDS 

5-601 CORRECTION OR WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS

Correction or withdrawal of inadvertently erroneous bids before or after bid closing date, or 
cancellation of awards or contracts based on such bid mistakes, may be permitted where appropriate. 
Mistakes discovered before bid opening may be modified or withdrawn by written or telegraphic 
notice received in the office designated in the bid package prior to the time set for bid opening or 
closing date set for receipt of proposals. 

After bid opening, corrections in bids shall be permitted only to the extent that the bidder can show 
by clear and convincing evidence that a mistake of a non-judgmental character was made, the nature 
of the mistake, and the bid price actually intended. After bid opening, no changes in bid prices or 
other provisions of bids prejudicial to the interests of Skagit Transit or fair competition shall be 
permitted. In lieu of bid correction, a low bidder alleging a material mistake of fact may be permitted 
to withdraw it’s bid if: 

1. The mistake is clearly evident on the face of the bid document but the intended
correct bid is not similarly evident or

2. The bidder submits evidence that clearly and convincingly demonstrates that
a mistake was made.

75



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 43 of 93 

All decisions to permit the correction or withdrawal of bids, or to cancel awards or contracts based 
on bid mistakes, shall be supported by a written determination made by the Chief Executive Officer 
or designee. 

PART G – NOTICE OF AWARD 

5-701 INVITATION FOR BIDS (IFB)

Bidders will be notified of award after the Board of Directors has made award. A final Bid Tabulation 
or abstract will also be made available at this time. A notice of award recommendation to the Board 
may be faxed or e-mailed to all bidders prior to the Board’s award, as determined by the Manager of 
Finance and Administration. 

In the event all bids for a construction project exceed available funds, as certified by the Manager of 
Finance and Administration, and the low responsive and responsible bid does not exceed such funds 
by more than five percent, the Chief Executive Officer or designee is authorized, when time or 
economic considerations preclude re-solicitation of work of a reduced scope, to negotiate an 
adjustment of the bid price with the low responsive and responsible bidder, in order to bring the bid 
within the amount of available funds. Any such negotiated adjustment shall be based only upon 
eliminating independent deductive items specified in the IFB. 

5-702 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP)

Proposers will be notified of the selection committee’s proposed recommendation of award to the 
Board of Directors. This communication will list the date, location and time of the Board’s 
consideration for award. Proposers will then be notified of the Board’s final award. 

PART H – CANCELLATION OF 
SOLICITATION 

5-801 CANCELLATION OF BIDS OR PROPOSALS

An Invitation For Bids, a Request For Proposals, or other solicitation may be canceled, or any or all 
bids or proposals may be rejected in whole or as may be specified in the solicitation when it is for 
good cause and in the best interests of Skagit Transit. The reasons, therefore, shall be made part of 
the contract file. Each solicitation issued by Skagit Transit shall state that the solicitation may be 
canceled and that any bid or proposal may be rejected in whole or in part for good cause when in the 
best interest of Skagit Transit. Notice of cancellation shall be sent to all businesses solicited. The 
notice shall identify the solicitation, explain the reasons for cancellation and, where appropriate, 
explain that an opportunity will be given to compete on any re-solicitation or any future procurement 
of similar items. Reasons for rejection shall be provided upon request of unsuccessful bidders or 
proposers. 

PART I – RESPONSIBILITY OF BIDDERS 

5-901 DETERMINATION OF NON-RESPONSIBILITY

If a bidder or proposer who otherwise would have been awarded a contract is found non-responsible, 
a written determination of non-responsibility setting forth the basis of the finding shall be prepared 
by the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator or designee. The unreasonable failure of a bidder or 

76



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 44 of 93 

proposer to promptly supply information in connection with an inquiry with respect to responsibility 
may be grounds for a determination and shall be sent promptly to the non-responsible bidder of 
offeror. The final determination shall be made part of the contract file and be made a public record. 

5-902 RIGHT OF NON-DISCLOSURE

Information furnished by a bidder or proposer pursuant to this Section shall not be disclosed by 
Skagit Transit outside the Chief Executive Officer’s office without prior written consent by the 
Bidder or Proposer. 

PART J – IRREGULARITIES/DEVIATIONS 

5-1001 MATERIAL AND IMMATERIAL DEVIATIONS

Material deviations in a solicitation response may not be waived in order to make an award. Material 
deviations are those that go to the substance of the requirements. This deviation affects the price, 
quality, characteristics of the items, or the delivery of the materials or services offered and is 
detrimental to the rights of other suppliers that have submitted a response. Descriptive examples of 
material deviations include: 

1. Minimum specifications are not met (e.g., required horsepower for an engine)

2. Price is not submitted

3. Offer, including price, is contingent upon stipulations not contained in the
solicitation

4. Specific mandatory requirements in the solicitation are not reflected in the bid
or proposal

5. A required bid bond is not submitted prior to the due date for submission of
responses.

6. The response is significantly dissimilar or inconsistent with other responses
submitted without a reasonably acceptable explanation for the deviation

7. Sealed responses received after the specified time.

Immaterial deviations or minor irregularities in a solicitation response may be waived at the 
discretion of the PCC to make an award. Immaterial deviations are those that will not alter a 
supplier’s position with respect to receiving the award. If required, these deviations may be clarified 
with the supplier to all Skagit Transit to understand the response. Examples of immaterial deviations 
include, but are not limited to: 

1. Failure to provide a certificate of affidavit

2. Failure to submit the required proof of financial responsibility or insurance

3. Failure to submit requested brochures or catalogs

4. Failure to fully complete or submit a required form (with the exceptions note
above in material deviations)

77



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 45 of 93 

ARTICLE 6 - COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 

Skagit Transit must perform either a cost or price analysis in connection with every procurement 
action on an FTA funded contract as required, including contract modifications, and in non-federal 
procurements when a single bid or proposal is received. The method and degree of analysis is 
dependent on the facts surrounding the particular procurement situation, but as a starting point, the 
Project Manager, Procurement, or the Requestor must make an Independent Cost Estimate (ICE) 
before bids or proposals are received. For contract modifications, the ICE must be prepared without 
knowledge of the contractor’s proposed pricing. 

6-101 PRICE ANALYSIS 

If competition is deemed adequate, a price analysis is required to determine that the price is fair and 
reasonable. Adequate price competition may be determined to exist when the perception of 
competition exists, even if only one bid or proposal is received; conversely, the receipt of multiple 
bids or proposals with widely differing prices may not constitute adequate price competition. The 
determination can be made by analyzing or comparing vendor price quotations, catalog or market 
prices offered in substantial quantities to the general public, regulated prices, recent prices for similar 
goods and services made by other agencies, or any other reasonable method. 

6.102 COST ANALYSIS 

When a price analysis will not provide sufficient information to determine the reasonableness of the 
contract cost, a cost analysis is required. The various elements of cost are analyzed to determine what 
the item should cost as compared to the proposed cost in order to finally determine if the price is fair 
and reasonable. In general, a cost analysis is relevant in the following situations: 

1. When only one bid or proposal is received and price competition is adequate. 

2. When a sole source determination is made, regardless of funds used. 

3. When a contract modification is made. 

A cost analysis is performed by requesting the offeror to submit the elements of their submitted price 
(Labor, Hours, Overhead, Materials, and resulting Profit, etc). These elements are analyzed to 
determine if the price is fair and reasonable. Note that profit, in most cases, should not exceed a 20% 
margin over the contractor’s cost to supply the property or service. In a negotiated procurement, 
profit may be negotiated as a separate element of the proposal. To establish a fair and reasonable 
profit, consideration will be given to the complexity of the work to be performed, the risk borne by 
the contractor, the contractor’s investment, the amount of subcontracting, the quality of its record of 
past performance, and industry profit rates in the surrounding geographical area for similar work. 
Award shall not be considered until after the completion of said cost analysis and the written 
determination by the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator that the single bid received is fair and 
reasonable. A written record of such cost analysis or price analysis shall be made a part of the contract 
file. 

6-103 CERTIFICATION REQUIRED 

A contractor, actual or prospective, required to submit cost or pricing data in accordance with this 
Section, shall certify that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, the cost or pricing data submitted 

78



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 46 of 93 

was accurate, complete, and current as of a mutually specified date prior to the award of the contract 
or the pricing of the change order or contract modification. 

6-104 PRICE ADJUSTMENT PROVISION REQUIRED 

Any contract award, change order, or contract modification under which the submission and 
certification of cost or pricing data are required shall contain a provision stating that the price to 
Skagit Transit, including profit or fee, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by which 
Skagit Transit finds that such price was increased because the contractor-furnished cost or pricing 
data was inaccurate, incomplete, or not current as of the date agreed upon between Skagit Transit 
and the contractor. 

  

79



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 47 of 93 

ARTICLE 7 - PUBLIC WORKS REQUIREMENTS AND 

PREVAILING WAGE 

7-101 MANDATORY FOR PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS

Compliance with RCW 60.28 and 39.08 and any other relevant RCW or WAC is mandatory for all 
public works projects consisting of construction or facility improvement contracts or subcontracts. 

For FTA-assisted construction or facility improvement contracts exceeding $150,000, the following 
minimum requirements apply: 

1. A bid guarantee from each Bidder equivalent to 5% of the bid price. The "bid
guarantee" shall consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified
check, or other negotiable instrument accompanying a bid as assurance that
the Bidder will, upon acceptance of its bid, execute such contractual
documents as may be required within the time specified;

2. A Performance Bond on the part of the contractor for 100% of the contract
price. A Performance Bond is one executed in connection with a contract to
secure fulfillment of all the contractor's obligations under such contract; and

3. A Payment Bond on the part of the contractor for 100% of the contract price.
A Payment Bond is one executed in connection with a contract to assure
payment, as required by law, of all persons supplying labor and material in
the execution of the work provided for in the contract. For FTA- assisted
projects, payment bond amounts may be required from contractors as follows:

a. 50% of the contract price if the contract price is not more than $1
million;

b. 40% of the contract price if the contract price is more than $1 million
but not more than $5 million; or

c. $2.5 million if the contract price is more than $5 million.

A cash deposit, certified check or other negotiable instrument may be accepted by Skagit Transit in 
lieu of performance and payment bonds, provided that a procedure is followed to assure that the 
interest of the FTA is adequately protected. 

The requirement of performance bonds on other contracts shall be at the discretion of the Risk 
Manger. 

Skagit Transit may use the “Limited Public Works Process” for contracts with an estimated cost of 
less than $35,000. This process allows Skagit Transit to waive the bonding requirements of 39.08 
RCW and retainage requirements of 60.28 RCW by assuming liability for the contractor’s non- 
payment of laborers, material and taxes, however, the prevailing wage cannot be waived. In all cases, 
Skagit Transit will retain the right of recovery from the contractor. The use of Limited Public Works 
Process will be authorized by Skagit Transit’s Risk Manager. 

80



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 48 of 93 

Skagit Transit may establish a small works roster for public works projects under $350,000. Skagit 
Transit may set up their own list, or enter into an agreement with another local government for use 
of their preapproved list as per 39.04.155 RCW. The Board of Directors shall authorize use of the 
small works roster process through Resolution and the Finance Manager and Procurement and 
Contracts Coordinator will develop procedures for its use. 

7-102. COMPLIANCE WITH THE DAVIS BACON ACT

For all Federally assisted prime construction, alteration or repair contracts in excess of $2,000,  under 
49 U.S.C. § 5333(a), prevailing wage protections apply to laborers and mechanics employed on FTA 
assisted construction, alteration, or repair projects.  

The Contractor will comply with the Davis- Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144, and 3146-3148 as 
supplemented by DOL regulations at 29 C.F.R. part 5, “Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to 
Contracts Governing Federally Financed and Assisted Construction.” In accordance with the statute, 
the Contractor shall pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages 
specified in a wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, the Contractor agrees 
to pay wages not less than once a week.  

The Contractor shall also comply with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. § 3145), as 
supplemented by DOL regulations at 29 C.F.R. part 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public 
Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in part by Loans or Grants from the United States.” 
The Contractor is prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction, 
completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the compensation to which he or she is 
otherwise entitled. 

It is the responsibility of the contracting officer to ensure that a copy of the most current wage 
determination of the Department of Labor (DOL) is included in the solicitation and ensuing contract. 
In addition, prior to making payments on any construction contract, the contracting officer must 
obtain documentation certifying federal minimum prevailing wages were paid to employees of the 
contracting entity. 

81



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 49 of 93 

ARTICLE 8 CONTRACTS 

PART A – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

8-101 GENERAL AUTHORITY 

Subject to the limitations of this Section, any type of contract which is appropriate to the procurement 
and which will promote the best interest of Skagit Transit may be used; provided that the use of any 
“Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost” method described below are not used. A cost reimbursement 
contract may be used only when a determination is made in writing that such contract is likely to be 
less costly to Skagit Transit than any other type or that it is impracticable to obtain the supply, service, 
or construction item required except under such a contract. 

8-102 COST PLUS PERCENTAGE OF COST PROHIBITED 

The Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost and Cost Plus a Percentage of Construction Cost methods of 
contracting shall not be used. 

8-103 MULTI-TERM CONTRACTS 

Consistent with current FTA guidelines, contracts for the acquisition of rolling stock or replacement 
parts for rolling stock must be limited to 5 years. All other contracts for supplies or services may be 
entered into for any period of time deemed to be in the best interests of Skagit Transit provided the 
term of the contract and conditions of renewal or extension, if any, are included in the solicitation 
and funds are available for the first fiscal period at the time of contracting. In general, the solicitations 
will dictate the contract period plus the optional renewal periods. Payment and performance 
obligations for succeeding fiscal periods shall be subject to the availability and appropriation of funds 
therefore, term renewals will be made at the fees or percentage increases dictated in the Proposer’s 
original response to the RFP. 

8-104 TIME AND MATERIALS TYPE CONTRACTS 

Skagit Transit may only use time and material type contracts when: 

1. After a determination that no other type of contract is suitable; and 

2. If the contract specifies a ceiling price that the contractor shall not exceed 
except at its own risk. 

8-105 CANCELLATION DUE TO UNAVAILABILITY OF FUNDS IN SUCCEEDING 
FISCAL PERIODS 

When funds are not appropriated or otherwise made available to support continuation of performance 
in a subsequent fiscal period, the contract shall be canceled and the contractor shall be reimbursed 
for the reasonable value of any non-recurring costs or services delivered under the contract. The cost 
of cancellation may be paid from any appropriations available for such purposes. 

 

82



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 50 of 93 

PART B - PURCHASE ORDERS 

8-201 PURCHASE ORDERS 

A Purchase Order (PO) is a legal contract governed by the Law of Contracts and the Uniform 
Commercial Code of Law (UCC). Its use is mandatory for the purchase of goods and services in 
excess of the micro-purchase threshold with the following exceptions: 

1. When a formal written contract is in place; 

2. When a Vendor or Contractor is included on the Requisition Exemption List; 

3. When monthly services cannot be reasonably estimated prior to the purchase 
(i.e. utilities). 

POs may be used for purchases under the micro-purchase threshold, if desired, to expedite the 
ordering process or provide a receiving document. 

Issuance of Purchase Orders: A PO is initiated by a Requisition completed by the Requestor and 
approved by Procurement and management for all purchases, regardless of dollar amount, unless 
exempted on the Requisition Exemption List. (See attached Exhibit B, Requisition Requirements) 

A PO will be issued after the completed Requisition is given Final Approval by a manager, including 
appropriate quotes attached as required. As a major requirement, the PO must contain a precise and 
clear description of the elements in the order, the terms of the purchase, the manner and place of 
delivery. (See Procedure 180.03 – Purchase Order Preparation Procedures) 

8-202 NON-NEGOTIATED ORDER 

When Procurement issues a PO without prior specific negotiations on the particular transaction, the 
printed language on the PO is intended to prevent Skagit Transit from being bound by a subsequent 
“order acknowledgment” that changes the normal and usual conditions that would attach to Skagit 
Transit’s offer. 

When a PO is issued in response to a specific quotation, the printed language on the PO is intended 
to give Skagit Transit the legal effect of a counter-offer, requiring the Vendor to accede to its terms 
(which usually are typical ordinary terms and conditions imposed by law and trade custom). 

8-203 ORAL AGREEMENT TO PURCHASE AND “STATUTE OF 
FRAUDS” 

It is important to understand when written confirmation is required to create an enforceable 
agreement, even though legally enforceable contracts result from oral orders in most cases. The law 
covering written purchase agreements is known as the "Statue of Frauds" and is designed to prevent 
commercial frauds. Some of the more important points covered in the UCC are as follows: 

a. If the value of the order is $10,000 or more, there must be some written notation 
beyond orally stating a PO number, in other words, an actual PO must be issued. 

83



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 51 of 93 

b. Between merchants, notice of objection must be given within a reasonable time,
normally 10 days, if the memorandum from the seller is not according to the
buyer's understanding.

c. An oral agreement without a written memorandum can be enforced if the notice
from the seller is not according to the buyer's understanding.

PART C - COOPERATIVE PURCHASING 

8-301 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING (RCW 39.34.03)

Pursuant to RCW Chapter 39.34, Skagit Transit may join with a state, or political subdivisions of a 
state, for the purchase of materials, equipment, supplies, or services by entering into a written 
Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement that requires compliance with the state’s, or 
the political subdivision’s, applicable procurement law, including that of Washington State if the 
cooperative is out-of-state. In addition, Skagit Transit may make a bid call with another government 
entity as a joint purchase complying with the bid requirements of the participating jurisdictions. 
Approval and authority for entering into an Interlocal Cooperative Purchasing Agreement will be 
determined by the anticipated cost of the procurement. 

In procurements where it may be advantageous for Skagit Transit to purchase goods and services in 
cooperation with other public agencies, or purchasing cooperatives, the requirement for a public 
notice in the newspaper of general circulation shall be waived; however, a copy of the awarding 
agency’s solicitation advertisement or posting of the Invitation to Bid or Request for Proposals on 
their website may be obtained. The website shall be any state or local website established and 
maintained by a public agency, purchasing cooperative, or a similar service provider. The posting 
shall be for the sole purpose of public notice for bids or proposal solicitations. The awarding agency 
may also fulfill this requirement by providing an access link from the State’s website portal to the 
public notice of solicitation. 

When practical, Skagit Transit may include language in its solicitations allowing other public 
agencies to purchase from Skagit Transit’s solicitations, provided that the other agencies allow 
similar rights and reciprocal privileges to Skagit Transit. 

8-302 UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT, STATE OF WASHINGTON, OR POLITICAL
SUBDIVISIONS 

Services, materials, and equipment may be purchased from the United States Government, or any 
agency of the State of Washington, or political subdivision, without the necessity to require a 
competitive solicitation process by Skagit Transit if the contract is found to be in the best interest 
and at a favorable price to Skagit Transit and the awarding agency’s procurement process complies 
with the bid laws of Washington State. 

General Services Administration‘s (GSA) Cooperative Purchasing Program, available for Federal 
Government use, allows State and local governments to purchase from GSA Schedule 70 for 
Information Technology and Schedule 84 for Law Enforcement and security products and services, 
at any time, for any reason, using any funds available. 

84



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 52 of 93 

PART D – CONTRACTS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THIS 
POLICY 

8-401 OTHER ACQUISITIONS

This Policy will not apply to transactions involving the purchase, sale, lease, or other transactions 
for real property; for joint development projects; for purchases from government-regulated entities 
such as public utilities which are granted market exclusivity by the regulating agency (i.e. public 
utility district (P.U.D.); sewer district, etc.); for purchases of professional subscriptions, 
memberships, seminars, and expenses in connection with industry meetings and conferences; for 
travel and living expenses on Skagit Transit business; and other similar expenditures incidental to 
the routine conduct of Skagit Transit’s business covered under the Travel Policy. 

8-402 REVENUE CONTRACTS

Contracts whose principal purpose is to generate revenue for Skagit Transit are not subject to this 
Policy; however, where feasible, a competitive process suitable to the type and scope of the activity 
involved and the availability of competition should be conducted. In keeping with Skagit Transit’s 
mission and image, revenue contracts are encouraged to enhance income to defray operating 
expenses and can present opportunities for the business community. In some circumstances involving 
a revenue-producing activity (i.e. the employment of a contractor to produce revenue) this Policy 
may apply. 

PART E - CONTRACT PROVISIONS AND 
CLAUSES  

8-501 CONTRACT PROVISIONS

Periodically, Skagit Transit will develop authorized contract provisions and clauses that are approved 
by legal counsel and the Skagit Transit Risk Manager. The list of approved contract provisions and 
clauses will be maintained by the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator. 

8-502 FTA Required Third Party Contract Clauses

In order to be compliant with FTA Funding sources, these clauses are required to be included in any 
third-party contract where that funding source is being utilized.  These clauses are subject to updates 
per the Federal regulation adjustment and FTA adoption and will be reviewed annually or as needed 
to ensure compliance.  Please see Exhibit C for the most up-to-date version of these contract clauses. 

PART F – CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS 

8-601 CONTRACT AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE ORDERS

Skagit Transit may negotiate performance changes to current contracts through a written Change 
Order or Contract Amendment, as applicable. 

Contract Amendments are typically used to modify multi-year contracts for goods or services in 
order to exercise option year extensions and price increases. Amendments are issued by the 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator and signed by the Contractor and Skagit Transit’s Chief 
Executive Officer. Full Board approval was already granted to the original proposal which 

85



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 53 of 93 

contemplated option year extensions/pricing, therefore Board approval is not required again unless 
the Contractor submits a request to increase option year prices that results in a change that exceeds 
the C.E.O.’s spending authority. 

Contract Change Orders issued to modify a contract or PO direct the Contractor to make changes to 
the original scope of work/specifications, time, or both and are typically bilateral (agreed to by all 
parties) but can be unilateral (Skagit Transit orders a contract change without the consent of the 
contractor). In reference to construction contracts, it relates primarily to changes caused by 
unanticipated conditions encountered during construction not covered by the drawings, plans, or 
specifications of the project. 

Such changes shall be in writing and require review and approval by the Project Manager(s) assigned 
to the Contract. If Skagit Transit has acquired the services of an A&E (Architectural and 
Engineering) firm to perform project and/or construction management services, then the primary 
Architect or Engineer must also review and approve Change Orders. 

The Chief Executive Officer shall be authorized to amend contracts in an amount not to exceed 
his/her purchasing authority limit, provided that the amended total does not exceed the amount 
budgeted for the Project. Board approval shall be required for a single Change Order exceeding 
$150,000.  

86



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 54 of 93 

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

9-101 DEFINITIONS: 

1. Project Manager (PM): Person designated on the contract as the main Point 
of Contact (POC) for the contractor and primary person responsible for 
overseeing and managing the project work, schedule and budget. 

2. Procurement and Contracts Coordinator (PCC): Universally referred to as the 
Contracting Officer, is the person with the delegated authority to enter into, 
administer, and/or terminate contracts, and make related determinations and 
findings. The PCC develops and maintains all Contract Documents and 
procurement files and is responsible for monitoring procurement compliance 
Agency-wide. 

9-103 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION SYSTEM 

All contracts (including interagency) executed by Skagit Transit shall demonstrate that the PCC, PM, 
and Contractor have complied with the terms and conditions set forth in the contracts. 

The procurement file shall include all documentation regarding the administration of the contract, 
from inception to completion, and be maintained by the PCC. The documentation shall contain, but 
not be limited to, the following: 

*Please note that the following listing may be a logical filing order with a preprinted cover sheet for 
the procurement file. 

1. Original solicitation documents with Specifications or Scope/Statement of 
Work 

2. Proof of advertisement (both newspaper of record and website) 
3. Independent Cost Estimate with any supporting documentation 
4. Pre-bid activity and related documentation 
5. Bids, proposals or quotes (submittals) received 
6. Submittal review, analysis / evaluation process / scoring documents 
7. Explanation of the basis for the selection of the contractor 
8. Documentation that price is fair and reasonable 
9. Pre-award activity/changes to contract and related documentation 
10. Award recommendation notices 
11. Board approval of contract award / Final award notices 
12. Executed contract or PO 
13. Any bonding/retainage/insurance documentation 
14. Notice to Proceed 
15. Post-award activity and related documentation 
16. Modifications/changes to contract. 
17. Documentation of any cardinal changes. 
18. Notices for project completion milestones; acceptance 
19. Documentation relating to all contract close out activity 

87



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 55 of 93 

20. A chronological summary of contract activity
21. Information related to grant funding

Immediately after full execution of the basic contract, the technical administration of the contract 
work becomes the responsibility of the PM with the administrative assistance of the PCC. Together, 
they shall establish any further methods and procedures to be used to monitor contracts on a case- 
by-case basis. 

The PM is selected by the Chief Executive Officer from the individual department who originated 
the contract specifications. Responsibilities of the PM include guidance of the work to be performed 
by the contractor, payment consistent with the contractual terms, monitoring the effective date of the 
contracts, and other specific contract elements, including modifications to the contract work that may 
arise during the term of the contract. 

88



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 56 of 93 

ARTICLE 10 - SKAGIT TRANSIT PROCUREMENT 

RECORDS 

10-101 CONTRACT FILE 

All determinations and other written records pertaining to the solicitation, award, or performance of 
a contract shall be maintained for Skagit Transit in a contract file by the Procurement and Contracts 
Coordinator. 

10-102 INTERNAL AUDIT 

All procurement records shall be retained and made available to the Skagit Transit internal auditor. 

10-103 RETENTION OF PROCUREMENT RECORDS 

All procurement records shall be retained and disposed of by Skagit Transit in accordance with 
records retention guidelines and schedules required by State law. If a contract is being funded in 
whole or in part by assistance from the FTA, then all procurement records pertaining to that contract 
shall be maintained for at least 3 years from the closeout date of the federally assisted contract, or 
the final disposition of any controversy arising out of the assistance agreement. 

10-104 CONTRACT COMPLIANCE AUDIT 

On at least an annual basis, an internal audit will be performed by the PCC to ensure all procurements 
comply with Skagit Transit’s policies and procedures. All personnel responsible for initiating 
procurements will maintain adequate documentation to demonstrate compliance with policies and 
procedures. In addition to reviewing individual procurements the audit will analyze procurements to 
verify procurement splitting is not occurring. 

  

89



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 57 of 93 

ARTICLE 11 DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION 

11-101 AUTHORITY TO DEBAR OR SUSPEND 

After consultation with legal counsel the Chief Executive Officer or Manager of Finance and 
Administration is authorized to debar or suspend a person or firm from consideration for award of 
Skagit Transit contracts if there is probable cause to believe that the person or firm has engaged in 
any activity that might lead to debarment or suspension. The debarment shall not be for a period of 
more than 3 years. The suspension shall not be for a period exceeding 3months. 

The causes for debarment include: 

1. Conviction for commission of a criminal offense as an incident to obtaining 
or attempting to obtain a public or private contract or subcontract, or in the 
performance of such contract or subcontract; 

2. Conviction under state and federal statues of embezzlement, theft, forgery, 
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, receiving stolen property, or 
any other offense indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty 
which currently, seriously, and directly affects responsibility as a Skagit 
Transit contractor, 

3. Conviction under state or federal antitrust statutes arising out of the 
submission of bids or proposals; 

4. Violation of contract provision, as set forth below, of a character which is 
regarded by the Chief Executive Officer or Manager of Finance and 
Administration to be so serious as to justify debasement action: 

a. Deliberate failure without good cause to perform in accordance with 
the specifications or within the time limit provided in the contract; or 

b. A recent record of failure to perform or of unsatisfactory performance 
in accordance with the terms of one or more contracts; provided that 
failure to perform or unsatisfactory performance caused by acts 
beyond the control of the contractor shall not be considered to be a 
basis for debarment. 

5. Any other cause the Chief Executive Officer or Manager of Finance and 
Administration determines to be so serious and compelling as to affect 
responsibility as Skagit Transit contractor, including debarment by another 
governmental entity for any cause listed in the Policy; and 

6. For violation of the ethical standards set forth in Article 3 (Ethics in Public 
Contracting). 

 

 

90



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 58 of 93 

11-102 DECISION TO DEBAR OR SUSPEND

The Chief Executive Officer shall issue a written decision to debar or suspend. The decision shall 
state the reason for the action taken and inform the debarred or suspended person or firm involved 
of its right concerning judicial or administrative review. 

11-103 NOTICE OF DECISION

A copy of the decision required by Section 12-102 (decision to debar or suspend) shall be mailed or 
otherwise furnished immediately to the debarred or suspended person or firm. 

11-104 FINALITY OF DECISION

A decision under section 12-102 (decision to debar or Suspend) shall be final and conclusive, unless 
fraudulent, or the debarred or suspended person within 10 days after receipt of the decision takes an 
appeal to the Skagit Transit Board of Directors or commences a timely action in court in accordance 
with applicable law. 

91



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 59 of 93 

ARTICLE 12 APPEALS AND REMEDIES 

PART A - BID PROTESTS 

12-101 RIGHT TO PROTEST 

Any actual or prospective bidder, offeror, or contractor who is aggrieved in connection with the 
solicitation or award of a contract due to a matter of law or procedural flaw may file a protest with 
the Chief Executive Officer, or designee. The written and signed notice of protest must address which 
law or procedure was not followed or violated, how it has affected the aggrieved, and describe the 
relief or corrective action desired. The protest letter shall be submitted in writing prior to the opening 
of bids or the closing date for proposals. If the aggrieved person did not know, and could not have 
known, of the facts giving rise to such protest prior to bid opening, or the closing date for receiving 
proposals, the protest shall be submitted within 16 hours after bid opening, or 2 full business days 
after the aggrieved person knows or could have known of the facts giving rise thereto. Upon timely 
submittal of a written Notice of Protest, the protest shall be handled as follows: 

1. A meeting(s) will be called within 5 business days from receipt of the protest 
that will include representatives from Skagit Transit and the Protestor to 
discuss the issue(s) related to the protest. The meeting may be conducted by 
telephone conference; 

2. A decision of the protest will be made by the Chief Executive Officer, or 
designee, within 7 business days of the final meeting. The Protestor shall be 
notified of the decision in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, or designee, 
by regular mail; 

3. The Chief Executive Officer, or designee, may, at his/her sole discretion, 
extend the limits of time outlined above; 

4. The decision of the Chief Executive Officer, or designee, shall be final unless 
appealed as provided herein; 

5. A request for reconsideration may be allowed if data becomes available that 
was not previously known or there has been an error of law or regulation. 

6. If the protester is not satisfied with the solution of the Chief Executive Officer, 
or designee, a written appeal may be filed with the Board of Directors. 
Appeals to the Board of Directors filed more than 5 Calendar Days following 
the receipt of the Chief Executive Officer, or designee’s, written 
determination will not be accepted. 

12-102 APPEALS 

Protestor may appeal the Chief Executive Officer, or designee’s, decision to the Skagit Transit Board 
of Directors by submitting a written Notice of Appeal to the Skagit Transit Board Chairperson within 
7 Calendar Days of receipt of the Chief Executive Officer, or designee’s, decision. The Chief 
Executive Officer, or designee’s, decision shall be deemed received within 3 days, exclusive of 
Sundays and holidays, of the date of posting of the decision or sooner in the event of actual receipt 

92



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 60 of 93 

of personal service or fax confirmation. The appeal shall be based solely upon the record before the 
Chief Executive Officer, or designee. A three-member committee of the Skagit Transit Board, as 
appointed by the Board, shall decide the appeal. Written argument must be submitted to the 
committee. The committee may affirm or reverse the decision of the Chief Executive Officer, or 
designee, or affirm or reverse the decision in part. The decision of the committee shall be final. 

12-103 STAY OF PROCUREMENTS DURING PROTESTS 

In the event of a timely protest under the Chief Executive Officer, or designee, Skagit Transit shall 
not proceed further with the solicitation or award of the contract until all administrative and judicial 
remedies have been exhausted or until the Board of Directors makes a determination on the record 
that the award of a contract without delay is necessary to protect substantial interests of Skagit 
Transit. 

12-104 ENTITLEMENT OF COSTS 

In addition to any other relief, when a protest is sustained and the protesting Bidder or Offeror should 
have been awarded the contract under the solicitation, but is not, then the incurred costs in connection 
with the solicitation, including bid preparation costs, other than attorney’s fees, shall be paid by 
Skagit Transit. 

PART B - CONTRACT CLAIMS 

12-201 DECISION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

All claims by a contractor against Skagit Transit relating to a contract, except bid protest, shall be 
submitted in writing to the Chief Executive Officer for a decision. Claims include, without limitation, 
controversies arising under a contract, and those based upon breach of contract, mistake, 
misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or revision. 

12-202 NOTICE TO THE CONTRACTOR OF THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER DECISION 

The decision of the Chief Executive Officer shall be promptly issued in writing and shall be 
immediately mailed or otherwise furnished to the Contractor. The decision shall state the reasons for 
the decision reached and shall inform the contractor of its appeal rights under Section 13-102 of this 
Article. 

12-203 FINALITY OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 
DECISION, CONTRACTOR’S RIGHT OF APPEAL 

The Chief Executive Officer’s decision shall be final and conclusive unless, within 7 Calendar Days 
from the date of receipt of the decision, Contractor mails or otherwise delivers a written appeal to 
the Skagit Transit Board of Directors, or commences an action in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

12-204 FAILURE TO RENDER TIMELY DECISION 

If the Chief Executive Officer does not issue a written decision regarding any contract controversy 
within 7 days after written request for a final decision, or within such longer period as may be agreed 
upon between the Parties, then the aggrieved party may proceed as if any adverse decision had been 
received. 

93



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 61 of 93 

PART C - REMEDIES FOR SOLICITATION OR AWARDS IN VIOLATION 
OF LAW 

12-301 PRIOR TO BID OPENING OR CLOSING DATE FOR
RECEIPT OF PROPOSALS 

If prior to bid opening or the closing date for receipt of proposals, and after consultation with legal 
counsel, the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator determines that a solicitation is in violation of 
federal, State and municipal law, then the solicitation shall be canceled or revised to comply with 
applicable law. 

12-302 PRE-AWARD

If after bid opening or the closing date for receipt of proposals, and after consultation with legal 
counsel, the Procurement and Contracts Coordinator determines that a solicitation or a bid/proposal 
selected for award is in violation of federal, State or municipal law, then the solicitation or proposed 
award shall be canceled. 

12-303 POST-AWARD

If after an award, and after consultation with legal counsel, the Procurement and Contracts 
Coordinator determines that an awarded contract was in violation of applicable law, then: 

1. If the Contractor has not acted fraudulently or in bad faith:

a. The contract may be ratified and affirmed, provided it is determined
that so doing is in the best interest of Skagit Transit, or

b. The contract may be terminated and the Contractor shall be
compensated for the actual expenses reasonably incurred under the
contract, plus a reasonable profit, prior to termination.

2. If the Contractor has acted fraudulently or in bad faith, the contract may be
declared null and void if such action is in the best interests of Skagit Transit.

94



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 62 of 93 

ARTICLE 13 - ASSISTANCE TO SMALL AND MINORITY 

AND WOMEN’S BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

13-101 SOLICITATION OF SMALL AND MINORITY AND 
WOMEN’S BUSINESSES 

The Manager of Finance and Administration and Procurement and Contracts Coordinator shall 
implement procedures to seek involvement by Small and Minority and Women’s Business 
Enterprises, irrespective of whether they qualify as DBEs, in Skagit Transit procurement processes 
to the fullest extent practicable. 

Examples of procedures that may achieve that involvement may include: 

1. Including qualified small, women-owned, and minority businesses on 
solicitation lists; 

2. Assuring that small, women-owned, and minority businesses are solicited 
whenever they are potential sources; 

3. When economically feasible, dividing total requirements into small tasks or 
quantities so as to permit maximum small, women-owned, and minority 
business participation; 

4. Where the requirement permits, establishing delivery schedules which will 
encourage participation by small, women-owned, and minority businesses. 

5. Using the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and 
the Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; 
and 

6. Requiring the prime contractor, if subcontracts are to be let, to take the 
affirmative steps listed in subparagraphs (1) through (5) above. 

 

ARTICLE 14 - DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS 

ENTERPRISES 

See separate DBE Policy and Program. 

 

  

95



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 63 of 93 

ARTICLE 15 - SKAGIT TRANSIT ISSUED 

PROCUREMENT CARD 

The Skagit Transit Procurement Card (P-Card) program is designed to improve efficiency in 
processing purchases from suppliers, including online suppliers in approved categories and generally 
pre-approved Vendors. The use of P-Cards does not eliminate the cardholder's obligation to obtain 
quotes and required insurance or confirm a supplier’s status on any applicable convicted, suspended, 
or debarred supplier lists as required by policy.  

P-Cards will only be approved for those employees who have a specific responsibility or need 
requiring a P-Card. The Department head must approve all requests for new P-Cards or changes to a 
current P-Card holder account. P-Cards will be issued to individuals and will bear the name of the 
individual cardholder and Skagit Transit. All P-Card holders will be required to attend training on 
the proper care and use of the P-Card prior to receipt of their P-Card. P-Card holders will be held 
responsible for the appropriate and acceptable use of the P-Card in accordance with this Policy, 
associated procedures, and other applicable rules, laws, codes, and standards. 

  

96



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 64 of 93 

EXHIBIT A 

FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS AND STATE LAW 

1. Conformance with Federal Requirements. The formation of contracts shall conform to the Federal 
Transit Administration’s (FTA) Third Party Contracting Guidance, Exhibit C, as contained in FTA 
Circular 4220.1G, and applicable Washington State law, whichever is more stringent. Any 
subsequent changes or amendments to either the Circular or State law after the effective date of this 
Procurement Policy shall be incorporated into said Policy by this reference. 

 The procurement rules dispersed throughout this Policy are extracted from, or fashioned after, FTA 
Circular 4220.1G, Third Party Contracting Guidance, and the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
43.19. 

 The aforementioned Circular applies to all FTA grantees and sub-grantees that contract with outside 
sources under FTA-assisted programs. This Circular sets forth the requirements that Skagit Transit, 
as a grantee, must adhere to in the solicitation, award, and administration of its FTA-assisted third-
party contracts. 

 If a grantee accepts FTA operating assistance, the requirements of this Circular apply to all transit-
related third-party Purchase Orders and contracts awarded with only that portion of operating funds 
specifically allocated to the property or services being procured. These requirements do not apply to 
procurements undertaken in support of capital or non-capital projects completely accomplished 
without FTA funds, or to those operating and planning contracts awarded by grantees that do not 
receive FTA operating and planning assistance. 

2. Conformance with State and Local Law. Skagit Transit shall use its own procurement procedures that 
reflect applicable State and local laws and regulations, provided that the procurements conform to 
applicable federal law, including the requirements and standards identified in FTA Circular 4220.1G. 

3. Self-Certification. The FTA intends to rely primarily on grantees' "self-certifications" that their 
procurement system meets FTA requirements to support the required finding that a grantee has the 
technical capacity to comply with Federal procurement requirements. Consequently, the Chief 
Executive Officer must self-certify Skagit Transit’s procurement system in the FTA Annual 
Certification/Assurance Process when applying for grants. The FTA will monitor compliance as part 
of its routine oversight responsibilities. 

 

Note:  All Federal and State Law requirements will be followed as they are applicable at the time of 
the procurement.  The references and provided Federal and State Clauses within this document are 
intended to be place holders.  The most up to date Clauses will be kept in an operational working 
version and shall be referenced as the authority document for those items.  Exhibit A and C incorporate 
by reference only as applicable. 
  

97



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 65 of 93 

EXHIBIT B REQUISITION REQUIREMENTS 

1. REQUISITION APPROVALS 
Requisitions are required for ALL purchases, unless exempted by the Chief 
Executive Officer or Manager of Finance and Administration on an annually 
approved “Requisition Exemption List”. 
 

Dollar Amount of 
TOTAL Purchase 

Method of Procurement Purchase Order Required Approvals 

    

Under$50,000 

No quotes needed; 
documentation of Fair 

and Reasonable price or 
vendor rotation required 

As Needed Department Manager 

    

$50,000-$150,000 
3 Written Quotes (i.e. 

RFQ) **Yes 
Department Manager + 
Chief Executive Officer 

    

Over $150,001 
Formal Bid Process (i.e. 

IFB/RFP) **Yes Full Board of Directors 

** Except for when a written contract is already in place, or the Vendor is on the Requisition 
Exemption List, or where monthly billings occur for services (i.e. utilities) which cannot be 
reasonably estimated prior to the purchase (See Article 8-201). 

2. CAPITAL PURCHASE 

Definition: A tangible and individual fixed asset valued at $5,000 or more (including 
tax, set- up and freight) with a useful life of in excess of one year. 

a. Capital purchases must be specifically contained in the annual budget 
and may not be added during the budget year except by budget 
revision approved by the Board of Directors. 

b. All capital purchases must be approved by the Manager of Finance 
and Administration prior to purchase. 

3. ASSET 

Definition: Any non-consumable attractive and theft-sensitive item, tangible in nature 
and possessing a physical substance, costing between $100 and $4,999, or any 
capital item. 

a. Assets must be tracked in inventory and assigned a unique 
identification number by either tagging or etching. 

98



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 66 of 93 

EXHIBIT C - FTA THIRD PARTY CLAUSES 
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) REQUIRED CLAUSES APPLICABILITY OF THIRD-PARTY CONTRACT 

PROVISIONS (Excluding micro-purchases, except Davis-Bacon requirements at $3,000) 

TYPE OF PROCUREMENT 

PROVISION 
Professional 
Services/A&

E 

Operations/ 
Management 

Rolling 
Stock 

Purchase 
Construction 

Materials & 
Supplies 

Access to Third Party Contract 
Records 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

ADA Access A&E ALL ALL ALL ALL 
Bond Requirements >$250,000 
Bus Testing ALL 
Buy America Requirements >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 
Cargo Preference 
Requirements 

Transport 
by ocean 
vessel. 

Transport by 
ocean vessel. 

Transport by 
ocean vessel. 

Changes to Federal 
Requirements 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Charter Service ALL 
Civil Rights Laws and 
Regulations 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Civil Rights and Equal 
Opportunity 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Clean Air and Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act 

>$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 >$150,000 

Conformance with ITS 
National Architecture 

ITS projects. ITS projects. 
ITS 

projects. 
ITS projects. ITS projects. 

Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act 

>$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000 

Davis-Bacon and Copeland 
Anti-Kickback Act 

>$2,000 

Debarment and Suspension >$3,000 >$3,000 >$3,000 >$3,000 >$3,000 
Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises (DBEs) 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Drug Use and Alcohol 
Program 

Transit 
operations. 

Energy Conservation ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 
Equal Employment 
Opportunity 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

False Statements or Claims – 
Civil and Criminal Fraud 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Federal Tax Liability and 
Recent Felony Convictions 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Fly America 
Foreign air 

transp. / travel 
Foreign air 

transp. / travel 

Foreign air 
transp. / 
travel 

Foreign air 
transp. / travel 

Foreign air 
transp. / travel 

Incorporation of FTA Terms ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 
No Federal Obligations to 
Third Parties 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Notice to FTA and U.S. DOT 
Inspector General of 
Information Related to Fraud, 
Waste, etc. 

>$25,000 for 
prime and 

subs. 

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs. 

>$25,000 
for prime 
and subs. 

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs. 

>$25,000 for 
prime and subs. 

99



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 67 of 93 

 TYPE OF PROCUREMENT 

PROVISION 
Professional 
Services/A&

E 

Operations/ 
Management 

Rolling 
Stock 

Purchase 
Construction 

Materials & 
Supplies 

Patent Rights and Rights in 
Data 

R&D     

Pre-Award and Post-Delivery 
Audits of Rolling Stock 
Purchases 

  ALL   

Prohibition on Certain 
Telecommunications and 
Video Surveillance Services or 
Equipment 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Prompt Payment ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 
Public Transportation 
Employee Protective 
Arrangements 

 
Transit 

operations. 
   

Recycled Products 

 

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more 
annually. 

 

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more 
annually. 

EPA-selected 
items $10,000 

or more 
annually. 

Resolution of Disputes, 
Breaches, or Other Litigation 

>$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000 >$250,000 

Restrictions on Lobbying >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 >$100,000 
Safe Operation of Motor 
Vehicles 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

School Bus Operations  ALL    
Seismic Safety A&E for new 

buildings & 
additions. 

  
New buildings 
& additions. 

 

Severability ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 
Solid Wastes (Recovered 
Materials) 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Special DOL EEO Clause for 
Construction Projects 

   >$10,000  

Termination >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000 >$10,000 
Trafficking in Persons ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 
Veterans Hiring Preference    >$150,000  
Violation and Breach of 
Contract 

ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL 

100



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 68 of 93 

33.00 REQUIRED FEDERAL CLAUSES 

This Contract is funded in whole or in part with federal operating funds; therefore, the following Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) contract clauses are incorporated herein. The FTA required terms, authorized 
by Federal transit laws, 49 U.S.C. chapter 53, are not negotiable and must be included in any subcontracts 
awarded by the Contractor unless specified otherwise. This section has been updated in accordance with the 
Third Party Contracting Guidance Circular 4220.1G, which can be referenced by clicking on the embedded 
link.   

33.01 ACCESS TO THIRD PARTY CONTRACT RECORDS 

a) Record Retention. The Contractor will retain and will require its subcontractors of all tiers to retain,
complete and readily accessible records related in whole or in part to the contract, including, but not
limited to, data, documents, reports, statistics, leases, subcontracts, arrangements, other third-party
Contracts of any type, and supporting materials related to those records.

b) Retention Period. The Contractor agrees to comply with the record retention requirements in
accordance with 2 C.F.R. §200.334. The Contractor shall maintain all books, records, accounts and
reports required under this Contract for a period of at not less than three (3) years after the date of
termination or expiration of this Contract, except in the event of litigation or settlement of claims
arising from the performance of this Contract, in which case records shall be maintained until the
disposition of all such litigation, appeals, claims or exceptions related thereto.

c) Access to Records. The Contractor agrees to provide sufficient access to FTA and its contractors to
inspect and audit records and information, including such records and information the contractor or its
subcontractors may regard as confidential or proprietary, related to performance of this contract in
accordance with 2 CFR § 200.337.

d) Access to the Sites of Performance. The Contractor agrees to permit FTA and its contractors’ access
to the sites of performance under this contract in accordance with 2 CFR § 200.337.

33.02 ADA ACCESS 

The Recipient agrees to comply with the following federal prohibitions against discrimination based on 
disability: 

a) Federal laws, including:

i. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, which prohibits
discrimination based on disability in the administration of federally assisted Programs, Projects,
or activities;

ii. The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.,
which requires that accessible facilities and services be made available to individuals with
disabilities:

1) For FTA Recipients generally, Titles I, II, and III of the ADA apply; but

2) For Indian Tribes, Titles II and III of the ADA apply, but Title I of the ADA does not apply
because it exempts Indian Tribes from the definition of “employer;”

iii. The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq., which requires
that buildings and public accommodations be accessible to individuals with disabilities;

101



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 69 of 93 

iv. Federal transit law, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, which now includes disability as a prohibited 
basis for discrimination; and 

v. Other applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements pertaining to access for seniors or 
individuals with disabilities. 

b) Federal regulations and guidance, including: 

vi. U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities (ADA),” 49 
C.F.R. part 37; 

vii. U.S. DOT regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs and 
Activities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. part 27; 

viii. Joint U.S. Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board (U.S. ATBCB) and 
U.S. DOT regulations, “Americans with Disabilities (ADA) Accessibility Specifications for 
Transportation Vehicles,” 36 C.F.R. part 1192 and 49 C.F.R. part 38; 

ix. U.S. DOT regulations, “Transportation for Individuals with Disabilities: Passenger Vessels,” 
49 C.F.R. part 39; 

x. U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in State and Local 
Government Services,” 28 C.F.R. part 35; 

xi. U.S. DOJ regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public 
Accommodations and in Commercial Facilities,” 28 C.F.R. part 36; 

xii. U.S. EEOC, “Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act,” 29C.F.R. part 1630; 

xiii. U.S. Federal Communications Commission regulations, “Telecommunications Relay Services 
and Related Customer Premises Equipment for Persons with Disabilities,” 47 C.F.R. part 64, 
subpart F; 

xiv. U.S. ATBCB regulations, “Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility Standards,” 
36 C.F.R. part 1194; 

xv. FTA regulations, “Transportation for Elderly and Handicapped Persons,” 49 C.F.R. part 609; 

xvi. FTA Circular 4710.1, “Americans with Disabilities Act: Guidance;” and 

xvii. Other applicable federal civil rights and nondiscrimination regulations and guidance. 

 

33.03 BOND REQUIREMENTS 

The Federal Skagit Transit or pass-through entity may accept the recipient’s or subrecipient’s bonding policy 
and requirements for construction or facility improvement contracts or subcontracts exceeding the simplified 
acquisition threshold. Before doing so, the Skagit Transit or pass-through entity must determine that the 
Federal interest is adequately protected. If such a determination has not been made, the minimum requirements 
must be as follows: 

a) A bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to five percent of the bid price. The bid guarantee must 
consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, or other negotiable instrument 

102



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 70 of 93 

accompanying a bid as assurance that the bidder will, upon acceptance of the bid, execute any required 
contractual documents within the specified timeframe. 

b) A performance bond on the contractor’s part for 100 percent of the contract price. A performance
bond is a bond executed in connection with a contract to secure the fulfillment of all the contractor's
requirements under a contract.

c) A payment bond on the contractor’s part for 100 percent of the contract price. A payment bond is a
bond executed in connection with a contract to assure payment as required by the law of all persons
supplying labor and material in the execution of the work provided for under a contract.

It is also understood and agreed that if the bidder should withdraw any part or all of their bid 
within [90] days after the bid opening without the written consent of the Skagit Transit, or refuse or 
be unable to enter into this Contract as provided above, or refuse or be unable to furnish adequate and 
acceptable Performance and Payment Bonds, or refuse or be unable to furnish adequate and acceptable 
insurance, as provided above, it shall forfeit its bid guaranty to the extent Skagit Transit’s damages 
occasioned by such withdrawal, or refusal, or inability to enter into a Contract, or provide adequate 
security thereof. 

It is further understood and agreed that to the extent the defaulting bidder's bid guaranty shall 
prove inadequate to fully recompense Skagit Transit for the damages occasioned by default, then the 
bidder agrees to indemnify Skagit Transit and pay over to Skagit Transit the difference between the 
bid guarantee and Skagit Transit’s total damages so as to make Skagit Transit whole. 

The bidder understands that any material alteration of any of the above or any of the material 
contained herein, other than that requested will render the bid unresponsive. 

a) Performance Guarantee. A Performance Guarantee in the amount of 100% of the Contract value is
required by Skagit Transit to ensure faithful performance of the Contract. Either a Performance Bond
or an Irrevocable Stand-By Letter of Credit shall be provided by the Contractor and shall remain in
full force for the term of the Contract. The successful Bidder shall certify that it will provide the
requisite Performance Guarantee to the Skagit Transit within ten (10) business days from Contract
execution. The Skagit Transit requires all Performance Bonds to be provided by a fully qualified surety
company acceptable to the Skagit Transit and listed as a company currently authorized under 31 C.F.R.
part 22 as possessing a Certificate of Authority as described hereunder. Skagit Transit may require
additional performance bond protection when the contract price is increased. The increase in
protection shall generally equal 100 percent of the increase in contract price. Skagit Transit may secure
additional protection by directing the Contractor to increase the amount of the existing bond or to
obtain an additional bond.

i. If the Bidder chooses to provide a Letter of Credit as its Performance Guarantee, the Bidder
shall furnish with its bid, certification that an Irrevocable Stand-By Letter of Credit will be
furnished should the Bidder become the successful Contractor. The Bidder shall also provide
a statement from the banking institution certifying that an Irrevocable Stand-By Letter of
Credit for the action will be provided if the Contract is awarded to the Bidder. The Irrevocable
Stand- By Letter of Credit will only be accepted by the Skagit Transit if:

● A bank in good standing issues it. Skagit Transit will not accept a Letter of Credit from
an entity other than a bank.

● It is in writing and signed by the issuing bank.

● It conspicuously states that it is an irrevocable, non-transferable, “standby” Letter of
Credit.

● The Skagit Transit is identified as the Beneficiary.

103



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 71 of 93 

● It is in an amount equal to 100% of the Contract value. This amount must be in U.S.
dollars.

● The effective date of the Letter of Credit is the same as the effective date of the Contract.

● The expiration date of the Letter of Credit coincides with the term of the contract.

● It indicates that it is being issued in order to support the obligation of the Contractor to
perform under the Contract. It must specifically reference the Contract between the
Skagit Transit and the Contractor the work stipulated herein.

ii. The issuing bank’s obligation to pay will arise upon the presentation of the original Letter of
Credit and a certificate and draft to the issuing bank’s representative at a location and time to
be determined by the parties. This documentation will indicate that the Contractor is in default
under the Contract.

b) Payment Bonds. A Labor and Materials Payment Bond equal to the full value of the contract must be
furnished by the contractor to Skagit Transit as security for payment by the Contractor and
subcontractors for labor, materials, and rental of equipment. The bond may be issued by a fully
qualified surety company acceptable to (Skagit Transit) and listed as a company currently authorized
under 31C.F.R. part 223 as possessing a Certificate of Authority as described thereunder.

33.04 BUS TESTING 

The Contractor [Manufacturer] agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. A 5323(c) and FTA's implementing regulation 
at 49 CFR 665 and shall perform the following: 

a) A manufacturer of a new bus model or a bus produced with a major change in components or
configuration shall provide a copy of the final test report to the recipient at a point in the procurement
process specified by the recipient which will be prior to the recipient's final acceptance of the first
vehicle.

b) A manufacturer who releases a report under paragraph 1 above shall provide notice to the operator of
the testing facility that the report is available to the public.

c) If the manufacturer represents that the vehicle was previously tested, the vehicle being sold should
have the identical configuration and major components as the vehicle in the test report, which must be
provided to the recipient prior to recipient's final acceptance of the first vehicle. If the configuration
or components are not identical, the manufacturer shall provide a description of the change and the
manufacturer's basis for concluding that it is not a major change requiring additional testing.

d) If the manufacturer represents that the vehicle is "grandfathered" (has been used in mass transit service
in the United States before October 1, 1988, and is currently being produced without a major change
in configuration or components), the manufacturer shall provide the name and address of the recipient
of such a vehicle and the details of that vehicle's configuration and major components.

33.05 BUY AMERICA REQUIREMENTS 

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j) and 49 C.F.R. part 661 and 2 CFR §200.322 Domestic 
preferences for procurements, which provide that Federal funds may not be obligated unless all steel, iron, and 
manufactured products used in FTA funded projects are produced in the United States, unless a waiver has 
been granted by FTA or the product is subject to a general waiver. General waivers are listed in 49 C.F.R. § 
661.7. 

a) Build America, Buy America Act. Construction materials used in the Project are subject to the
domestic preference requirement of the Build America, Buy America Act, Pub. L. 117-58, div. G, tit.

104



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 72 of 93 

IX, §§ 70911 – 70927 (2021), as implemented by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s “Buy 
America Preferences for Infrastructure Projects,” 2 CFR Part 184. The Recipient acknowledges that 
this agreement is neither a waiver of § 70914(a) nor a finding under § 70914(b). In accordance with 2 
CFR § 184.2(a), the Recipient shall apply the standards of 49 CFR Part 661 to iron, steel, and 
manufactured products. 

b) Separate requirements for rolling stock are set out at 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C), 49 U.S.C. § 5323(u)
and 49 C.F.R. § 661.11. Domestic preferences for procurements.

The bidder or offeror must submit to Skagit Transit the appropriate Buy America certification. 
Bids or offers that are not accompanied by a completed Buy America certification will be rejected as 
nonresponsive. For more information, please see the FTA’s Buy America webpage at: 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/buyamerica 

33.06 CARGO PREFERENCE REQUIREMENTS 

The contractor agrees: 

a) To use privately owned United States-Flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50 percent of any
equipment, materials or commodities procured, contracted for or otherwise obtained with funds
granted, guaranteed, loaned, or advanced by the U.S. Government under this agreement, and which
may be transported by ocean vessel, shall be transported on privately owned United States-flag
commercial vessels, if available. 46 U.S.C. § 55305, and U.S. Maritime Administration regulations,
“Cargo Preference – U.S.-Flag Vessels,” 46 CFR Part 381.

b) To furnish within 20 days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United
States or within 30 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the
United States, a legible copy of a rated, ‘on-board’ commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for
each shipment of cargo described in 46 CFR § 381.7(a)(1) shall be furnished to both the recipient
(through the prime contractor in the case of subcontractor bills-of-lading) and to the Division of
National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, Washington, DC 20590;
and

c) To include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this contract when the subcontract
may involve the transport of equipment, material, or commodities by ocean vessel.

33.07 CHANGES TO FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Federal requirements that apply to the Recipient or the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and 
any Amendments thereto may change due to changes in federal law, regulation, other requirements, or 
guidance, or changes in the Recipient’s Underlying Agreement including any information incorporated by 
reference and made part of that Underlying Agreement; and Applicable changes to those federal requirements 
will apply to each Third-Party Agreement and parties thereto at any tier. 

33.08 CHARTER SERVICE 

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d), 5323(r), and 49 C.F.R. part 604, which provides that 
Recipients and subrecipients of FTA assistance are prohibited from providing charter service using federally 
funded equipment or facilities if there is at least one private charter operator willing and able to provide the 
service, except as permitted under: 

a) Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(d);

i. FTA regulations, “Charter Service,” 49 C.F.R. part 604;

ii. Any other federal Charter Service regulations; or

105



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 73 of 93 

iii. Federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing.

b) The contractor agrees that if it engages in a pattern of violations of FTA’s Charter Service regulations,
FTA may require corrective measures or impose remedies on it. These corrective measures and
remedies may include:

i. Barring it or any subcontractor operating public transportation under its Award that has
provided prohibited charter service from receiving federal assistance from FTA;

ii. Withholding an amount of federal assistance as provided by Appendix D to part 604 of FTA’s
Charter Service regulations; or

iii. Any other appropriate remedy that may apply.

The contractor should also include the substance of this clause in each subcontract that may
involve operating public transit services.

33.09 CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

The following Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations apply to all contracts. 

The Contractor and any subcontractor agree to comply with all the requirements prohibiting discrimination on 
the basis of race, color, or national origin of the Title VI of the Civil Rights Action of 1964, as amended 52 
U.S.C 2000d, and U.S. DOT regulation “Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department 
of Transportation – Effectuation of the Title VI of the Civil rights Act, “49 C.F. R. Part 21 and any 
implementing requirement FTA may issue. 

a) Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements. These include, but are not limited
to:

i. Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs. 49 U.S.C. § 5332,
covering projects, programs, and activities financed under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex (including sexual
orientation and gender identity), disability, or age, and prohibits discrimination in employment
or business opportunity.

ii. Prohibition against Employee Discrimination. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal Employment
Opportunity,” September 24, 1965, as amended, prohibit discrimination in employment on the
basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.

b) Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended,
20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and implementing Federal regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of
Sex in Education Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. part 25
prohibit discrimination on the basis of sex.

c) Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age. The “Age Discrimination Act of 1975,” as amended, 42
U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., and Department of Health and Human Services implementing regulations,
“Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial
Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, prohibit discrimination by participants in federally assisted programs
against individuals on the basis of age. The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), 29
U.S.C.§ 621 et seq., and Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) implementing
regulations, “Age Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, also prohibit employment
discrimination against individuals aged 40 and over on the basis of age.

106



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 74 of 93 

d) Federal Protections for Individuals with Disabilities. The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 
as amended (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., prohibits discrimination against qualified individuals 
with disabilities in programs, activities, and services, and imposes specific requirements on public and 
private entities. Third party contractors must comply with their responsibilities under Titles I, II, III, 
IV, and V of the ADA in employment, public services, public accommodations, telecommunications, 
and other provisions, many of which are subject to regulations issued by other Federal agencies. 

33.10 CIVIL RIGHTS AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

Skagit Transit is an Equal Opportunity Employer. As such, Skagit Transit agrees to comply with all applicable 
Federal civil rights laws and implemented regulations. Apart from inconsistent requirements imposed by 
Federal laws or regulations, the Skagit Transit agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(h) 
(3) by not using any Federal assistance awarded by FTA to support procurements using exclusionary or 
discriminatory specifications. Under this Contract, the Contractor shall at all times comply with the following 
requirements and shall include these requirements in each subcontract entered into as part thereof. 

a) Nondiscrimination. In accordance with Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees 
that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, 
religion, national origin, sex, disability, or age. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with 
applicable Federal implementing regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

b) Race, Color, Religion, National Origin, Sex. In accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 
as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor 
agrees to comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S. Department 
of Labor (U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal 
Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and Executive Order No. 
11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal Employment," September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 
2000e note, as amended by any later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 
U.S.C. § 2000e note. The Contractor agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are 
employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, 
religion, national origin, or sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity). Such action shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, promotion, demotion or transfer, 
recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. In addition, the Contractor agrees 
to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

c) Age. In accordance with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621- 634, U.S. 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations, “Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 6101 et seq., U.S. Health and Human Services regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age 
in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, and Federal 
transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees to refrain from discrimination against present 
and prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any 
Implementing requirements FTA may issue. 

d) Disabilities. In accordance with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. 
§ 794, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., the 
Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq., and Federal transit law at 
49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against individuals on the basis 
of disability. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA 
may issue. 

e) Promoting Free Speech and Religious Liberty. The Contractor shall ensure that Federal funding is 
expended in full accordance with the U.S. Constitution, Federal Law, and statutory and public policy 
requirements: including, but not limited to, those protecting free speech, religious liberty, public 
welfare, the environment, and prohibiting discrimination. 

107



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 75 of 93 

33.11 CLEAN AIR ACT AND FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued pursuant to the 
Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1251-1387). Violations must be reported to FTA and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection 
Skagit Transit. The following applies for contracts of amounts in excess of $150,000: 

a) Clean Air Act 

i. The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

ii. The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Skagit Transit and understands and agrees 
that the Skagit Transit will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to 
the Skagit Transit, Federal Emergency Management Skagit Transit, and the appropriate 
Environmental Protection Skagit Transit Regional Office. 

iii. The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 
financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

b) Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

i. The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 
pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 

ii. The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Skagit Transit and understands and agrees 
that the Skagit Transit will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to 
the Skagit Transit, Federal Emergency Management Skagit Transit, and the appropriate 
Environmental Protection Skagit Transit Regional Office. 

iii. The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 
financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.” 

33.12 CONFORMANCE WITH ITS NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE 

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) projects shall conform to the National ITS Architecture and standards 
pursuant to 23 CFR§ 940. Conformance with the National ITS Architecture is interpreted to mean the use of 
the National ITS Architecture to develop a regional ITS architecture in support of integration and the 
subsequent adherence of all ITS projects to that regional ITS architecture. Development of the regional ITS 
architecture should be consistent with the transportation planning process for Statewide and Metropolitan 
Transportation Planning (49 CFR Part 613 and 621). 

33.13 CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

This requirement applies to all FTA grant and cooperative agreement programs. 

a) Where applicable (see 40 U.S.C. § 3701), all contracts awarded by the non-Federal entity in excess of 
$100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for 
compliance with 40 U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations 
at 29 C.F.R. Part 5. See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II. 

b) Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of every mechanic 
and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work 
week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half 
times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week. 

108



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 76 of 93 

c) The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer
or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are
unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or
materials or articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or
transmission of intelligence.

d) The regulation at 29 C.F.R. § 5.5(b) provides the required contract clause concerning compliance with
the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act:

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. 

i. Overtime Requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the
contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall
require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is
employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer
or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one- half times the basic
rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.

ii. Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the
clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor
responsible therefor shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and
subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of work done under contract for
the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated
damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer
or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in
paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual
was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without
payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section.

iii. Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The Skagit Transit shall upon its
own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor
withhold or cause to be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by
the contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal contract with the
same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work
Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums as
may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor
for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2)
of this section.

iv. Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set
forth in paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors
to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be
responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses
set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this section.”

33.14 DAVIS BACON AND COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACT 

For all prime construction, alteration or repair contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by FTA, the Contractor 
shall comply with the Davis-Bacon Act and the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act. Under 49 U.S.C. § 5333(a), 
prevailing wage protections apply to laborers and mechanics employed on FTA assisted construction, 
alteration, or repair projects. The Contractor will comply with the Davis- Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144, 
and 3146-3148 as supplemented by DOL regulations at 29 C.F.R. part 5, “Labor Standards Provisions 
Applicable to Contracts Governing Federally Financed and Assisted Construction.” In accordance with the 
statute, the Contractor shall pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages 
specified in a wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, the Contractor agrees to pay 
wages not less than once a week. The Contractor shall also comply with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act 

109



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 77 of 93 

(40 U.S.C. § 3145), as supplemented by DOL regulations at 29 C.F.R. part 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors 
on Public Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in part by Loans or Grants from the United States.” 
The Contractor is prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction, 
completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the compensation to which he or she is otherwise 
entitled. 

33.15 DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION 

Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689). A covered transaction (see 2 C.F.R. §§ 
180.220 and 1200.220) must not be entered into with any party listed on the governmentwide exclusions in 
the System for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 C.F.R. 180 that 
implement Executive Orders 12549 (31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, 51 Fed. Reg. 6370,) and 12689 (31 U.S.C. § 6101 
note, 54 Fed. Reg. 34131), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties 
debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under statutory 
or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549. The Recipient agrees to include, and require each 
Third-Party Participant to include, a similar provision in each lower tier covered transaction, ensuring that 
each lower tier Third Party Participant: 

a) Complies with federal debarment and suspension requirements; and

b) Reviews the SAM at https://www.sam.gov, if necessary to comply with U.S. DOT regulations, 2 CFR
Part 1200.

33.16 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) 

It is the policy of the Skagit Transit and the United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) that 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (“DBE’s”), as defined herein and in the Federal regulations published at 
49 C.F.R. part 26, shall have an equal opportunity to participate in DOT-assisted contracts. 

The contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the 
performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26 in the 
award and administration of DOT- assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements 
is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy 
as the Skagit Transit deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to: 

a) Withholding monthly progress payments;

b) Assessing sanctions;

c) Liquidated damages; and/or

d) Disqualifying the contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 49 C.F.R. § 26.13(b).

Prime contractors are required to pay subcontractors for satisfactory performance of their 
contracts no later than 30 days from receipt of each payment the Skagit Transit makes to the prime 
contractor. 49 C.F.R. § 26.29(a). 

Finally, for contracts with defined DBE contract goals, the contractor shall utilize the specific 
DBEs listed unless the contractor obtains the Skagit Transit’s written consent; and that, unless the 
Skagit Transit’s consent is provided, the contractor shall not be entitled to any payment for work or 
material unless it is performed or supplied by the listed DBE. 49 C.F.R. § 26.53(f) (1). 

33.17 DRUG USE AND ALCOHOL PROGRAM 

The contractor agrees to comply with a drug and alcohol program that has a third-party contractor(s) who 
perform safety sensitive functions must comply with FTA’s substance abuse management program under 49 

110



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 78 of 93 

C.F.R. part 655, “Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use in Transit Operations.” Under 49
C.F.R. § 655.4, Safety-sensitive function means any of the following duties, when performed by employees of
recipients, subrecipients, operators, or contractors: 1. Operating a revenue service vehicle, including when not
in revenue service; 2. Operating a nonrevenue service vehicle, when required to be operated by a holder of a
Commercial Driver's License; 3. Controlling dispatch or movement of a revenue service vehicle; 4.
Maintaining (including repairs, overhaul and rebuilding) a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in
revenue service. This section does not apply to the following: an employer who receives funding under 49
U.S.C. § 5307 or § 5309, is in an area less than 200,000 in population, and contracts out such services; or an
employer who receives funding under 49 U.S.C. § 5311 and contracts out such services; 5. Carrying a firearm
for security purposes. Additionally, third party contractors providing testing services involving the
performance of safety sensitive activities must also comply with 49 C.F.R. part 40, “Procedures for
Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs.”

33.18 ENERGY CONSERVATION 

The contractor agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency, which 
are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act (42 U.S.C.§ 6201). 

33.19 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 

a) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of
race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin. The contractor will
take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during
employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or
national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, upgrading,
demotion, or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or
other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor
agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices
to be provided by the contracting officer setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.

b) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the
contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard
to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin.

c) The contractor will not discharge or in any other manner discriminate against any employee or
applicant for employment because such employee or applicant has inquired about, discussed, or
disclosed the compensation of the employee or applicant or another employee or applicant. This
provision shall not apply to instances in which an employee who has access to the compensation
information of other employees or applicants as a part of such employee's essential job functions
discloses the compensation of such other employees or applicants to individuals who do not otherwise
have access to such information, unless such disclosure is in response to a formal complaint or charge,
in furtherance of an investigation, proceeding, hearing, or action, including an investigation conducted
by the employer, or is consistent with the contractor's legal duty to furnish information.

d) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which it has a collective
bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided by the Skagit Transit
contracting officer, advising the labor union or workers' representative of the contractor's
commitments under section 202 of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and shall post
copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.

e) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and
of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.

111



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 79 of 93 

f) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant 
thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the contracting Skagit Transit 
and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, 
regulations, and orders. 

g) In the event of the contractor's non-compliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 
with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated or suspended 
in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts in 
accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such 
other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided 
by law. 

h) The contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (8) in every subcontract or 
purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued 
pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will 
be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The contractor will take such action with respect to any 
subcontract or purchase order as may be directed by the Secretary of Labor as a means of enforcing 
such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance: Provided, however, that in the event the 
contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a 
result of such direction, the contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to 
protect the interests of the United States. 

33.20 FALSE STATEMENTS OR CLAIMS 

a) Civil Fraud. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that: 

i. Federal laws, regulations, and requirements apply to itself and its Underlying Agreement, 
including the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et 
seq., and U.S. DOT regulations, “Program Fraud Civil Remedies,” 49 C.F.R. part 31. 

ii. By executing the Underlying Agreement, the Recipient certifies and affirms to the Federal 
Government the truthfulness and accuracy of any claim, statement, submission, certification, 
assurance, affirmation, or representation that the Recipient provides to the Federal 
Government. 

iii. The Federal Government may impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act 
of 1986, as amended, and other applicable penalties if the Recipient presents, submits, or 
makes available any false, fictitious, or fraudulent information. 

b) Criminal Fraud. The Recipient acknowledges that 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1) authorizes the Federal 
Government to impose the penalties under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 if the Recipient provides a false, fictitious, 
or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, certification, assurance, or representation in connection 
with a federal public transportation program under 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or any other applicable federal 
law. 

33.21 FEDERAL TAX LIABILITY AND RECENT FELONY CONVICTIONS 

a) The contractor certifies that it: 

i. Does not have any unpaid Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial 
and administrative remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not being paid in 
a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax 
liability; and 

112



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 80 of 93 

ii. Was not convicted of the felony criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 
24 months. 

iii. If the contractor cannot so certify, the Recipient will refer the matter to FTA and not enter into 
any Third-Party Agreement with the Third-Party Participant without FTA’s written approval. 

b) Flow-Down. The contractor shall flow this requirement down to participants at all lower tiers, without 
regard to the value of any sub agreement. 

33.22 FLY AMERICA 

a) Definitions. As used in this clause — 

i. “International air transportation” means transportation by air between a place in the United 
States and a place outside the United States or between two places both of which are outside 
the United States. 

ii. “United States” means the 50 States, the District of Columbia, and outlying areas. 

iii. “U.S.-flag air carrier” means an air carrier holding a certificate under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 411. 

b) When Federal funds are used to fund travel, Section 5 of the International Air Transportation Fair 
Competitive Practices Act of 1974 (49 U.S.C. 40118) (Fly America Act) requires contractors, 
Agencies, and others use U.S.-flag air carriers for U.S. Government-financed international air 
transportation of personnel (and their personal effects) or property, to the extent that service by those 
carriers is available. It requires the Comptroller General of the United States, in the absence of 
satisfactory proof of the necessity for foreign-flag air transportation, to disallow expenditures from 
funds, appropriated or otherwise established for the account of the United States, for international air 
transportation secured aboard a foreign-flag air carrier if a U.S.-flag air carrier is available to provide 
such services. 

c) If available, the Contractor, in performing work under this contract, shall use U.S.-flag carriers for 
international air transportation of personnel (and their personal effects) or property. 

d) In the event that the Contractor selects a carrier other than a U.S.-flag air carrier for international air 
transportation, the Contractor shall include a statement on vouchers involving such transportation 
essentially as follows: 

i. Statement of Unavailability of U.S.-Flag Air Carriers 

International air transportation of persons (and their personal effects) or property by U.S.-flag 
air carrier was not available or it was necessary to use foreign-flag air carrier service for the 
following reasons. See FAR § 47.403. [State reasons]: 

e) Contractor shall include the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (e), in each subcontract 
or purchase under this contract that may involve international air transportation. 

33.23 INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS 

The provisions within include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions required under the Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (2 CFR § 200), 
whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions required by 
DOT, detailed in 2 CFR § 200 or as amended by 2 CFR § 1201, or the most recent version of FTA Circular 
4220.1 are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all mandated 
terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Contract. The 

113



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 81 of 93 

Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any request which would 
cause a violation of the FTA terms and conditions. 

33.24 NO FEDERAL OBLIGATIONS TO THIRD PARTIES 

The Recipient and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal 
Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Contract, absent the express written 
consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this Contract and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, Contractor or any other party (whether or not a party 
to that contract) pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying Contract. The Contractor agrees to 
include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by 
the FTA. It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who 
will be subject to its provisions. 

33.25 NOTICE TO FTA AND U.S. DOT INSPECTOR GENERAL OF INFORMATION RELATED 
TO FRAUD, WASTE, ABUSE, OR OTHER LEGAL MATTERS 

If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal Government emerges, the Recipient must 
promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is 
located. The Recipient must include a similar notification requirement in its Third-Party Agreements and must 
require each Third-Party Participant to include an equivalent provision in its sub agreements at every tier, for 
any agreement that is a “covered transaction” according to 2 C.F.R. §§180.220 and 1200.220. 

a) The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major dispute,
breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation or a legal
disagreement in any forum for any reason.

b) Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal
Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any
Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government’s administration or enforcement of federal laws,
regulations, and requirements.

c) The Recipient must promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief
Counsel or Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located, if the Recipient has
knowledge of potential fraud, waste, or abuse occurring on a Project receiving assistance from FTA.
The notification provision applies if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under the False
Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has or may have committed a criminal or civil violation of
law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct.
This responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreement or another agreement
between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee, agent, or
Third-Party Participant of the Recipient. It also applies to subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as
used in this paragraph, includes, but is not limited to, knowledge of a criminal or civil investigation
by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or other investigative Skagit Transit, a criminal indictment
or civil complaint, or probable cause that could support a criminal indictment, or any other credible
information in the possession of the Recipient.

33.26 PATENT RIGHTS AND RIGHTS IN DATA 

Intellectual Property Rights. This Project is funded through a Federal award with FTA for experimental, 
developmental, or research work purposes. As such, certain Patent Rights and Data Rights apply to all subject 
data first produced in the performance of this Contract. The Contractor shall grant the Skagit Transit 
intellectual property access and licenses deemed necessary for the work performed under this Contract and in 
accordance with the requirements of 37 C.F.R. part 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit 
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” 
and any implementing regulations issued by FTA or U.S. DOT. 

114



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 82 of 93 

The terms of an intellectual property agreement and software license rights will be finalized prior to execution 
of this Contract and shall, at a minimum, include the following restrictions: 

a) Except for its own internal use, the Contractor may not publish or reproduce subject data in whole or
in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Contractor authorize others to do so, without the written
consent of FTA, until such time as FTA may have either released or approved the release of such data
to the public. This restriction on publication, however, does not apply to any contract with an academic
institution.

b) For purposes of this Contract, the term “subject data” means recorded information whether or not
copyrighted, and that is delivered or specified to be delivered as required by the Contract. Examples
of “subject data” include, but are not limited to computer software, standards, specifications,
engineering drawings and associated lists, process sheets, manuals, technical reports, catalog item
identifications, and related information, but do not include financial reports, cost analyses, or other
similar information used for performance or administration of the Contract.

i. The Federal Government reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable license to
reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use for “Federal Government
Purposes,” any subject data or copyright described below. For “Federal Government
Purposes,” means use only for the direct purposes of the Federal Government. Without the
copyright owner’s consent, the Federal Government may not extend its Federal license to any
other party.

● Any subject data developed under the Contract, whether or not a copyright has been
obtained; and

● Any rights of copyright purchased by the Contractor using Federal assistance in whole
or in part by the FTA.

ii. Unless FTA determines otherwise, the Contractor performing experimental, developmental,
or research work required as part of this Contract agrees to permit FTA to make available to
the public, either FTA’s license in the copyright to any subject data developed in the course
of the Contract, or a copy of the subject data first produced under the Contract for which a
copyright has not been obtained. If the experimental, developmental, or research work, which
is the subject of this Contract, is not completed for any reason whatsoever, all data developed
under the Contract shall become subject data as defined herein and shall be delivered as the
Federal Government may direct.

iii. Unless prohibited by state law, upon request by the Federal Government, the Contractor agrees
to indemnify, save, and hold harmless the Federal Government, its officers, agents, and
employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any liability, including costs
and expenses, resulting from any willful or intentional violation by the Contractor of
proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication, translation,
reproduction, delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under that contract. The
Contractor shall not be required to indemnify the Federal Government for any such liability
arising out of the wrongful act of any employee, official, or agents of the Federal Government.

iv. Nothing contained in this clause on rights in data shall imply a license to the Federal
Government under any patent or be construed as affecting the scope of any license or other
right otherwise granted to the Federal Government under any patent.

v. Data developed by the Contractor and financed entirely without using Federal assistance
provided by the Federal Government that has been incorporated into work required by the
underlying Contract is exempt from the requirements herein, provided that the Contractor
identifies those data in writing at the time of delivery of the Contract work.

115



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 83 of 93 

vi. The Contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract for experimental,
developmental, or research work financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance.

33.27 PRE-AWARD AND POST-DELIVERY AUDITS OF ROLLING STOCK PURCHASES 

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(m) and FTA's implementing regulation at 49 C.F.R. 
part 663. The Contractor shall comply with the Buy America certification(s) submitted with its proposal/bid. 
The Contractor agrees to participate and cooperate in any pre- award and post-delivery audits performed 
pursuant to 49 C.F.R. part 663 and related FTA guidance. 

33.28 PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 
SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT 

a) Recipients and subrecipients are prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant funds to:

i. Procure or obtain covered telecommunications equipment or services;

ii. Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain covered telecommunications equipment or
services; or

iii. Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain covered
telecommunications equipment or services.

b) As described in section 889 of Public Law 115-232, “covered telecommunications equipment or
services” means any of the following:

i. Telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE
Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities);

ii. For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security
surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance
and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation,
Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any
subsidiary or affiliate of such entities);

iii. Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such
equipment;

iv. Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by an
entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National
Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be
an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered
foreign country.

c) For the purposes of this section, “covered telecommunications equipment or services” also include
systems that use covered telecommunications equipment or services as a substantial or essential
component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any system.

d) In implementing the prohibition under section 889 of Public Law 115-232, heads of executive agencies
administering loan, grant, or subsidy programs must prioritize available funding and technical support
to assist affected businesses, institutions and organizations as is reasonably necessary for those
affected entities to transition from covered telecommunications equipment or services, to procure
replacement equipment or services, and to ensure that communications service to users and customers
is sustained.

116



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 84 of 93 

e) When the recipient or subrecipient accepts a loan or grant, it is certifying that it will comply with the
prohibition on covered telecommunications equipment and services in this section. The recipient or
subrecipient is not required to certify that funds will not be expended on covered telecommunications
equipment or services beyond the certification provided upon accepting the loan or grant and those
provided upon submitting payment requests and financial reports.

f) For additional information, see section 889 of Public Law 115-232 and§ 200.471.

33.29 PROMPT PAYMENT 

The contractor is required to pay its subcontractors performing work related to this contract for satisfactory 
performance of that work no later than 30 days after the contractor’s receipt of payment for that work. In 
addition, the contractor is required to return any retainage payments to those subcontractors within 30 days 
after the subcontractor's work related to this contract is satisfactorily completed. 

The contractor must promptly notify the Skagit Transit, whenever a DBE subcontractor performing work 
related to this contract is terminated or fails to complete its work and must make good faith efforts to engage 
another DBE subcontractor to perform at least the same amount of work. The contractor may not terminate 
any DBE subcontractor and perform that work through its own forces or those of an affiliate without prior 
written consent of Skagit Transit. 

33.30 PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION EMPLOYEE PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with the following employee protective arrangements of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b): 

a) U.S. DOL Certification. Under this Contract or any Amendments thereto that involve public
transportation operations that are supported with federal assistance, a certification issued by U.S. DOL
is a condition of the Contract.

b) Special Warranty. When the Contract involves public transportation operations and is supported with
federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. § 5311, U.S. DOL will provide a
Special Warranty for its Award, including its Award of federal assistance under the Tribal Transit
Program. The U.S. DOL Special Warranty is a condition of the Contract.

c) Special Arrangements. The conditions of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) do not apply to Contractors providing
public transportation operations pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5310. FTA reserves the right to make case-
by-case determinations of the applicability of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) for all transfers of funding
authorized under title 23, United States Code (flex funds), and make other exceptions as it deems
appropriate, and, in those instances, any special arrangements required by FTA will be incorporated
herein as required.

33.31 RECYCLED PRODUCTS 

The Contractor agrees to provide a preference for those products and services that conserve natural resources, 
protect the environment, and are energy efficient by complying with and facilitating compliance with Section 
6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6962, and U.S. Environmental 
Protection Skagit Transit (U.S. EPA), “Comprehensive Procurement Guideline for Products Containing 
Recovered Materials,” 40 C.F.R. part 247. 

33.32 RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES, BREACHES, OR OTHER LITIGATION 

a) FTA Interest

FTA has a vested interest in the settlement of any violation of federal law, regulation, or 
requirement, or any disagreement involving the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, 

117



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 85 of 93 

and any Amendments thereto including, but not limited to, a default, breach, major dispute, or 
litigation, and FTA reserves the right to concur in any settlement or compromise. 

b) Notification to FTA; Flow Down Requirement

If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal Government emerges, the 
Recipient must promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in 
which the Recipient is located. The Recipient must include a similar notification requirement in its 
Third-Party Agreements and must require each Third-Party Participant to include an equivalent 
provision in its sub-agreements at every tier, for any agreement that is a “covered transaction” 
according to 2 C.F.R.§§ 180.220 and 1200.220. 

i. The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited to, a major
dispute, breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal Government as a party to litigation
or a legal disagreement in any forum for any reason.

ii. Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited to, the Federal
Government's interests in the Award, the accompanying Underlying Agreement, and any
Amendments thereto, or the Federal Government's administration or enforcement of federal
laws, regulations, and requirements.

iii. Additional Notice to U.S. DOT Inspector General. The Recipient must promptly notify the
U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief Counsel or Regional Counsel for
the Region in which the Recipient is located, if the Recipient has knowledge of potential fraud,
waste, or abuse occurring on a Project receiving assistance from FTA. The notification
provision applies if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under the False Claims
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has or may have committed a criminal or civil violation of
law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest, bid rigging, misappropriation or
embezzlement, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving federal assistance. This
responsibility occurs whether the Project is subject to this Agreement or another agreement
between the Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee,
agent, or Third-Party Participant of the Recipient. It also applies to subcontractors at any tier.
Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, but is not limited to, knowledge of a criminal
or civil investigation by a Federal, state, or local law enforcement or other investigative Skagit
Transit, a criminal indictment or civil complaint, or probable cause that could support a
criminal indictment, or any other credible information in the possession of the Recipient. In
this paragraph, “promptly” means to refer information without delay and without change. This
notification provision applies to all divisions of the Recipient, including divisions tasked with
law enforcement or investigatory functions.

c) Federal Interest in Recovery

The Federal Government retains the right to a proportionate share of any proceeds recovered 
from any third party, based on the percentage of the federal share for the Underlying Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Recipient may return all liquidated damages it receives 
to its Award Budget for its Underlying Agreement rather than return the federal share of those 
liquidated damages to the Federal Government, provided that the Recipient receives FTA's prior 
written concurrence. 

d) Enforcement

The Recipient must pursue its legal rights and remedies available under any Third-Party 
Agreement or any federal, state, or local law or regulation. 

118



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 86 of 93 

33.33 RESTRICTIONS ON LOBBYING 

a) Conditions on use of funds. 

i. No appropriated funds may be expended by the recipient of a Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer 
or employee of any Skagit Transit, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, 
or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with any of the following covered 
Federal actions: the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the 
making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement. 

ii. Each person who requests or receives from a Skagit Transit a Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement shall file with that Skagit Transit a certification, that the person has not 
made, and will not make, any payment prohibited by paragraph (a) of this section. 

iii. Each person who requests or receives from a Skagit Transit a Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
a cooperative agreement shall file with that Skagit Transit a disclosure form if such person has 
made or has agreed to make any payment using non-appropriated funds (to include profits from 
any covered Federal action), which would be prohibited under paragraph (a) of this section if 
paid for with appropriated funds. 

iv. Each person who requests or receives from an Skagit Transit a commitment providing for the 
United States to insure or guarantee a loan shall file with that Skagit Transit a statement, 
whether that person has made or has agreed to make any payment to influence or attempt to 
influence an officer or employee of any Skagit Transit, a Member of Congress, an officer or 
employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with that loan 
insurance or guarantee. 

v. Each person who requests or receives from an Skagit Transit a commitment providing for the 
United States to insure or guarantee a loan shall file with that Skagit Transit a disclosure form 
if that person has made or has agreed to make any payment to influence or attempt to influence 
an officer or employee of any Skagit Transit, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with that loan insurance 
or guarantee. 

b) Certification and Disclosure. 

i. Each person shall file a certification, and a disclosure form, if required, with each submission 
that initiates Skagit Transit consideration of such person for: 

● Award of a Federal contract, grant, or cooperative agreement exceeding $100,000; or 

● An award of a Federal loan or a commitment providing for the United States to insure or 
guarantee a loan exceeding $150,000. 

ii. Each person shall file a certification, and a disclosure form, if required, upon receipt by such 
person of: 

● A Federal contract, grant, or cooperative agreement exceeding $100,000; or 

● A Federal loan or a commitment providing for the United States to insure or guarantee a 
loan exceeding $150,000, Unless such person previously filed a certification, and a 
disclosure form, if required, under paragraph (a) of this section. 

119



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 87 of 93 

iii. Each person shall file a disclosure form at the end of each calendar quarter in which there 
occurs any event that requires disclosure or that materially affects the accuracy of the 
information contained in any disclosure form previously filed by such person under paragraphs 
(a) or (b) of this section. An event that materially affects the accuracy of the information 
reported includes: 

● A cumulative increase of $25,000 or more in the amount paid or expected to be paid for 
influencing or attempting to influence a covered Federal action; or 

● A change in the person(s) or individual(s) influencing or attempting to influence a covered 
Federal action; or, 

● A change in the officer(s), employee(s), or Member(s) contacted to influence or attempt 
to influence a covered Federal action. 

iv. Any person must file a certification, and a disclosure form, if required, to the next tier above 
who requests or receives from a person referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) of this section: 

● A subcontract exceeding $100,000 at any tier under a Federal contract; 

● A subgrant, contract, or subcontract exceeding $100,000 at any tier under a Federal grant; 

● A contract or subcontract exceeding $100,000 at any tier under a Federal loan exceeding 
$150,000; or, 

● A contract or subcontract exceeding $100,000 at any tier under a Federal cooperative 
agreement. 

v. All disclosure forms, but not certifications, shall be forwarded from tier to tier until received 
by the person referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b) of this section. That person shall forward all 
disclosure forms to Skagit Transit. 

vi. Any certification or disclosure form filed under paragraph (e) of this section shall be treated as 
a material representation of fact upon which all receiving tiers shall rely. All liability arising 
from an erroneous representation shall be borne solely by the tier filing that representation and 
shall not be shared by any tier to which the erroneous representation is forwarded. Submitting 
an erroneous certification or disclosure constitutes a failure to file the required certification or 
disclosure, respectively. If a person fails to file a required certification or disclosure, the United 
States may pursue all available remedies, including those authorized by section 1352, title 31, 
U.S. Code. 

vii. No reporting is required for an activity paid for with appropriated funds if that activity is 
allowable under either subpart B or C. 

33.34 SAFE OPERATION OF MOTOR VEHICLES 

a) Seat Belt Use: The Contractor is encouraged to adopt and promote on-the-job seat belt use policies 
and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, company 
rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles. The terms “company-owned” and “company-leased” 
refer to vehicles owned or leased either by the Contractor or Skagit Transit. 

b) Distracted Driving: The Contractor agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease 
crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text messaging while using an electronic 
device supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a vehicle Contactor 
owns, leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official business in connection with the 
work performed under this Contract. 

120



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 88 of 93 

33.35 SCHOOL BUS OPERATIONS 

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(f), and 49 C.F.R. part 604, and not engage in school bus 
operations using federally funded equipment or facilities in competition with private operators of school buses, 
except as permitted under: 

● Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5323(f);

● FTA regulations, “School Bus Operations,” 49 C.F.R. part 605;

● Any other Federal School Bus regulations; or

● Federal guidance, except as FTA determines otherwise in writing.

If Contractor violates this School Bus Agreement, FTA may:

● Bar the Contractor from receiving Federal assistance for public transportation; or

● Require the contractor to take such remedial measures as FTA considers appropriate.

When operating exclusive school bus service under an allowable exemption, the contractor may not use 
federally funded equipment, vehicles, or facilities. 

The Contractor should include the substance of this clause in each subcontract or purchase under this contract 
that may operate public transportation services. 

33.36 SEISMIC SAFETY 

The contractor agrees that any new building or addition to an existing building will be designed and constructed 
in accordance with the standards for Seismic Safety required in Department of Transportation (DOT) Seismic 
Safety Regulations 49 C.F.R. part 41 and will certify to compliance to the extent required by the regulation. 
The contractor also agrees to ensure that all work performed under this contract, including work performed by 
a subcontractor, is in compliance with the standards required by the Seismic Safety regulations and the 
certification of compliance issued on the project. 

33.37 SEVERABILITY 

The Contractor agrees that if any provision of this agreement or any amendment thereto is determined to be 
invalid, then the remaining provisions thereof that conform to federal laws, regulations, requirements, and 
guidance will continue in effect. 

33.38 SOLID WASTES (RECOVERED MATERIALS) 

a) A Recipient or subrecipient that is a State Skagit Transit or Skagit Transit of a political subdivision of
a State and its contractors must comply with section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended
by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 as amended, 42 U.S.C. 6962. The
requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in the guidelines of the
Environmental Protection Skagit Transit (EPA) at 40 CFR Part 247 that contain the highest percentage
of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of competition,
where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the value of the quantity acquired during the
preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring solid waste management services in a manner that
maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an affirmative procurement program for
procurement of recovered materials identified in the EPA guidelines.

b) The recipient or subrecipient should, to the greatest extent practicable and consistent with law,
purchase, acquire, or use products and services that can be reused, refurbished, or recycled; contain

121



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 89 of 93 

recycled content, are biobased, or are energy and water efficient; and are sustainable. This may include 
purchasing compostable items and other products and services that reduce the use of single-use plastic 
products. See Executive Order 14057, section 101, Policy. 

33.39 SPECIAL DOL EEO CLAUSE FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

The applicant hereby agrees that it will incorporate or cause to be incorporated into any contract for 
construction work, or modification thereof, as defined in the regulations of the Secretary of Labor at 41 CFR 
Chapter 60, which is paid for in whole or in part with funds obtained from the Federal Government or borrowed 
on the credit of the Federal Government pursuant to a grant, contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee, or 
undertaken pursuant to any Federal program involving such grant, contract, loan, insurance, or guarantee, the 
following equal opportunity clause: 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 

a) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of
race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin. The contractor will
take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during
employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or
national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, upgrading,
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or
other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor
agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices
to be provided setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.

b) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the
contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard
to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin.

c) The contractor will not discharge or in any other manner discriminate against any employee or
applicant for employment because such employee or applicant has inquired about, discussed, or
disclosed the compensation of the employee or applicant or another employee or applicant. This
provision shall not apply to instances in which an employee who has access to the compensation
information of other employees or applicants as a part of such employee's essential job functions
discloses the compensation of such other employees or applicants to individuals who do not otherwise
have access to such information, unless such disclosure is in response to a formal complaint or charge,
in furtherance of an investigation, proceeding, hearing, or action, including an investigation conducted
by the employer, or is consistent with the contractor's legal duty to furnish information.

d) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a collective
bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said
labor union or workers' representatives of the contractor's commitments under this section and shall
post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.

e) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and
of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.

f) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of
September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant
thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering Skagit Transit
and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules,
regulations, and orders.

g) In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or
with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or
suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government

122



180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025 Page 90 of 93 

contracts or federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in 
Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies 
invoked as provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order 
of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

h) The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the
provisions of paragraphs (1) through (8) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by
rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive
Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor
or vendor. The contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as
the administering Skagit Transit may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including
sanctions for noncompliance.

33.40 TERMINATION 

a) Termination for Convenience

Skagit Transit may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice 
to the Contractor when it is in Skagit Transit’s best interest. The Contractor shall be paid its costs, 
including contract close-out costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of termination. The 
Contractor shall promptly submit its termination claim to Skagit Transit’s Executive Director to be 
paid the Contractor. If the Contractor has any property in its possession belonging to Skagit Transit, 
the Contractor will account for the same and dispose of it in the manner Skagit Transit directs. 

b) Termination for Default (Breach or Cause)

If the Contractor does not deliver supplies in accordance with the contract delivery schedule, 
or if the contract is for services, the Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, 
or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of the contract, the Skagit Transit may 
terminate this contract for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a Notice of Termination 
on the Contractor setting forth the manner in which the Contractor is in default. The Contractor will 
be paid only the contract price for supplies delivered and accepted, or services performed in 
accordance with the manner of performance set forth in the contract. If it is later determined by the 
Skagit Transit that the Contractor had an excusable reason for not performing, such as a strike, fire, or 
flood, events which are not the fault of or are beyond the control of the Contractor, the Skagit Transit, 
after setting up a new delivery of performance schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, 
or treat the termination as a Termination for Convenience. 

c) Opportunity to Cure

Skagit Transit, in its sole discretion may, in the case of a termination for breach or default, 
allow the Contractor ten (10) days in which to cure the defect. In such case, the Notice of Termination 
will state the time period in which cure is permitted and other appropriate conditions. 

d) If Contractor fails to remedy to Skagit Transit's satisfaction the breach or default of any of the terms,
covenants, or conditions of this Contract within ten (10) days after receipt by Contractor of written
notice from Skagit Transit setting forth the nature of said breach or default, Skagit Transit shall have
the right to terminate the contract without any further obligation to Contractor. Any such termination
for default shall not in any way operate to preclude Skagit Transit from also pursuing all available
remedies against Contractor and its sureties for said breach or default.

e) Waiver of Remedies for Any Breach

123



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 91 of 93 

In the event that Skagit Transit elects to waive its remedies for any breach by Contractor of 
any covenant, term or condition of this contract, such waiver by Skagit Transit shall not limit Skagit 
Transit’s remedies for any succeeding breach of that or of any other covenant, term, or condition of 
this contract. 

33.41 TRAFFICKING IN PERSONS 
The contractor agrees that it and its employees that participate in the Recipient’s Award, may not: 

a) Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the Recipient’s Award 
is in effect; 

b) Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the Recipient’s Award is in effect; or 

c) Use forced labor in the performance of the Recipient’s Award or sub agreements thereunder. 

 
33.42 VETERANS HIRING PREFERENCE 
Veterans Employment - Construction contracts of Federal financial assistance shall ensure that contractors 
working on a capital project funded using such assistance give a hiring preference, to the extent practicable, to 
veterans (as defined in section 2108 of title 5) who have the requisite skills and abilities to perform the 
construction work required under the contract. This subsection shall not be understood, construed or enforced 
in any manner that would require an employer to give a preference to any veteran over any equally qualified 
applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority, female, an individual with a disability, or a former 
employee. 

33.43 VIOLATION AND BREACH OF CONTRACT 

a) Disputes: Disputes arising in the performance of this Contract that are not resolved by agreement of 
the parties shall be decided in writing by the authorized representative of the Skagit Transit. This 
decision shall be final and conclusive unless within [10] days from the date of receipt of its copy, the 
Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the agencies authorized representative. In 
connection with any such appeal, the Contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to 
offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of the agencies authorized representative shall 
be binding upon the Contractor and the Contractor shall abide be the decision. 

b) Performance during Dispute: Unless otherwise directed by Skagit Transit’s authorized 
representative, the contractor shall continue performance under this contract while matters in dispute 
are being resolved. 

c) Claims for Damages: Should either party to the contract suffer injury or damage to person or property 
because of any act or omission of the party or of any of his employees, agents or others for whose acts 
he is legally liable, a claim for damages therefore shall be made in writing to such other party within 
a reasonable time after the first observance of such injury or damage. 

d) Remedies: Unless this contract provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes and other 
matters in question between the agencies authorized representative and contractor arising out of or 
relating to this agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties mutually agree, or 
in a court of competent jurisdiction within the State in which the Skagit Transit is located. 

e) Rights and Remedies: Duties and obligations imposed by the contract documents and the rights and 
remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, 
rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by the Skagit 
Transit or contractor shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the 
contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any 
breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.   

 

124



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 92 of 93 

APPENDIX 1 

LIST OF POLICY REVISIONS 

1. Pursuant to Resolution 2005.12, dated July 20, 2005, the following sections were removed: 9- 
202, Preparation of a Purchase Order and Exhibit C, Purchasing Procedures. 

2. Replaced all references to “SKAT” with “Skagit Transit”. 

3. Replaced all references to FTA Circular 4220.1E with 4220.1F, as amended November 1, 
2008. 

4. Replaced all references to RCW 42.17 of the Public Records Act with 42.56, as amended. 

5. Revised Exhibit C, Purchasing Procedures, to reflect the change from paper requisitions to 
electronic requisitions (E-Reqs) in 2007 and the title of “Purchasing Technician” to 
“Procurement and Contracts Coordinator”. 

6. Revised Article 3-104 reference to FTA Circular 9030.1C to FTA Circular 9030.1D, as 
amended May 1, 2010. 

7. Pursuant to Resolution 2011-16, dated October 19, 2011, the micro-purchase threshold is 
increased from $2,500 to the federal limit of $3,000 and all references herein have been 
updated accordingly. 

8. Pursuant to Resolution 2012-02, dated January 18, 2012, the capital purchase and asset item 
thresholds have been increased to $5,000 and $100 respectively. Policy references were 
updated; more items added to the “definitions” section; added language pertaining to the Two- 
Step and Design-Bid-Build methods of procurement under Article 4, Part C; separated item 
4- 304(4) – Competitive Procurement by Piggybacking from the “Procurement $25,001 and 
Over” section as piggybacking opportunities may also apply to small purchases (became 4- 
305); and separated 4-304(5) – Procurement by Noncompetitive Proposals (Sole Source) from 
the same location to become its own section, 4-306. 

9. Pursuant to Skagit Transit’s reallocation of its FTA-assisted operating funds effective July 1, 
2012, all Agency procurements are no longer considered to be completely federalized (“one 
dollar taints the pot”). FTA-assisted operating funds are now allocated only to: wages and 
benefits, uniform, safety boots, and tool allowances, fuel and lubricants, tires/tubes, and 
security services. Policy Section 4-306, Article 6, and Exhibit A have been revised to reflect 
this change and apply FTA regulations to only those third party contracts procured with FTA- 
assisted capital or operating funds. Exhibit B chart was updated to coincide with Article 8-
201. Article 13 was revised to include “Small” businesses in the title captions. 

10. Revise Exhibit B was revised to include the spending authority level of the C.E.O. per 
Resolution No. 2003-04, revise Article 4-202(4); add Article 5-402 re: Tie Bids, and revise 
Article 4-306 to distinguish between Agency and FTA allowances for sole source 
procurements and to coincide with the new justification form. 

11. Pursuant to Resolution 2016-10, dated November 16, 2016, the spending limits for the C.E.O. 
and Board of Directors was increased to $50,000 and $50,001+ respectively, with the Board 
Chair relieved from the purchase approval process; and the formal bid threshold increased to 
$50,000 and the micro-purchase threshold to $5,000. The Policy and related procedures were 
updated accordingly. 

125



 

180.05 Procurement Policy - REV Mar 2025  Page 93 of 93 

12. Pursuant to Resolution 2020-03, dated September 16, 2020, the spending limit for the Chief 
Executive Officer and the formal competitive process threshold was increased from $50,000 
to $100,000, and the Micro-Purchase threshold was increased from $5,000 to $10,000. 

13. Revise wording to add NO THRESHOLD to Qualifications-Based Procurement – 
Architectural and Engineering (A&E) Services pg. 24 

14. Replaced all references to FTA Circular 4220.1F with 4220.1G, as amended January 17, 
2025.FTA’s most recent authorizing legislation is the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act 
(IIJA), Pub. L. 117-58, signed into law on November 15, 2021. The legislation reauthorizes 
Surface Transportation Programs (STPs) for Fiscal Year (FY) 2022 through FY 2026.  

 The Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act (Pub. L. 114-94) authorized FTA 
programs FY 2016 through 2021; the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act  
(MAP-21) (Pub. L. 112-141) authorized FTA programs for FY 2013 through FY 2015; and 
the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users 
(SAFETEA-LU) (Pub. L. 109-59) authorized FTA programs from FY 2005 through FY 2012. 
Changes have been added to this circular to reflect the IIJA provisions applicable to Federal 
transit and other laws that have become effective since the circular was last published in 2013.  

This circular revision also incorporates provisions of the Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB), “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 200, as it has been adopted by USDOT at 2 CFR Part 1201.  

USDOT regulations, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 CFR Part 1201, supersede and replace the requirements 
of the DOT Common Rule, former 49 CFR Parts 18 and 19, except that former 49 CFR Parts 
18 and 19 will continue to apply to grant and cooperative agreements awarded before 
December 26, 2014, as in effect on the date of such grant or cooperative agreements.   

15. Updated language in the Davis Bacon Section 7-102 to update current compliance 
requirements 

16. Updated Definitions Section 1-201 with additional definitions. Replaced references to 
Executive Director with Chief Executive Officer and Contracts Administrator with 
Procurement and Contracts Coordinator. Updated Responsibility for Settlement of Contract 
Issues/Disputes Section 4-201(8) to include the responsible party for receiving disputes and 
the hierarchy for dispute resolution. Added Sections Signature Authority Section 2-104, 
Misconduct of Contractors/Suppliers/Vendors Section 3-110, Cone of Silence Section 3-114, 
Lobbying Section 3-115, Unauthorized Purchases Section 3-116, Non-Competitive 
(Emergency Procurements) Section 4-308, Material and Immaterial Deviations Part J Section 
5-1001 and Procurement Card Article 15. Removed Emergency Procurements Article 8. 
Removed Reference Checks Section 5-502 for inclusion in supplement procedures. 

126



SELF-CERTIFICATION FOR MICRO-PURCHASE THRESHOLD 

DATE: MAY 21, 2025 

FROM: CRYSTLE STIDHAM, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

SUBJECT:   ESTABLISHMENT OF $50,000 MICRO-PURCHASE THRESHOLD 

In accordance with 2 C.F.R. Section 200.320(iv), Non-Federal entities may establish a 
threshold higher than the micro-purchase threshold identified in the Federal Acquisition 
Regulation (FAR) in accordance with the requirements of this section. The non-Federal 
entity may self-certify a threshold up to $50,000 on an annual basis and must maintain 
documentation to be made available to the Federal awarding agency and auditors in 
accordance with §200.334. The self-certification must include a justification, clear 
identification of the threshold, and supporting documentation of any of the following: 

(A) qualification as a low-risk auditee, in accordance with the criteria in § 200.520
for the most recent audit;

(B) An annual internal institutional risk assessment to identify, mitigate, and
manage financial risks; or,

(C) For public institutions, a higher threshold consistent with State law.

Therefore, Skagit Transit is providing notification it will increase its micro-purchase 
threshold to $50,000 for federally funded procurements effective May 21, 2025.  This 
increase is consistent with Skagit Transit Procurement Policy approved by the Board of 
Directors on May 21, 2025 and is done in accordance with CFR §200.320 (a)(1)(iv)(A) and 
(B).       

127



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approve Interlocal Agreement Approval with the 791 Purchasing Cooperative 

INFORMATION:  

Skagit Transit Procurement proposes to enter into interlocal agreement with the 791 
Purchasing Cooperative.  

791 Purchasing Cooperative was created in 2019 to offer its members a unique 
and beneficial opportunity to purchase goods and services from contracts that meet all  
state and federal competitive bidding requirements, saving valuable time and resources  
in the process. During the term of each contract, members may place their purchases directly  
with awarded vendors for the various goods and services that we may need without  
being required to go out for bid. 791 Purchasing Cooperative is an administrative agency based 
in San Antonio Texas, created in accordance with Sec. 791 of the Texas Government Code. 

Benefits of joining are: 
 Access to competitively procured contracts with quality vendors 
 Savings of time and financial resources necessary to fulfill bid requirements 
 Assistance with purchasing process by qualified 791 staff 
 Access to pricing based on a “national” high-profile contract 

Skagit transit procurement is preparing to enter into one of the 791 Cooperative’s agreements 
that will ultimately fulfil the need for projected services. This agreement postures Skagit Transit 
to make quick and effective purchasing decisions. 

In the event of a dispute, Washington laws will apply.   
Membership in the 791 Purchasing Cooperative is free. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends entering into this agreement  

BUDGET IMPACT:  

No cost to Skagit Transit, the Cooperative Purchasing System is funded by admin fees imposed 
on vendors, cost savings to Skagit Transit are realized in pre-negotiated product and service 
prices as well as staff hours saved in the overall procurement process.  

128



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approve Interlocal agreement with The Interlocal Purchasing System (TIPS) 

INFORMATION:  

Skagit Transit Procurement proposes to enter into interlocal agreement with The Interlocal 
Purchasing System (TIPS). TIPS is a national purchasing cooperative that offers access to 
competitively procured purchasing contracts to its membership. TIPS is housed at and managed 
by the Region 8 Education Service Center located in Pittsburg, Texas. 

Benefits of joining are: 
 Access to competitively procured contracts with quality vendors 
 Savings of time and financial resources necessary to fulfill bid requirements 
 Assistance with purchasing process by qualified TIPS staff 
 Access to pricing based on a “national” high-profile contract 
 Additional 5% discount on the negotiated price 

This agreement postures Skagit Transit to make quick and effective purchasing decisions. 

Membership in The Interlocal Purchasing System is free. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends entering into this agreement  

BUDGET IMPACT:  

No cost to Skagit Transit, TIPS is funded by admin fees imposed on vendors, cost savings to 
Skagit Transit are realized in pre-negotiated product and service prices as well as staff hours 
saved in the overall procurement process.  

129



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approve Amendment to Extend Contract #19-006 for an additional 6 months 

INFORMATION:  

Skagit Transit Procurement proposes to extend Contract #19-006 Mobile ticketing with Cubic 
for an additional 6 months from June 30th to December 31st 2025. This will allow Skagit Transit 
adequate time to evaluate and award Contract #24-021 to either renew with Cubic or replace 
their services entirely. Skagit Transit reserves the right as stated in the original agreement to 
terminate services at any time.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends entering into this agreement to prevent mission impact. 

BUDGET IMPACT:  

Not to exceed cost is $50,000.  No payment shall be made for any work done outside the stated 
period of performance. 

130



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approve Director of Finance as the Auditor/Treasurer and Investment Officer 

INFORMATION: 

Skagit Transit bylaws require the Board of Directors to appoint an Auditor/Treasurer to 
perform all of the duties and responsibilities of the position.  This includes managing the cash 
and investments of the organization held by Skagit County.  In order to carry out these duties, 
the Board must appoint an organizational representative as the Investment Officer.   

The previous Manager of Finance and Administration, Arden Flores, was the last board-
appointed Auditor/Treasurer. Mr. Flores has been replaced by the new Director of Finance, Joe 
Stewart. Therefore, Mr. Stewart now needs to be appointed as the new Auditor/Treasurer.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approving the removal of Arden Flores as Skagit Transit’s Auditor/Treasurer 
and replacing him with the new Director of Finance, Joe Stewart, as Skagit Transit’s  
Auditor/Treasurer and Agency Investment Officer. 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

None 

131



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-07 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING AN AUDITOR/TREASURER FOR SKAGIT TRANSIT SYSTEM 

WHEREAS, the Skagit Transit bylaws require the Board of Directors to appoint an 
Auditor/Treasurer; and 

WHEREAS, in June 2019, Arden Flores, the Manager of Finance and Administration, was appointed 
to fill the position; and 

WHEREAS, Arden Flores is no longer employed by Skagit Transit; and 

WHEREAS, in April 2025, a permanent appointment has been made to fill the position of Director 
of Finance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, that the Board of Directors 
of Skagit Transit System hereby appoints the new Director of Finance, Joe Stewart, as the 
Auditor/Treasurer and Investment Officer for the authority, to perform all the duties and 
responsibilities of the position beginning May 21, 2025. 

PASSED in open public meeting this 21st day of May 2025. 

SKAGIT TRANSIT SYSTEM 
SKAGIT COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

By ______________________________ 
Peter Browning, Chair Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

By _______________________________ 
Crystle Stidham, Chief Executive Officer 

ATTEST TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Larissa Farrell, Clerk of Skagit Transit 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
Dannon Traxler, Counsel to Skagit Transit 

132



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
May 21, 2025 

TO: Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

FROM: Skagit Transit Community Advisory Committee 

SUBJECT: Approve CAC Member Withdrawal Request 

INFORMATION: 

Member Madeline Handzlik has resigned from the CAC.  As per her request, the committee 
unanimously voted to recommend the Skagit Transit Board of Directors vote to have her name 
removed from the committee roster. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends the Skagit Transit Board of Directors vote to have Madeline Handzlik 
removed from the CAC roster. 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

None 

133



SKAGIT TRANSIT 
ZERO EMISSION & 
HYDROGEN 
FEASIBILITY STUDY
UPDATE:
SERVICE & FLEET 
ASSESSMENTS

Hydrogen Demand in the PNW & US

Amazon is deploying 20,000 hydrogen forklifts across 100 fulfillment 
centers, testing hydrogen fuel-cell trucks, and fuel-cell power generation 
for Amazon buildings. Microsoft is testing fuel cell back up power.

Puget Sound Energy and Portland General Electric are investigating 
hydrogen blending into natural gas pipelines and hydrogen for power 
generation

Paccar and Nikola have launched Class 8 trucks and expect a launch in 
the PNW region in 2025.

Confirmed Hydrogen demand for port handling equipment, mine haulers, 
glass manufacture, aviation testing and more in the PNW

134



Transit Hydrogen Demand

1. AC Transit
2. Foothill Transit
3. North County Transit District
4. Sunline Transit
5. Golden Empire Transit
6. Orange County Transit Authority
7. Champaign Urbana Mass Transit District
8. SEPTA
9. SARTA
10. RTC Southern Nevada
11. SamTrans
12. Hawai i Mass Transit Agency
13. Lewis County Transit
14. Community Transit
15. Santa Cruz Metro
16. Humboldt Transit Authority
17. Montgomery County Transit
18. Community Transit
19. RTC Southern Las Vegas
20. Rochester-Genesee Regional Transportation Authority

Project 
Overview

Service 
Assessment

Fuel 
Assessment

Fleet 
Assessment

Facility & 
Maintenance
Assessment

Funding and 
Incentives

Total Cost of 
Ownership

Project improvements in ZEB technologies to judge feasibility through the transition period (2025-
2050).

Develop ZEB scenarios for analysis (Baseline, Battery Electric, Mixed Fleet, Fuel Cell Electric Buses).
Create Fleet Procurement schedule for each scenario based on existing asset replacement schedule 
and service assessment results for each scenario. 

Calculate the fuel and energy consumption requirements for each scenario over the transition period.
Calculate and compare the fuel costs associated with each scenario. 

Assess the refueling infrastructure requirements.
Assess costs and electrical capacity requirements.
Provide facilities assessment for compatibility with hydrogen refueling station and hydrogen bus 
maintenance. 

Assess available funding and incentives programs for zero emission buses and fuels including grant 
programs, WA State Department of Ecology Carbon Fuel Standard, 45V Hydrogen Production Tax 
Credit, and 48E Clean Electricity Investment Tax Credit.  

Calculate and compare the Total Cost of Ownership for each scenario. 

We are here

135



SERVICE 
ASSESSMENT

To perform the Service Assessment, we:

1. Estimate the energy requirements of routes and blocks.

2. Compare energy requirements vs. the usable energy capacity of battery electric buses
(BEBs) and hydrogen fuel cell electric buses (FCEBs) to determine feasibility.

3. Project improvements in BEB and FCEB energy capacity over the transition period to 
compare block feasibility over time.

Skagit Transit 
Route Information

Gillig/New Flyer 
ZEB Specs

Fixed Route Block 
Data

Nominal In-Service 
Simulation

Strenuous In-
Service Simulation

Nominal Energy 
Consumption

Strenuous Energy 
Consumption

Key Findings Under Strenuous Operating Conditions (2025-2050)Service 
Assessment:
Results

136



Weekday Block Analysis Nominal vs. Strenuous Conditions

7

16

22

2

7

16

0

5

10

15

20

25

#  O F F E A S I BL E  W E E K D AY  B LO C KS  ( O U T  O F  2 3 )

BEB Depot - Nominal BEB Depot - Strenuous

Weekday

BlockID Daily Mileage
Platform 

Hours

BEB Efficiency 
Nominal 

(Primay + Aux)

BEB Efficiency 
Strenuous 

(Primay + Aux)

% Change 
(Nom vs. 

Stren)

90X-3 161 15.0 2.27 2.82 25%

409 148 10.8 2.73 3.73 36%

3-207 174 8.8 2.55 3.32 30%

2-208/2-202A 168 14.6 2.81 3.92 40%

1-208/1-202A 168 14.7 2.81 3.93 40%

206 160 14.3 3.02 4.18 38%

2-205/305 192 13.8 2.67 3.63 36%

1-205/305 207 14.1 2.60 3.53 36%

1-300/1-301A 208 15.3 2.72 3.71 36%

2-300/2-301A 208 15.4 2.73 3.72 36%

1-207/1-204A 219 15.2 2.86 3.83 34%

2-207/2-204A 219 15.2 2.87 3.84 34%

2-101/2-513A 264 14.2 2.40 3.20 33%

70X CONN/3-208/3-202 238 16.4 2.64 3.59 36%

1-101/1-513A 275 15.0 2.42 3.22 33%

90X-2 318 13.4 2.27 2.84 25%

80X 299 12.9 2.49 3.19 28%

615 336 15.1 2.27 2.96 30%

40X 347 14.1 2.34 3.01 29%

410 319 15.5 2.56 3.30 29%

717 350 15.4 2.43 3.10 28%

70X 380 14.7 2.33 2.98 28%

90X-1 507 15.0 2.28 2.86 25%

Average 14.3 2.57 3.41 32%

*90-X2 and 90-X3 have substantial layovers at the MOA-2 Depot

Battery Life 
Example:
BEB Depot with 
Diesel Heaters

137



Key 
Takeaways

Summary of Key Conclusions
Three primary findings emerging from the analysis:
1.Hydrogen Fuel Cell Electric Buses (FCEBs)

Highest Feasibility: FCEBs with larger 56 kg tanks can cover nearly every Skagit Transit block (over 90% 
feasibility initially, rising to 100% by 2039).
Operational Simplicity: Centralized fueling is more straightforward than distributed electric charging, and fuel 
cell buses are less impacted by cold weather.
1:1 Replacement: Thanks to their long range and fast refueling, FCEBs can effectively replace diesel buses 
without major changes to daily operations.

2.Battery Electric Buses (BEBs)
Infrastructure-Heavy: While depot-only BEBs are feasible on only a small subset of routes (about 9% of blocks 
under strenuous conditions), adding on-route chargers improves this significantly, though it requires significant
charging infrastructure at multiple layover points.
Diesel Heaters Are Critical: Using diesel or alternative heating systems in winter reduces battery drain for 
cabin heat, improving block feasibility.
Technology Improvements Over Time: Continued advances in battery density (projected 5% increase every 
two years) will expand the percentage of feasible blocks, but a fully electrified fleet using BEB technology may 
still require expanded fleet size or robust on-route charging to stay on schedule.

3.Strategic Approaches for Transition
Rapid Decarbonization: FCEBs are the fastest path to fully zero-emission service if immediate replacement of 
diesel buses is desired.
Slower/Incremental Transition: A small-scale BEB pilot (especially on blocks that allow midday charging at the 
MOA-2 depot) can provide valuable real-world data. Meanwhile, continuing to purchase diesel in the short term 
would allow more time to develop electric infrastructure and wait for further technological advancement.
Long-Term Planning: Consider which routes are most conducive to on-route BEB charging (e.g., single layover 
location, frequent layover time). For FCEBs, secure hydrogen supply, fueling infrastructure, and possible 
partnerships that can accelerate deployment.

FLEET ASSESSMENT

138



FLEET ASSESSMENT
To perform the Fleet Assessment, we:

1. Establish a Baseline Scenario: The retirement schedule replaces
all diesel buses in-kind.

1. Compare the results of the Service Assessment against the 
fleet replacement schedule: If the procurement of an additional 
ZEB would result in the % of  ZEBs in the fleet exceeding the % of 
feasible blocks each year, we assume the agency will need to 
purchase a diesel bus or longer-range ZEB option (BEB On-Route 
or FCEB) instead.

1. Establish multiple ZEB scenarios: Diesel buses are replaced 
with Zero Emission Buses (ZEBs) by the retirement schedule as 
feasible on a 1:1 basis. We develop the following scenarios:

a) BEB Only
b) Mixed Fleet (BEB Depot & FCEB)
c) FCEB only

2. Project Capital Costs: Using the best available data on current 
bus costs and applying inflation throughout the transition period,
we model the total cost of bus procurement throughout the 
transition period (2025-2050).

$28.2

$50.1

$67.3

$74.4

$0M $10M $20M $30M $40M $50M $60M $70M $80M

Baseline

BEB Only

Mixed Fleet

FCEB

FLEET REPLACEMENT COSTS (2025-2040)

% of ZEB in Fleet

Scenario 2030 2035 2040

Baseline -  -  -  

BEB Only 17% 50% 60% 

Mixed Fleet 17% 80% 100% 

FCEB 17% 80% 100% 

# of ZEB in Fleet

Scenario 2030 2035 2040

Baseline 0 0 0

BEB Only 5 15 18

Mixed Fleet 5 24 30

FCEB 5 24 30

FLEET 
ASSESSMENT 
Results

139



FLEET ASSESSMENT: Fleet Composition

FLEET ASSESSMENT: Bus Capital Costs

140



FLEET 
ASSESSMENT: 
Cumulative Fleet 
Procurement Costs

$74.4

$67.3

$50.1

$28.2

$0m

$10m

$20m

$30m

$40m

$50m

$60m

$70m

$80m

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040

Baseline BEB Only Mixed Fleet FCEB

Fleet Assessment 
Conclusions

CONCLUSIONS & KEY TAKEAWAYS

1.Capital Costs Versus Decarbonization Rate
The Baseline scenario (diesel-for-diesel replacement) is the least expensive ($28.2M) but fails to reduce emissions.
BEB Only ($50.1M) starts decarbonizing the fleet gradually; by 2050, about two-thirds of the fleet is zero-emission.
BEB buses are less expensive than FCEB, but this scenario total cost is also compressed by the acquisition of 12 
diesel buses during the transition period. 

2.Rapid Decarbonization Requires Higher Investment
Mixed Fleet ($67.3M) and FCEB Only ($74.4M) both reach 100% zero-emission by 2039.
These scenarios carry the most significant capital costs as ZEBs, and particularly FCEBs, are more expensive and 
make up a larger portion of the procurements.

3.Fleet Replacement Timing
Retirement schedules directly affect how quickly zero-emission technologies replace diesel vehicles.

-of-life date to avoid unnecessary early retirements or 
technology mismatches.

4.Balancing Budget, Emissions, and Operational Goals
Agencies must weigh upfront capital against long-term sustainability and emissions reduction targets.
Funding opportunities, environmental mandates, and community support may influence which scenario best fits 

-term goals.

141



FUEL ASSESSMENT TEASER

REFUELING 
MODELS:
FCEB Scenario

142



FUEL 
ASSESSMENT: 
FCEB Scenario

Next Steps and 
Q&A

Next Steps: Fuel & Maintenance Assessment

1. Fuel Assessment
a) Estimate annual fuel consumption for each fleet scenario under nominal 

conditions.
b) Incorporate utility rate schedules (including demand charges, time-of-use 

rates) for electricity.
c) Determine hydrogen costs if using FCEBs (local sourcing, contracts, per-kg 

estimates).
d) Include fueling infrastructure O&M costs (compressors, dispensing, etc.).

2. Maintenance Assessment
a) Develop vehicle maintenance cost assumptions (cost-per-mile, midlife 

overhauls/refurbishments).
b) Identify ZEB-specific maintenance differences (battery warranty coverage for 

BEBs; fuel cell refurbishment for FCEBs).
c) Integrate these costs with the fleet replacement schedule to project annual 

O&M spending over time.
3. Facilities Assessment

a) Coordinate with local utilities to discuss applicable EV rate structures.
b) Consult fueling staff about schedule/shift changes for overnight charging or 

hydrogen fueling
4. Funding, Incentives, and Total Cost of Ownership

143



APPENDIX

ASSUMPTIONS SERVICE ASSESSMENT

144



Assumptions
BEB & FCEB
Fuel Capacity

Key Considerations:
Per Skagit Transit project team, the agency will exclusively procure 40-foot buses for the Fixed Route Fleet moving forward, all 30 
fixed route buses operated by Skagit Transit are Gillig models.

The project team decided to analyze block feasibility under three scenarios:
1. Battery Electric Bus with Depot Charging Only

2. Battery Electric Bus with On-Route Charging

-route charging. 
3. Hydrogen Fuel Cell Bus with tank configuration for extended range

37.5kg tank. First deployments of larger tank capacity delivering to Humboldt Transit and Lewis County Transit this year. 
Gillig is developing an FCEB model for production in 2027, but specifications are not announced yet.  

Assumptions
Usable Fuel 
Calculations

BEB Usable Fuel Calculation Logic:
1. Nameplate Capacity (686 kWh)

2. : After roughly six years, we assume 10 % capacity 
loss, so 686 kWh × 90 % = 617 kWh.

3. : Manufacturers often do not allow charging above 90 % of 
the battery to protect battery health. At midlife, 617 kWh × 90 556 kWh.

4. : Similarly, to avoid deep discharge, we do not discharge 
below 10 % of 617 62 kWh.

5. Usable Midlife Capacity: The difference between the top (556 kWh) and bottom 
(62 kWh) reserves is 494 kWh, which is around 72 % of the original 686 kWh.

6. Midlife Replacement: To maintain a reasonable level of capacity, we assume
the battery will be replaced or refurbished at the midlife point. 

Calculated Usable Fuel Capacities for Analysis

145



Assumptions
Efficiency 

Adjustments
(Terrain & Road Type)

(Nominal vs. Strenuous)

Sources: 
1. Estimates are based on feedback from other regional transits (Community Transit, Spokane Transit, King County 
Metro, TriMet, and Link Transit).
2. Review of available literature including studies conducted by NREL, CTE, Stantec, and FTA.
3. More advanced modeling and block simulations can be offered by National Labs including Argonne National Labs 
(ANL).

Assumptions
EV Charging

(Depot & On-Route)

Sources: 
1. Estimates are based on feedback from other regional transits (Community Transit, Spokane Transit, King County 
Metro, TriMet, and Link Transit), as well as discussions with Gillig.

Charger Type Charger Capacity (kW) Notes and Rationale
Depot Charger 150 kW Standardized charging rate adopted by many agencies 

for overnight depot charging.

Inductive On-Route 300 kW Most common Inductive Charger adopted by Link 
Transit, Everett Transit,Lewis County Transit and Kitsap 
Transit.  Agencies report actual charging rates typically 
between 150-220 kW.

Pantograph On-Route 450 kW Mature technology, but requires more maintenance and 
potential for collision, graffiti, etc.  Adopted by King 
County Metro and Spokane Transit.

Charging Rate
On-Route Charger 
(Maximum Acceptance 
& Efficiecny)

<10% SOC: 50 kW @ 90% effieciency
10-80% SOC: 175 kW @ 90% efficiency
80-90% SOC: 125 kW @ 88% efficiency
90-100% SOC: 20 kW @ 80% efficiency

 Gillig recommends limiting charge rate to 175 kW to 
preserve warranty.

Layovers
Minimum Layover 
Allowable for On-Route 
Charging

5 Minutes Spokane Transit advises against relying on 5 mintues 
layover for Pantograph. However, Link Transit and Lewis 
County Transit have successfully Inductive charged 
within 5-minute intervals.

146



On-Route Charging Locations Assumptions

1. The project team assessed the requirement
for on-route charging locations and
determined feasibility based on several 
factors:

a) Skagit site ownership
b) Number of blocks utilizing the 

location
c) Discussions with the utility
d) Current route profiles, layover 

times.

Assumptions
(On-Route Charging 

Locations)

Assumptions
Route Analysis

Sources: 
1. Route Terrain and Road Type profiles are provided by a previous ZEB study for Skagit Transit conducted by Kimley 
Horn. Efficiency metrics on this slide do not include HVAC and accessory loading.

147



Block Feasibility Analysis Example
1-101/1-513A 1 40ft BEB Depot - Strenuous Conditions

Row 
Flag Block ID Task # Route ID Direction Start Time End Time

Duration 
(hours)

Daily 
Mileage

Avg 
MPH

Layover 
(minutes)

Layover 
Location Stops

BEB Depot 
Efficiency 
Strenuous

(kWh/mile)

BEB Depot 
Accessory 

Load 
Strenuous 

(kWh)

BEB Depot 
Strenuous 

Consumptio
n (kWh)

SOC Start 
(Strenuous)

SOC End
(Strenuous)

SOC End
%

(Strenuous)

Depot 
Charging 

Strenuous
(kWh)

BEB Depot 
Feasibility 

(Strenuous)
1-101/1-513A 1 Deadhea Outbound 6:15 AM 6:20 AM 0.08 1 10 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.0 2.50 4 556 551 89% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 2 101 Loop 6:25 AM 7:10 AM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 551 512 83% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 3 513 West 7:15 AM 7:40 AM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 512 473 77% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 4 513 East 7:45 AM  8:10 AM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 473 432 70% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 5 101 Loop 8:25 AM  9:10 AM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 432 392 63% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 6 513 West 9:15 AM  9:40 AM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 392 354 57% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 7 513 East 9:45 AM  10:10 AM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 354 312 51% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 8 101 Loop 10:25 AM  11:10 AM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 312 272 44% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 9 513 West 11:15 AM  11:40 AM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 272 234 38% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 10 513 East 11:45 AM  12:10 PM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 234 192 31% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 11 101 Loop 12:25 PM  1:10 PM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 192 152 25% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 12 513 West 1:15 PM  1:40 PM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 152 114 18% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 13 513 East 1:45 PM  2:10 PM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 114 72 12% 0.00 Yes

1-101/1-513A 14 101 Loop 2:25 PM  3:10 PM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 72 32 5% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 15 513 West 3:15 PM  3:40 PM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 32 -6 -1% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 16 513 East 3:45 PM  4:10 PM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 -6 -48 -8% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 17 101 Loop 4:25 PM 5:10 PM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 -48 -88 -14% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 18 513 West 5:15 PM 5:40 PM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 -88 -126 -20% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 19 513 East 5:45 PM 6:10 PM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 -126 -168 -27% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 20 101 Loop 6:25 PM 7:10 PM 0.75 10 14 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 12.50 40 -168 -207 -34% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 21 513 West 7:15 PM 7:40 PM 0.42 13 32 5 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 7.50 38 -207 -246 -40% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 22 513 East 7:45 PM 8:10 PM 0.42 14 33 15 Chuckanut P&R 2.3 10.00 42 -246 -287 -47% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 23 101 Loop 8:25 PM 9:10 PM 0.75 10 14 0 Chuckanut P&R 2.6 11.25 39 -287 -326 -53% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 24 Deadhea Inbound 9:10 PM 9:15 PM 0.08 1 12 0 2.0 1.25 3 -326 -329 -53% 0.00 No

1-101/1-513A 12.00 275 27 180 2.40 225.00 885 0 No

Skagit Transit operates 23 unique blocks in its daily weekday service. Block efficiencies are calculated based on both primary and accessory loads 
(HVAC, lights, etc.).

Block 
Efficiency 
Summary

*Note: 90X-2 and 90X-3 have 
substantial midday layovers at 
MOA-2 depot. 

148



Assumptions
Capacity and 

Efficiency 
Improvements

Battery Electric Buses:
Historical Trend: Data from DOE and NREL evaluations indicate that 40-ft BEBs increased battery capacity from 
roughly 150 300 kWh in early deployments (circa 2015) to 500 660 kWh in recent models.
Assumption Rationale: A 5% capacity improvement every two years reflects the observed, discrete upgrade cycles in 
battery energy density and system integration. This rate compounds to roughly a 28% increase over a decade, providing 
a conservative yet credible projection.

Hydrogen Fuel Cell Buses: 
Historical Trend: Field data show fuel economy improvements from about 5
approximately 8-9 miles per kg in current deployments, driven by advancements in fuel cell stack design and system 
optimization.
Assumption Rationale: Assuming a 2.5% efficiency gain every two years in capacity and efficiency aligns with the 
step improvements seen historically. This incremental enhancement matches DOE targets and offers a realistic 
baseline for forecasting performance over time.

Results
Service 

Assessment
(Strenuous Conditions)

9% 9%

17%

30%

48%

70%

39%
43%

57%

70%

87%
91%91%

96% 96% 100%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

BEB Depot BEB On Route FCEB

149



Results
Service 

Assessment
(Strenuous Conditions

w/ Diesel Heaters)

13%
17%

35%

48%

70%

78%

57%
61%

87% 87%
91%

96%
91%

96% 96% 100% 100% 100%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

BEB Depot w/ Diesel Heater BEB On Route w/ Diesel Heater FCEB

ASSUMPTIONS FLEET ASSESSMENT

150



Assumptions
Existing Fleet & 
Replacement 
Timeline

BusID Manufacturer Bus Type

Bus 
Length 

(ft)
Series bus ID 

Range Tank Size
Procurement 

Round
Placed in 

Service
Useful 

Life
Useful Life 

Mileage

Approx. 
WSDOT Title 

Release LTD Miles
Replacement 

Year
141 Gillig Diesel 40 1 120 0 2014 12 500,000 2026 475,293 2028
142 Gillig Diesel 40 1 120 0 2014 12 500,000 2026 465,693 2028
143 Gillig Diesel 35 1 100 0 2014 12 500,000 2026 464,456 2028
144 Gillig Diesel 35 1 100 0 2014 12 500,000 2026 439,365 2028
161 Gillig Diesel 35 2 100 0 2016 12 500,000 2028 392,247 2030
171 Gillig Diesel 35 3 100 0 2017 12 500,000 2029 381,505 2032
172 Gillig Diesel 35 3 100 0 2017 12 500,000 2029 336,399 2032
174 Gillig Diesel 29 3 60 0 2017 12 500,000 2029 292,569 2032
181 Gillig Diesel 40 4 120 0 2018 12 500,000 2030 421,459 2033
191 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 378,664 2034
192 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 368,198 2034
193 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 310,878 2034
194 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 284,954 2034
195 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 253,295 2034
196 Gillig Diesel 29 5 60 0 2019 12 500,000 2031 218,500 2034

2001 Gillig Diesel 40 6 120 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 344,035 2035
2002 Gillig Diesel 40 6 120 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 348,491 2035
2003 Gillig Diesel 40 6 120 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 336,945 2035
2004 Gillig Diesel 40 6 120 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 395,753 2035
2005 Gillig Diesel 40 6 120 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 306,769 2035
2006 Gillig Diesel 35 6 100 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 287,397 2035
2007 Gillig Diesel 29 6 60 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 289,372 2035
2008 Gillig Diesel 29 6 60 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 267,313 2035
2009 Gillig Diesel 29 6 60 0 2020 12 500,000 2032 295,058 2035
2201 Gillig Diesel 35 7 100 0 2022 12 500,000 2034 248,941 2037
2401 Gillig Diesel 40 8 120 0 2024 15 750,000 2039 16,422 2039
2402 Gillig Diesel 40 8 120 0 2024 15 750,000 2039 19,860 2039
2403 Gillig Diesel 40 8 120 0 2024 15 750,000 2039 25,558 2039
2404 Gillig Diesel 40 8 120 0 2024 15 750,000 2039 29,763 2039
2405 Gillig Diesel 40 8 120 0 2024 15 750,000 2039 17,999 2039

Assumptions
Bus Capital Costs

151



2024 Budget 
to Actual

152



2024 Budget to 
Actual Differences 

153



MARCH 2025 Performance Report 

Ridership Comparison: Fixed Route 

154



 

 

Fixed Route Highlights     

 

 

155



156



Year-to-Year Comparisons: Paratransit 

Paratransit On Time Performance: 97% 

157



 

 
 

 

158



Fare Report:

159



 Monthly Maintenance Facts and Figures

Diesel Fuel Consumed 21,946 Gallons 
Propane Fuel Consumed 10,504 Gallon Equivalents 

160



161



162



APRIL 2025 Performance Report 

Ridership Comparison: Fixed Route 

163



Fixed Route Highlights 

164



 
  

165



Year-to-Year Comparisons: Paratransit 

 
Paratransit On Time Performance: 97% 

 

166



167



 
Fare Report: 

 

 

 

 

5,393

5,025

5,447

5,190

5,356 5,347

5,016

5,155
5,256

5,824

5,669

5,370

5,601

5,094

5,936

6,095
5,959

5,260

5,612
5,717

5,572 5,619

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC

Rides on Paratransit

2023 2024

168



 Monthly Maintenance Facts and Figures

Diesel Fuel Consumed 23,294 Gallons 
Propane Fuel Consumed 10,505 Gallon Equivalents 

169



170



171



CAC REPORT 

May 13, 2025 

We enjoyed our first meeting with the new Liaison, Maleah Kuzminsky, who is already 
addressing various CAC member concerns. 

At this time, member Madeline Handzlik is asking to withdraw from the CAC, and the 
committee voted to recommend the Board officially remove her via vote. 

The National Week Without Driving event was officially introduced to the CAC this year, 
where ridership invites elected officials to give up the car keys at some point during the 
week of September 29 – October 5.  The idea is to help our communities’ decision-makers 
in charge of budgets understand how city and county planning impact the lives of their 
constituent ridership.  More to come later. 

As of the afternoon of May 12, HB1418 was signed into law by the governor.  This bill 
allows for two additional community members involved in mass transit to sit on a transit 
board.  One member would be a transit rider.  The other would be an agency 
representative whose clientele uses mass transit. 

https://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2025-
26/Pdf/Bills/House%20Passed%20Legislature/1418-S.PL.pdf#page=1 

Next, committee reports and staff reports were presented, along with an overview of 
current events, in which the agency participated since the April meeting. 

Members were encouraged to take the LRTP survey by the end of the public feedback 
period on May 14, if they had not already done so. 

Next meeting, June 10. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Judy Jones 

CAC Chair 

172


	agenda.pdf
	packet without agenda.pdf
	Compiled Consent and Action Items.pdf
	Compiled Consent Items.pdf
	Mostly compiled consent needs DBE.pdf
	4 April 2025 Board Minutes.pdf
	March 2025 Budget Update.pdf
	050.25a SKAT Charge Card_Clean.pdf

	DBE Program.pdf
	DBE Goals.pdf

	Compiled Action Items.pdf
	Report_Micropurchase Threshold Increase.pdf
	Copy of Procurement Policy Change Matrix 5.14.2025.pdf
	2025.05.15 - Skagit Transit Procurement Policy w FTA Clauses Final.pdf
	Self-Certification for Micro-Purchase.pdf
	Report_791 Cooperative.pdf
	Report_TIPS.pdf
	Board Report 19-006 Extension.pdf
	Board Report Agenda Items Request JS 5.9.25.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO 2025-07 Agency Investment Officer.pdf
	Report_CAC member withdrawal request to the board Madeline Handzlik.pdf


	Compiled Informational Items.pdf
	Skagit Transit Service and Fleet Assessment 5.16.pdf
	Slides for May 2025.pdf
	Skagit Transit March Performance Report- MAR #s.pdf
	Skagit Transit April Performance Report- APR #s.pdf
	051325 cac report.pdf





